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To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebage County, Wisconsin

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and
the aggregate remaining fund information of Town of Clayton as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and have
issued our report thereon dated March 19, 2020. We have previously communicated to you information about our
responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing
Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. Professional standards also
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.

Significant audit findings
Qualitative aspects of accounting practices
Accounting policies

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant accounting policies
used by Town of Clayton are described in Note 1 to the financial statements,

As described in Note 1.B., the Town changed accounting policies related to property taxes and special collections, by
adopting Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB Statement) No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, in 2019.

Accordingly, property taxes and specials collected on behalf of other governments is now recorded in a custodial fund.

We noted no transactions entered into by the entity during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or
consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the
possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates
affecting the financial statements were:

¢ Management's estimate of the depreciable life of the capital assets is based upon analysis of the expected useful
life of the capital assets. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions and the consistency in these factors and
assumptions used to develop the depreciable life in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial
statements taken as a whale.

e Management's estimate of the net pension liability (asset) and related deferred outflows/inflows of resources is
based on information received from the Wisconsin Retirement System. We evaluated the key factors and
assumptions used to develop the net pension liability (asset) and related deferred outflows/inflows of resources in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
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+ Management's estimate of the accumulated compensated absences liability is based upon analysis of the
employees compensated absence leave balance. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions and the
consistency in these factors and assumptions used to develop the accumulated compensated absence liability in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as 2 whole.

Financial stgtement disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users.
There were no particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Difficutties encountered in performing the audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.

Uncorrected misstaterents

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that are
clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management did not identify and we did
not notify them of any uncorrected financial statement misstatements,

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements Identified during the audit, other than those that are
clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management has corrected all such
misstatements.

Corrected misstatements
The following material misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures were corrected by management;

+ To record deferred special assessments of $29,951.
« Toadjust $133,385 to stormwater operating expenses that were originally recorded in construction in progress.
+ Torecord $9,023 of stormwater capital assets that were originally recorded in expense.

Disagreements with management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. No
stich disagreements arose during our audit.

Management representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the attached management
representation letter dated March 19, 2020,

Management consultations with other independent accountants

In some cases, managemeant may decide to cansult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters, similar
to obtaining a “second opinicn” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the
entity’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements,
our professional standards require the consulting accountant to chack with us to determine that the consultant has all the
relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.

Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, with
management each year prior to engagement as the entity’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal
course of our professional relaticnship and our responses were not a condition to our engagement,



Other audit findings or issues

We have provided a separate letter to you dated March 19, 2020 communicating internal control related matters identified
during the audit.

Cther information in documents containing audited financial statements

With respect to the required supplementary information {RSI) accompanying the financial statements, we made certain
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the RS), including whether the RSI has been measured and
presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the methods of measuremeant and preparation have been
changed from the prior period and the reasons for any such changes, and whether there were any significant assumptions
or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the RSI. We compared the RSl for consistency with
management's responses to the foregoing inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge obtained during
the audit of the basic financial statements. Because these limited procedures de not provide sufficient evidence, we did not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.

With respect to the detailed comparisons of budgeted and actual revenues and expenditures and the combining balance
sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for nonmajor funds (collectively, the
supplementary information} accompanying the financial statemeants, on which we were engaged to report in reiation to the
financial statements as a whole, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods
of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, the methed of preparing it has not changed from the prior period or the reasons for such
changes, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements, We compared
and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial
statemenits or 1o the financial statements themselves. We have issued our report thereon dated March 19, 2020.

Our auditors’ opinlon, the audited financial statements, and the notes to financial statemeanits snould only be used in their

antirety. Inclusion of the audited financial statements in a document you prepare, such as an annual report, should be done
only with our prior approval and review of the document.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Town Board and management of Town of Clayton
and is nct intended to be, and shou!d not be, used by anyone cther than these specified parties.

Wmﬁéﬂ P
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Green Bay, Wisconsin
March 19, 2020



Summary Financial Information

GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Presented below is a summary of Town governmental fund balances on December 31, 2019 and 2018. Information is provided
for assessing financial resuits for 2019 and for inciicating financial resources available for 2020 and subsequent years.

12/31/18 12/31/18
General Fund
Nanspendable for
Prepaid items $ 21,051 $ 2,771
Advance to stormwater fund 66,799 130,743
Restricted for
Park improvements 7,965 4,434
Fire depariment improvements 23,763 15,943
Committed for
Cemetery expenditures 32,267 26,367
Capital equipment replacement - 59,044
Sick leave and vacaticn payout 56,268 36,268
Assigned for subsequent year's budget 57,380 -
Unassigned 404,587 {59,368)
Total general fund balance 670,080 176,202
Debt Service Fund
Restricted for debt service 136,087 -
Unassigned - {136,008)
Total debt service fund balance 136,087 {136,008)
Special Revenue Funds
Restricted for
Fire depariment capital expenditures 2,349 6,903
Committed for
Solid waste and recycling expenditures 63,944 108,572
Unassigned - {14,125)
Total special revenue funds 66,293 101,350
Capital Projects Funds
Restricted for
Capital outlay - 13,185
Total governmental fund balances § 872460 _§ 154,729

The unassigned general fund balance increased $503,955 from $(99,368) in 2018 to $404,587 in 2019. The increase was
mostly due to the sale of Town land in March of 2019. The Town has a minimum fund balance policy of 16% of actual
current year general fund expenditures, not including debt service. The Town's minimum fund balance calculated to
$465,451, The Town's unassigned fund balance at December 31, 2019 is below the minimum fund balance policy.



CREATION OF TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT

During 2019, the Town created a Tax Incremental District (TID). The Town incurred some expenditures in 2018, before the
adopticn of the resolution to create the TID, Per the Wisconsin Department of Revenue TID manual, expendltures incurred
prior to the adoption of the municipal resolution that are directly related te planning for the TID are considered eligible TID
expenditures. Presented below is the annual activity for the Town's Tax Incremental District No. 1. The District currently has
no annual tax increments. The Town currently presents tha TID transactions in the Town's general fund,

Project
to date Cumulative
Current as of through
Year 12/31/18 12/31/19
Expenditures
TID organizational costs $ 204808 $ 699403 ¢ 204,21
Administration 1,845 - 1,845
Professional services 462,782 - 462,782
Total expenditures 569,435 599,403 1,368,838
Net unreimbursed project costs § (669435 $ (699403) $ (1,368,838)
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March 19, 2020

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
2200 Riverside Driva
Green Bay, Wi 54305

This representation letter s provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the Town of Clayton,

which comprise the raspective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remalning fund information as of December 31, 2019, and the respective thanges in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, for the
purpose of expressing opinions on whether the flnancizl statements are presented fairly, In all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accapted In the United States of America (J.S, GAAP),

Certaln representations in this letter are described as beltg limited to matters that are material, ltems are considared
material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in light of
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would
ke changed or influenced by the omisslon or misstatement,

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of March 19, 2020 the following representations made to you
during your audit of the financial statements as of and for the yeer ended December 31, 2019.

Finanelal Stataments

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagament letter dated
December 3, 2019, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. The financial staterments include all properly classified funds and other financial information of the primary
government and all component units requnred oy generally accepted accounting principles to be included in the
financial reporting entlty.

2. We acknowledge and have fulfilled our responsibility for the design, Implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3. We acknowledge our responsibllity for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to prevent
ahd detect fraud,

4. We have identified all accotinting estimates that could be material to the financial statements, Including the key
faciors and signlficant assurnptions used in making those estimates, and we believe the estimates {including those
measured at fair value) and the significant assumptions used in making those accounting estimates are reasonhable,

5. Related party relationships and transactions, including, kut not limited to, ravanues, expenditures/expenses, oans,
transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties have
been appropriately accounted for and disdosed in accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP.



March 19, 2020
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
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10,

1.

12,

13,

All events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which U.S. GAAP requires
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed,

We have not identified or been notified of any uncorrected financlal statement misstatements, In addition, you
have proposed adjusting journal entrles that have been posted to the entity’s accounts. We have reviewed and
approved those adjusting journal entries and understand the nature of the changes and their impact on the
financial statements, We are in agreement with those adjustments and accept responsibility for them.

The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with U.S, GAAP,

Recelvables recorded in the financial statements represent valid claims agalnst debtors for transactions atising on
or before the financial statement date and have been raduced to their estimated net realizable value,

We have no plans or intentlons that may materially affect the carrylng value o classification of essats, liabilities, or
equity.

We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure penslon liabllitles and costs for financlal
accounting purposes are appropriate in the circumstances.

We are unable to determinz the possibllity of a withdrawal fiaility in a multiple-employer benefii plan.

We do not plan to make frequent amendments to our pension benefits.

information Provided

1,

We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial staternents such as records, documentation, and other matters,

b.  Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit,

¢ Unrestricted access to persans within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit
evidance,

d.  Complete minutes of the meatings of the governing board and related committees, or summaries of
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

e. All communications from regulatary agencies, lenders, and other funding sources concerning
noncompliance with, or deficiencles in, financial reporting practices,

f. All communications from regulatory agencles, lenders, and other funding sources concerning
noncompliance with the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
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L5

9,

10,

1.

12

13.

4.

All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the fnancial
statements,

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financlal statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspectad fraud that affacts the enhtity and involves:
a.  Management;
b.  Employees who have significant roles in Internal control; or
¢, Others when the fraud could have a materlal effect on the financial statements.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entiiy's financial statements
communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others,

We have no knowledge of any instances of nancompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations
and provisions of contracts and grant agreements, or abuse whose effects should be considered when preparing
financlal statements,

We hava disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assassments whose effects should be
considered when preparing the financlal staterents.

Thers are no other material llabilities or galin or loss cantingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed in
accordance with US, GAAP.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity's related pariies and all the related party relationships and
transactions of which we are aware,

The entity has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no llans or encumbrances on such assets, nor has
any asset been pledged as collateral, except as made known to you and disclosed In the financial statements,

We have a process to track the status of audlt findings and recommendations,

We have identlfled to you any nrevious audlts, attestation engagements, and cther studlas related to the audit
chjectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented.

We have provided our views on reported findings, canclusions, and recommendations, as well as our planned
corrective actions, for the report.

We are responsible fer compllance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreaments
applicable to the Town of Clayton, including tax or clebt limits and debt contracts; znd we have Identified and
disclosed to you all laws, regulations, and provislons of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts or other finencial data significant to
the audit objectives, Including tegal and contractual provisions for reporting spedific activities in separate funds,
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15,

16,

17,

19,

20.

21,

22,

23,

24.

25,

26.

27,

28,

There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, faws and regulations (including those
pertalning to adopting, approving, anc amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax or
debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considared for disclosure in the financlal
statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance,

The entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a materlal effect on the
financial statements in the event of noncompliance,

We are responsible for determining whether we have received, expended, or otherwise been the beneficary of any
federal awards during the peariod of this audit. No federal award, recelved directly from federal agencies or
indirectly as a subraciplent, was expended In an amount that cumulatively totals from all sources $750,000 or
more. For this representation, “award” means financlal assistance and faderal cost-reimbursement contracts that
non-federal entitles receive dlrectly from federal awarding agencies or indirectly from pass-through entities. It
does not Include procurement contracts, user grants, of contracts used to buy goods or services from vendors.

We have followed all applicable laws and regulations in adopting, epproving, and amending budgets,

The financlal statements Include all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly
disclose all other joint ventures, jointly governed organizations, and other relatad organizations,

The financial statemants properly classify all funds and activities,
All funds that meet the quantitative criverfa in GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation as major are
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to

financial staternent users,

Components of net position {net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and equity amounts arg
neaperly dassified and, if applicable, approved.

Investments, derivative instruments, and land and other real estata hald by endowments are properly valued.
Provisions for uncollectible raceivables have been properly ldentified and recorded.

Expenses have been appropriately classified In or allecated to functions and programs in the statement of
activities, and allocations have been mada on a reasonable basis.

Revenues are approprfately classified in the statement of activitles within program revenues, general revenues,
contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanant fund principal,

Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported.

Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk and are properly
valued and disclosed.
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239,

30.

31

32,

33,

34,

33,

Capltal assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if applscabte
depreciated,

We have appropriately disclosed the entity's policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is
avallable and have determined that net position Is proparly recognlzed under the pollcy.

We acknowledge our responsibillty for the required supplementary information (R$I). The RSI is measured and
presented within prescribed guldellnes and the methods of measurement and presantation have not changed
fram those used In the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptlons and interpretations
underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI.

We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the detailed comparisons of budgeted and actual revenues and
expenditures and the combining balance sheet and staternent of revenues, expenditures and changes In fund
batances for nonmajor funds {the suppiementary inforratlon) in accordance with U.S, GAAP, and we hellave the
supplementary information, including its form and content, s fairly presented in accordance with U.S, GAAP, The
methods of measurement and presentation of the supplemantary information have not changed from those used
in the prior period, and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the
measuremant and presantation of the supplementary information, If the supplementary information is not
presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited financial statements readlly available to
the intended users of the supplementary information no later than the date we issue the supp lementary
information and the auditorstreport-thereen. - — — - ~— - - - - - - — - =

As part of your audit, you prepared the draft financial statements and related notes, and state financial report. We
have designated an individual who possesses sultable skill, knowledge, and/or experience to understand and
oversee your services, have made all management Judgments and decisions; and have assumed all management
responsibilities, We have evaluated the adequacy and results of ihe service. We have reviewed, approved, and
accepted responsibility for those financial statements and related notes and state financial report. Wa have also
ensured that the entlty's data are complete and recelved sufficient information to oversee the sarvice.

We have evaluatad the adeguacy and results of the depreciation services performed and accept responsioility for
the results, We acknowledge our responsibifity for our depreclation schedules and have determined the methods
and rates of depreciation and the salvage values used in the calculations, We have designated an individual who
possesses sultable skill, knowledge, and/or experience to understand and oversee your depreciatlon services; have
made all significant management Judgments and decisions; and have assumed all management responsibilities,
We have also ensured that the entity’s data and records are complete and received sufficlent infermation to
oversee the service,

In regards to the depreciation and report preparation setvices performed by you, we have:
a.  Made all management judgments and decisions and assumed all management responsibllities.

k. Deslgnated an individual who possesses suitable skifl, knowledge, and/or exparience to understand and
oversee the services.

¢ Evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed,
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d.  Accepted responsibility for the results of the services.

e. We have also ensured that the entity’s data and records are complete and received sufficient information
to oversee the service.

Signature‘?\\:/j[ B/SL o ;SZ(I 84 ) Title: __Administrator

Tori Straw

P, x
Signature: ___- =T AAN e 8 Title: _Treasurer

Sabina Schiessl
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Independent auditors' report

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the
“Town") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Town's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents,

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the Town's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

International



OPINIONS

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Town as of December 31, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund and Sclid Waste/Recycling Fund thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

As described in Note 1.B., during 2019, the Town adopted new accounting guidance, Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities.
As a result, the Town established a custodial fund for taxes and specials collected for other governments, In prior years,
these amounts were reported in the general fund, Our opinions are not modified with respact to this matter.

OTHER MATTERS

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedules relating to pension on
page 41 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures io the required supplamentary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methads of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowladge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America reguire to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements; is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinicns on the basic financial statements are not affected by this missing
information.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
Town's basic financial statements. The financial information l'sted in the table of contents as supplementary information is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements,

The supplementary informaticn is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, In
our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in ralation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.



OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have alsc issued our report dated March 19, 2020, on cur
consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Town's internal control over finandial reporting and compliance.

L brlaorndithm LL57

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Green Bay, Wisconsin
March 19, 2020
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2019
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
ASSETS
Cash and investmants $ 1,259,729 % 151,362 3% 1,411,091
Receivables
Taxes and special charges 923,140 168,260 1,091,400
Delinquent taxes 1,455 - 1,455
Special assessments 239,000 - 239,000
Other 7,196 - 7,196
Internal balances 130,743 (130,743} “
Prepaid items 21,051 - 21,051
Rastricted assets
Cash and investments 529,723 - 529,723
Capital assets, nondepreciable 6,138,856 19,381 6,158,237
Capital assets, depreciable, net 8,730,806 1,523,079 10,253,885
Total assets 17,981,693 1,731,339 19,713,038
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 260,738 35,691 296,429
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 71,186 1,132 72,318
Accrued and other current liabilities 59,316 - 59,316
Accrued interest payable 146,609 - 146,609
Spacial deposits 33,763 - 33,763
Long-term obligaticns
Due within one year 592,151 - 582,151
Due in more than one year 8,515,860 - 8,515,860
Net pansion liability 93,096 12,926 106,022
Total liabilities 9,511,581 14,058 9,526,039
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Property taxes levied for subsequent year 1,526,312 - 1,526,312
Special charges 210,000 309,166 619,166
Pension related amounts 134,176 18,629 152,805
Total deferred inflows of resources 1,970,488 327,795 2,298,283
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 5,849,043 1,542,460 7,391,509
Restricted 232,604 - 232,604
Unrestricted 678,315 (117,283) 561,037
Total net position $ 6759968 _¢ 1425177 4 8,185,145

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECFMBER 31, 2019

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Grants
Charges for Grants and and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General government $ 791,285 % 68,695 § - % -
Public safety 446,342 94,337 23,901 -
Public works 1151137 335,548 183,454 46,663
Health and human services 7411 11,213 - -
Culture and recreation 37,794 5171 - -
Conservation and development 248,052 - - -
Interest and fiscal charges 279,492 - - -
Total governmental activities 2,961,513 514,964 207,355 45,663
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Stormwater management utility 260,047 231,087 - -
Total $ 3,221,560 $ 746,051 $ 207,355 $ 46,663
General revenuas
Taxes
Property taxes
Cther taxes

Federal and state grants and other contributions
not restricted to specific functions
Interest and investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Gain on sale of asset
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Net (Expense) Revenue

and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

3 (722,590) % -4 (722,590)
{328,104) - (328,104)
(585,472 - (585,472)

3,802 - 3,802
(32,623} - (32,623)
(248,052) - (248,052)
{279,492) - (279,492)
(2,192,531 - (2,192,537

- (28,960) (28,960)

(2,192,531 {28,960) (2,221,491)
1,473,136 - 1,473,136

2,992 - 2,992

49,336 - 45,336

37,611 - 37.61

57,143 - 57143

917,739 - 917,739
2,537,857 - 2,537,957
345,426 {28,900) 316,466
6,414,542 1,454 137 7,868,679

§ 6759968 _§ 1425177 $ 8185145




Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Restrictad cash and investments
Receivables
Taxes and special charges
Delinquent taxes
Accounts
Special assessments
Advance to other funds
Prepaid items

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable

Accrued and other current liabilities

Special deposits
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources

Property taxes levied for subsequent

year
Special cherges assessed
Special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances
Nanspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Tota! fund balances

Tetal liabilities, deferred inflows

of resources, and fund balances

Other
Solid Waste/ Governmental

General Recycling Funds Totals
$ 1,041,079 $ 218,536 $ 14 $ 1259729
31,728 ~ 2,349 529,723
324,479 116,600 - 923,140
1,455 - - 1,455
7,195 - - 7,196
29,951 - - 239,000
66,799 63,944 - 130,743
21,051 - - 21,057
$ 1523738 $ 392,080 $ 2,463 $ 3112037
$ 45,128 $ 24.944 $ 114 $ 71,186
56,124 192 - 59,316
33,763 - - 33,763
139,015 25136 114 164,265
684,692 - - 1,526,312
- 310,000 - 310,000
29,951 - - 239,000
714,643 310,000 - 2,075,312
87.850 - - 87,850
31,728 - 2,349 170,164
88,535 63,944 - 152,479
57,380 - - 57,380
404,587 - - 404,587
670,080 653,944 2,349 872,460
$ 1,5@,738 $ 399,080 $ %463 § 3112037

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Total fund balances as shown on previous page $ 872,460

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are differant because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial
rescurces and therefore are not reported in the funds. 14,869,662

Other long-term assets are not available to pay current pericd expenditures
and therefore are deferred in the funds. 239,000

Some deferred outflows and inflows of resources reflect changes in

long-term liabilities and are not reported in the funds.
Deferred outflows related tc pensions 260,738
Deferred inflows related to pensions (134,176)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current pericd and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Bonds and notes payable (8,663,197)
Premiurm on debt {96,891)
Capital lease payable {250,000
Compensated absences (97,923)
Net pensicn liability (93,096)
Accrued interest on long-term obligations {146,609)

Net position of governmental activities as reported on the statement

of net position {see page 4) $ 6,759,968

The notes to the basic financial statements are an infegral part of this staternent.



Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

REVENUES
Taxes
Intargovernmental
Licenses and permits
Public charges for services
Intergovernmental charges for services
Miscellanecus

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and human services
Culture and recreation
Conservation and development
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges
Capital outlay

Total expenditures
Excess of revenues under expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SQURCES (USES)
Long-term debt issued
Capital lease proceeds
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total cther financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - January 1

Fund balances - December 31

Other
Solid Waste/ Debt Governmental

General Recycling Service Funds Totals
$ 677890 % - § 798238 ¢ -~ § 1476128
250,180 11,833 - - 262,013
143,605 - - - 143,605
79,644 319,147 59,728 - 458,519
12,852 - - - 12,852
55,263 271 15,062 25,215 95,811
1,219,434 331,251 873,028 25,215 2,448,928
£85,647 - - - 685,647
359,302 - - 4,554 363,856
410,798 344,798 - - 755,596
7,471 - - - 7,411
32,202 - - - 32,202
246,898 - - 1154 248,052
- - 2,006,803 - 2,006,803

- - 307,852 - 307,852
1,166,807 31,081 - 49,446 1,247,334
2,909,065 375,879 2,314,655 55,154 5,654,753
(1.682,631) {44,628) (1441,627) (29,939) (3,205,825}
- - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
250,000 - - - 250,000
1,959,834 - 213,722 - 2,173,556
- - - 26,325 26,325
{(26,325) - - - (26,325}
2,183,509 - 1,713,722 26,325 3,923,556
493,878 {44,628) 272,095 (3,614) 717,731
176,202 108,572 {136,008) 5,963 154,729
§ 670080 % 63944 § 136087 3§ 2345 _§ 872,460

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES [N FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Net change in fund balances as shown on previous page 3 717,731

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital cutlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Capita! assets reported as capital outlay in governmentat fund statements 1,247,334
Items reported as capital outlay, but not capitalized {77,128}
Depreciation expense reported in the statement of activities (472,535}
Net book value of disposals (1,255,817)

Governmental funds do not present revenues that are not available to pay
current obligations. In contrast, such revenues are reported in the statement
of activities when earned. (59,728}

Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long-term liabllities in the statement of net position.
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net positicn.

Long-term debt issued (1,500,000)
Principal repaid 2,006,803
Capital lease issued {250,000

Some expenses reported in the staterent of activities do not require the
use of current financial resources and therefore are nct reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds;

Accrued interest on long-term debt 7,163
Amortization of premiums 21,197
Compensated absences (15,38%)
Net pension asset (65,062)
Net pension liability (93,096)
Deferred outflows of resourcas related to pensions 134,443
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (4903

Change in net positicn of governmantal activities as reported in the
statement of activities {see pages 5 - 6) $ 345426

The notes to the basic financiol staterents are an integral part of this statement
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Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

REVENUES
Taxes
Intergovernmental
Licenses and permits
Public charges for services

Intergovernmental charges for services

Miscellaneous
Total revenues

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and human services
Culture and recreation
Censervation and development

Capital outlay

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Capital lease proceeds
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Transfers out
Total other financing sources {uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - January 1

Fund balance - December 31

Variance
Final Budget -

Budget Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
$ 677,413 % 677413  § 677,890 § 477
235,684 235,684 250,780 14,496
153,700 153,700 143,605 (10,095)
7,500 7.500 79,644 72,144
8,000 8,000 12,852 4,852
18,082 18,082 55,263 37,181
1,100,379 1,100,379 1,219,434 119,055
593,152 713,152 685,647 27,505
352,449 392,449 359,302 33,147
348,326 349,407 410,798 {61,391
7,395 7,395 7,411 (16)
29,800 29,800 32,202 (2,402)
31,621 211,621 246,698 (35,277)
677,500 1,098,325 1,166,807 (68,482)
2,080,243 2,802,149 2,909,065 {106,916)
(979,864) (1,701,770) (1,689,631 12,139
250,000 250,000 250,000 -
500,000 1,978,368 1,959,834 {18,534
- - (26,325) {26,325)
750,000 2,228,368 2,183,509 {14,859)
(229,864} 526,598 493,878 (32,720)
176,202 176,202 176,202 -
$ (53662) & 702800 $ 670,080 _§ (32,720)

The notes to the basic financial staterents are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL ~ SOLID WASTE/RECYCLING FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 10,500 ¢ 0500 § 7833 § 1,333
Public charges for services 322,000 322,000 319,147 (2,853
Miscellaneous - - 271 271
Total revenues 332,500 332,500 331,251 (1,249)
EXPENDITURES
Current
Public works 332,500 332,500 344,798 (12,298)
Capital outlay - - 31,081 (31,081
Tetal expenditures 332,500 332,500 375,879 {43,37%)
Net change in fund balance - - {44,628) (44,628)
Fund balance - January 1 108,572 108,572 108,572 -
Fund balance - December 31 S 108572 _§ 108572 _§ 63944 ¢ (44,628)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND
DECEMBER 31, 2019

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and investments
Receivables
Special charges

Total current assets

Capital assats
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net
Total capital assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensicon related amounts

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Advance from other funds

Total current liabilities

Long-term obligations
Net pension liability

Total liabilitias

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Special charges on subsequent year tax roll
Pension related amounts
Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total net positicn

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Stormwater
Management

Utility
$ 151,362
168,260
319,622
19,381
1,523,079
1,542,460

1,862,082

35,691

1132
130,743

131,875

12,926
144,801
309,166

18,629
327,795

1,542,460
{117,283)

1425177



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financiol statements are an integral part of this statement,
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Stormwater
Management

Utility
$ 231,087
211,460
48,587
260,047
(28,960}

1,454,137

$ 1425177



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash paid for employee wages and benefits
Cash paid to suppliers
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisiticn of capital assets

Change in cash and investments
Cash and investments ~ January 1
Cash and investments - December 31

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS
TG NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating loss

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net
cash provided by operating activites
Depreciation
Change in liability (asset) and deferred outflows
and inflows of resources
Net pension asset
Deferred cutfiows - pension related
Deferred inflows - pension related
Net pension liability
Change in operating assets and liabilitias
Special charges receivable
Due from other funds
Accounts payabie

Net cash provided by operating activities

Noncash capital and related financing activities
None

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Stormwater
Management

Utility
$ 371,993
(82,837)

(128,771}
160,385

(9,023)
' 151,362

$ 151,362

$ (28,960)

48,587

10,804
(15,663)
(3,570)
12,926

(168,260)
309,166

(4,645)
;) 160,385



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIiDUCIARY FUND
DECEMBER 31, 2019

ASSETS
Cash and investments

LIABILITIES
Due to other governments

NET POSITION
Fiduciary net position - held for others

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Custodial
Fund

$ 3,533,639

3,533,639
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

ADDITIONS
Taxes and special charges collected

PEDUCTIONS
Payments to other districts

Net Position - January 1

Net Position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statemenis are an integral part of this statement,
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Custodial
Fund

$ 5,436,323

5,436,323
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the “Town"), have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government
units. The Governmentai Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting bodly for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant accounting principles and policies utilized by the
Town are described below:

A. REPORTING ENTITY

The Town is a municipal corporation governed by an elected five member board. in accordance with GAAP, the basic
financial statements are required to include the Town (the primary government} and any separate component units that
have a significant operational or financial relationship with the Town. The Town has identified the following component unit
that is required to be included in the basic financial statements in accordance with standards established in GASB Staterment
No. &1.

in 1972, the Town Board formed the Town of Clayton Sanitary District No. 1 to provide water and sewer services to a portion
of the Town. Subsequently in 2014, the Town Board amended the boundaries of the sanitary district and appointed the
Town Board as the governing body of the sanitary district. At this time, construction of water and sewer infrastructure has
not been completed and no customers are being provided water and sewer services, The sanitary district had no activity for
the year ended December 31, 2019. All legal, planning and engineering costs of the sanitary district and future water and
sewer infrastructure incurred to-date have been financed directly by the Town's General Fund and Capital Projects Fund.

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements (i.e,, the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Town, For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been
removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which are primarily supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for
services.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenises are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues
include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributicns that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items not properly includad among program revenues are
reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Governmental funds include
general, special revenue, debt service and capital projects funds. Proprietary funds include enterprise funds. The Town has
no internal service funds. Major individual governmental funds and the major individual enterprise fund are reported as
separate celumns in the fund financial statements.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

The Town reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund
This is the Town's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except those
accounted for in another fund.

Solid Waste/Recycling Fund
This fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the collection and disposal of refuse and recyclable items.
Significant revenues are charges for services.

Debt Service Fund
This fund is used to account for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal and interest on long-term
general obligation debt of governmental funds.

The Town reports the following major enterprise fund:

Stormwater Management Utility Fund
This fund accounts for the Town's stormwater utility.

The Town also reports the following fiduciary fund:

Custodial Fund

The custodial fund accounts for property taxes and specials collected on behalf of other governments, These amounts
were recorded in the general fund in prior years. Due to the implementation of GASB 84, Flduciary Activities, they are now
recorded in a custodial fund.

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows, Property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the year for which they are levied, Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met,

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues
are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpese, the Town considers revenues to be available if they are coliected within 60
days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual
accounting, However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 37, 2019

Revenues susceptible tc accrual include intergovernmental grants, intergovernmental charges for services, public charges
for services and interest. Other revenues such as licenses and parmits, fines and forfeits and miscellanecus revenues are
recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available.

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and various other functions of the Town, Elimination of these
charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions cencerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges
provided, and fees and fines, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues, Likewise, general revenues include
all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from rnonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's
principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Town's proprietary funds are charges to customers
for services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds Include the costs of services, administrative expenses, and
cepreciation on capital assats. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses,

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Town’s policy o use restricted resourcas first,
then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION OR FUND BALANCE

1. Cash and Investments
Cash and investments are combined in the financial statements. Cash deposits consist of demand and time deposits
with financial institutions and are carried at cost. Investments are stated at fair value, Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participanis at the measurement date. For
purposes of the statement of cash flows, all cash deposits and highly liquid investments (including restricted assets)
with a maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition are considered to be cash equivalents.

2. Property Taxes and Special Charges/Receivable
Property taxes and special charges consist of taxes on real estate and personal property and user charges assessed
against Town properties, They are levied during December of the prior year and become an enforceable lien on
property the following January 1. Property taxes are payable in various options depending on the type and amount.
Perscnal property taxes and special charges are payable on or before January 31in full. Real estate taxes are payable in
full by January 31 or in two equal installments on or before January 31 and July 31. Real estate taxes not paid by
January 31 are purchased by the County as part of the February tax settlement. Delinquent perscnal property taxes
remain the collection responsibility of the Town. Special charges not paid by January 31 are held in trust by the County
and remitted to the Town, including interest, when collected by the County.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

In addition to its levy, the Town bills, levies and collects taxes for the Scheol Districts of Neenah and Winneconne, Fox
Valley Technical Collage, Larson Winchester Sanitary District and the County of Winnebage.

3. Accounts Receivable
Accounts recelvable are recorded at gross amounts with uncollectible amounts recagnized under the direct write-off
method. No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been provided since it is believed that the amount of such
allowance would not be matertal to the basic financial statements.

4. Special Assessments
Assessments against property owners for public improvements are generally not subject to full settlement in the year
levied. Special assessments are placed on tax rolis on an installiment basis. Revenue from special assessments recorded
in governmental funds is recognized as collections are macle or as current installments are placed on tax rolls.
(Installments placed on the 2018 tax roll are recognized as revenue in 2019.) Special assessments are subject to
collection procedures.

5. Interfund Receivables and Payables
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for goods provided or services
renderec. These receivables and payables are classified as “due from other funds” and “due to other funds” in the fund
financial statements.

The amount reported on the statement of net position for internal balances represants the residual balance
cutstanding between the governmental and business-type activities.

6. Prepaid ltems
Payments made to vendors that will benefit periods beyond the end of the current fiscal year are recorded as prepaid
ltems and are accounted for on the consumption method.

Prepaid iterms of governmental funds in the fund financial statements are dlassified as nonspendable fund balance to
indicate that they do not reprasent spendable available financial resources.

7. Capital Assets
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by the Town as assets with zn initial, individual cost of $5,000 or higher and an estimated useful life in excess of
a year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated
capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. The cost of infrastructure assets
constructed prior to 2004 have not been determined and are, therefore, not included in the financial statements,

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives
are not capitalized,
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10.

Capital assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities
Assets Years
Buildings 40 40
Land improvements 25 25
Vehicles 4-15 4-15
Machinery and equipment 5-15 5-10
Infrastructure 25-75 40

Compensated Absences

it is the Town's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick leave benefits in
accordance with employee handbook policies and/or bargaining unit agreements. All vacation and sick leave is accrued
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is
reported in the governmental funds in the fund financial statements only if they have matured, for example, as a result
of employee resignations and retirements.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are a consumption of net position by the government that is applicable to a future
reporting period. Deferred inflows of resources are an acquisition of net position by the government that is applicable
to a future reporting period. The recognition of those outflows and inflows as expenses or expenditures and revenues
are deferred until the future periods to which the outflows and inflows are applicable.

Governmental funds may report deferred inflows of resources for unavailable revenues. The Town reports unavailable
revenues for special assessments. These inflows are recognized as revenues in the government-wide financial
staternents.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financlal statements, and proprietary funds in the fund financial statements, long-term debt
and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type
activities, or proprietary fund statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance
costs are expensed as incurred.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bend premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources,
Premiums received on debt Issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are
reported as other financing uses, Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are
reported as debt service expenditures.
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1.

12

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension fiability (zsset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin
Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the
same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments {including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms, Investments are reported at
fair value,

Fund Equity

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations requiring
the use of resources for specific purposes. The following dlassifications describe the relative strength of the spending
constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used:

» Nonspendable fund balance. Amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory, prepaid items, or long-
term receivables) or are legally or contractually required to remain intact.

> Restricted fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by external parties (such as grantor or
bondholders), through censtitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation.

> Committed fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of the Town Board. These
constraints can only be removed or changed by the Town Board using the same action that was used to create
them.

»  Assigned fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of Town management, The
Town Board has not authorized a specific employee to assign fund balance. Residual amounts in any governmenial
fund, other than the General Fund, are also repcrted as assigned.

> Unassigned fund balance. Amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive unassigned amounts are only
reported in the General Fund.

The Town has adopted a fund balance spend-down pelicy regarding the order in which fund balance will be utilized.
Where applicable, the policy requires restricted funds to be spent first, followed by committed funds, and then
assigned funds. Unassigned funds would be spent last.

Government-Wide and Proprietory Fund Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

> Net investment in capital assets. Amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and capital related
deferred outflows of resources less outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other botrowings that
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets and any capital related deferred
inflows of resources,
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> Restricted net position. Amount of net position that is subject to restrictions that are imposed by 1) external
groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or 2) law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legisiation.

> Unrestricted net position. Net position that Is neither classified as restricted nor as net investment in capital assets.

E. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and acccmpanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2: STEWARDSHIP AND COMPLIANCE

A, BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING
The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial statements:

1.

During November, the Town Board and officials prepare a proposed operating budget for the calendar year
commencing the following January 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of
financing them. After submission to the governing body, public hearings are held to cbtain taxpayer comments.
Following the public hearings, the proposed budget, including authorized additions and deletions, is legally enacted by
Town Beard action.,

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generzlly accepted in the United States of
America for all governmental funds. Budget is defined as the originally approved budget plus or minus approved
amendments, Individual amendments throughout the year were not material in relation to the original budget. Budget
appropriations not expended during the year are closed to fund balance unless authorized by the governing body to
be forwarded into the succeeding year's budget.

Luring the year, formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device for the governmental
funds.

Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the functional expenditure level of the Town, Amendments to the
budget during the year require initial approval by management and are subsequently authorized by the Town Board.

Encumbrance accounting is not used by the Town to record commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods
or services.

The Town did not have any material viclation of legal or contractual provisions for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019,
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B. PROPERTY TAX LEVY LIMIT

Wisconsin state statutes provide for a limit on the property tax levies for all Wisconsin cities, villages, towns and counties.
For the 2019 and 2020 budget years, Wisconsin Statutes limit the increase in the maximum allowable tax levy to the change
in the Town's January 1 equalized value as a result of net new construction. The actual limit for the Town for the 2019
budget was 1.54%. The actual limit for the Town for the 2020 budget was 0.99%. Debt service for debt authorized after

July 1, 2005 is exempt from the levy limit. In addition, Wisconsin statutes allow the limit to be adjusted for the increase in
debt service authorized prior to July 1, 2005 and in certain other situations,

NOTE 3: DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS

A, CASH AND INVESTMENTS
The Town maintains various cash and investment accounts, including pooled funds that are available for use by all funds.
Each fund'’s paortion of these accounts is displayed on the financial statements as “Cash and investments®.

Invested cash consists of deposits and investments that are restricted by Wisconsin Statutes to the following:

Time deposits; repurchase agreements; securities issued by federal, state and local governmental entities;
statutorily authorized commercial paper and corperate securities; and the Wisconsin local government investment
pool.

The carrying amount of the Town's cash and investments totaled $5,474,453 on December 31, 2019 as summarized below:

Petty cash and cash on hand S 1,287
Deposits with financial institutions 5,473,166

$ 5,474,453

Reconciliation to the basic financial statements:

Government-wide Statement of Net Position

Cash and investments $ 1,411,001

Restricted cash and investments 529,723
Fiduciary Fund Staternent of Net Position

Cash and investments 3,533,639

$ 5474453

Fair Value Measurements

The Town categorizes Its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generslly accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1
inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant observable inputs; Level 3 inputs
are significant unobservable inputs. The Town currently has no Investments that are subject to fair value measurement.

Deposits and investments of the Town are subject to various risks. Presented below is a discussion of the Town's deposits
and investments and the related risks.
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Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, a government
will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g.,
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities
that are in the possession of another party. Wisconsin statutes require repurchase agreements to be fully collateralized by
bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government or its instrumentalities. The Town does not have an
additional custodial credit policy.

Deposits with financial institutions within the State of Wisconsin are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) in the amount of $250,000 for the combined amount of all time and savings deposits and $250,000 for interest-
bearing and noninterest-bearing demand deposits per official custodian per insured depository institution. Deposits with
finandial institutions located outside the State of Wisconsin are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for the
combined amount of all deposit accounts per official custodian per depository institution. Deposits with credit unions are
insured by the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF) in the amount of $250,000 per credit union member.
Also, the State of Wisconsin has a State Guarantee Fund which provides a maximum of $400,000 per public depository
above the amount provided by an agency of the U.S. Government. However, due to the relatively small size of the State
Guarantee Fund in relation to the Fund’s total coverage, total recovery of insured losses may not be available. This coverage
has been considered in determining custodial credit risk.

As of December 31, 2019, none of the Town’s deposits with financial institutions were in excess of federal and state
depository insurance limits.

B. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Restricted assets on December 31, 2019 totaled $529,723 and consisted of cash and investments held for the following

pUrposes:
Funds Amount Purpose
General
Parkimpact fees S 7,965  To account for impact fees collected and held by the
Town to finance park improvements.
Fire impact fees 23,763  To account for impact fees collected and held by the
Town to finance fire department improvements.
Debt Service 495,646 To account for funds held for debt service expenditures
Fire Donations 5349 Donations to the fire department to be used for the
' purchase of fire department equipment.
Total $ 529,723
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C. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, nondepreciable:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, nondepreciable

Capital assets, depreciable:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and eguipment
Infrastructure
Subtotzls

Less accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, depreciable, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net
Less: Capital related debt
Less: Debt premium
Less: Accounts payable related to capital
Net investment in capital assets
Business-type activities:
Capital assets, nondepreciable:

tand

Construction in progress

Total capital assets, nondepreciable
Capital assets, depreciable;

Machinery and equipment

Infrastructure

Subtotals

Less accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, depreciable, nat

Business-type activities capital assets, net

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
$ 6314317 % 31,081 § 872,797 & 5,472,601

232,938 462,782 26,465 666,255
6,547,255 493,863 902,262 6,138,856
294,211 - 27,283 266,928
1,709,027 36,261 370,288 1,375,000
1,807,079 483,147 39,500 2,250,726
8,200,543 186,400 - 8,386,943
12,010,860 705,808 437,071 12,279,597
3130,307 472,535 54,051 3,548,791
8,880,553 233,273 383,020 8,730,806
$ 15427808 $ 727136 § 1285282 14,869,662
8,913,197

96,891

10,525

$ 5.849,049

$ 981  § - 3 - 4 981
142,762 9,023 133,385 18,400
143,743 9,023 133,385 19,381
123,500 - - 123,500
1,534,774 133,385 - 1,668,159
1,658,274 133,385 - 1,791,659
219,993 48,587 - 268,580
1,438,281 84,798 - 1,523,079

$ 1582024 % 93,821 § 133,385 % 1,542,460
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the Town as follows:

Governmental activities

General government 3 43702

Public safety 55,447

Public works 367,794

Culture and recreation 5,592

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $§ 472535
Business-type activities

Stormwater management utility $ 48,587

D. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

Interfund receivables and payables between individual funds of the Town, as reported in the fund financial statements, as of
December 37, 2019 are detailed below:

Interfund Interfund
Raceivables Payahles
Long-term cash advances to finance
operating cash deficits
Governmental Fund
General $ 66,793 % -
Solid Waste/Recycling 63,944 -
Proprietary Fund
Stormwater management utility - 130,743
Totals $ 130743 § 130,743

The Town Board currently has no plan for repayment of the advance from the general fund and solid waste/recycling fund
to the stormwater management utility fund.

Interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Transfer Transfer
Fund In Cut
General $ - 4 26,325
Rental Fund 26,325 -
Total 4 26325 % 26,325

Interfund transfers were made for capital purchases made by the general fund.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations of the Town for the year ended December 31, 2019:

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Issued Retired Balance One Year
Governmental activities:
Cirect borrowings
General obligation notes $ 7470000 § - § 350000 § 7720000 $ 365000
State trust fund loans 1,700,000 1,500,000 1,656,803 1,543,197 170,370
Total Direct Borrowings §,17C,000 1,500,000 2,006,803 8,663,197 535,370
Debt premium 118,088 - 21,157 96,891 -
Capital leases - 250,000 - 250,000 56,781
Compensatad absences 82,534 15,389 - 97,823 -
Governmental activities
Long-term obligations _$ 9370622 § 1765389 $ 2028000 $ 9108011 $ 592151

The Town’s outstanding general obligation notes from direct borrowings of $7,120,000 contain a provision that in an event
of default, outstanding amounts shall at the option of the lender, without notice, mature and become immediately payable.

The Town's outstanding state trust fund loans from direct borrowings of $1,543,197 are subject to a statutory provision that
in an event of late or non-payment, a one percent per month penalty will be charged and the payment will be collected
through a reduction in payments from the State of Wisconsin.

Total interest paid during the year on long-term debt totaled $307,852.

General Obligation Debt

General obligation direct borrowings outstanding on December 31, 2019 totaled $8,663,197 and were comprised of the
following issues:

Date of Final Intarest Original Balance

Issue Maturity Rates Indebtednass 12/31/419
General otligation notes 5/16/12 3//22  2125% - 2.80% § 1,200,000 § 395,000
General obligaticn notes 9/8/14 3/1/724  2.00% - 2.60% 2,300,000 1,225,000
General obligaticn taxable notes 12/19/16 9/1/22 3.35% 3,500,000 3,500,000
State trust fund loan 6/26/17 3/15/27 3.50% 1,100,000 993,892
State trust fund loan 10/23/17 3/15/27 3.50% 600,000 549,305
General obligation taxable notes 12/6/17 371727 3.00% - 3.25% 2,000,000 2,000,000
Total outstanding general obligaticn debt $ 8663197
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Annual principal and Interest mzturities of the outstanding general obligation debt of $8,663,157 on December 31, 2019 are
detailed below:

Governmental Activities
Year Ended Direct borrowings - general obligation notes

December 31, Principal Interest Totals
2020 $ 535370 $ 268525 $ 803,895
2021 546,481 253,008 789,579
2022 4,062,657 238,418 4,301,075
2023 544,051 104,947 748,998
2024 725,588 85,463 811,051

2025-2027 2,145,050 117,989 2,267,039

§ 8663197 § 1068440 § 9,731,637

For governmental activities, the other long-term liabilities are generally funded by the gereral fund.

Legal Margin for New Debt
The Town’s legal margin for creation of additicnal general obligation debt on December 31, 201 was $19,270,960 as
follows:

Equalized valuation of the Town $ 555,961,400
Statutory limitation percentage (x) 5%
General cbligation debt limitation, per Section 67.03 of the

Wisconsin Statutes 27,798,070

Total outstanding general cbligation debt applicable to debt limitaticn $ 8,663,197
Less: Amounts available for financing genera! obligation debt
Debt service fund 136,087
QOutstanding general obligation debt applicable to debt limitation 8,527,110

Legal margin for new debt $ 18,270,960

General Obligation Debt Limit Policy

The Town adopted a comprehensive debt management policy on June 4, 2014. The policy imposed a more restrictive direct
debt burden limitation on the Town. The Town's policy states that the total principal emount outstanding of any debt
obligation carrying the general obligation pledge of the Town may not exceed an amount equal to 20% of the Town's debt
capacity as determined by the Wisconsin Departmant of Revenua, The Town's debt limit policy is calculated as follows:

General obligation debt limitation, per Secticn 67.03

of the Wisconsin Statutes & 27,798,070
Town's debt limit % {x) 20%
Town's debt limit amount 3 5,558,614

The Town'’s general obligaticn debt outstanding at December 31, 2019 is $8,663,197, which exceeds the Town's debt limit
policy amount,

In March, 2020, the Town revised their debt limit policy to equa! the statutory legal margin for new debt.
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Capital Lease

The Town is obligated under a lease accounted for as capital lease that was used to finance the acquisition of capital assets.
The cost of the capitel asset under the capital lease is $230,944 and the related accumulated depreciation is $25,660 as of
December 31, 2019.

The following is a schedule of the minimum lease payments under the lease agreement and the present values of the
minimum lease payments at December 21, 2019;

, Governmental
Year Ending Activities

2020 $ 56,781
2021 56,781
2022 56,781
2023 56,781
2024 56,781
Subtotal 283,905
Less: Amount representing interest 33,905
Present value of future minimum lease payments ] 250,000

F. PENSION PLAN
1. Plan Description

The WRS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and other plan provisions
are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may only be modified by the legislature. The
retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides
coverage to all eligible State of Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially
employed by a participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200 hours a year
(880 haours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be employed for at least
ong year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS.

ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which ¢can be found at
http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.

For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively employed on or after
April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a retirement annuity. Participants
employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 7, 2011, are Immediztely vested. Participants
who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested.

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62 for elacted officials and executive
service retirement plan participants, if hired on or before Dacember 21, 2016 are entitled to a retirement benefit based
on a formula factor, their final average earnings, and creditable service.
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Final average earnings is the average of the participant’s three highest earnings periods. Creditable service includes
current service and prior service for which a participant received earnings and made contributions as required.
Creditable service also includes creditable military service. The retirement benefit will be caleulated as a money
purchase benefit based on the employee’s contributions plus matching employer's contributions, with interest, if that
benefit is higher than the formula benefit.

Vested participants may retire at or after age 55 (50 for protective occupations) and recelve an actuarially-reduced
benefit, Participants terminating covered employment prior to eligibility for an annuity may either receive emplcyee-

required contributions plus interest as a separation benefit or leave contributions on deposit and defer application until
eligible to receive a retirement benefit.

WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.

2. Post-Retirement Adjustments

The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity payments from the retirement system based on
annual investment performance in accordance with s. 40,27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments
may resuit when investment gains (losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall)
in the reserves, as determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or
other similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be zpolied only to previously granted increases. By law, Core
annuities cannot be recuced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (tha "floor”) set at retirement, The
Core and Variable annulty adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:

Year Core Fund Adjustment Variable Fund Adjustment
2007 3% 10%
2008 6.6 0
2009 {2.1) {42)
2010 {1.3) 22
201 (1.2) 11
2012 7.0 )]
2013 9.6) 9
2014 47 25
2015 2.9 2
2016 0.5 {5
2017 2.0 4
2018 24 17
Contributions

Required contributicns are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with Chapter 40 of the
Wisconsin Statutes, The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially determined centribution rate for
general category employees, including teachers, executives and elacted officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the
executives and elected officials category was merged into the general employee category. Required contributions for
protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to contribute the remained of
the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless
provided for by an existing collective bargaining agreement.
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During the year ending December 31, 2019, the WRS recognized $40,902 in contributions from the Town.

Contribution rates for the reporting period are:

Employee Category Employee Employer
General (including teachers, executives and elected officials) 6.7% 6.7%
Protective with Social Sacurity 6.7% 10.7%
Protective without Social Security 6.7% 14.9%

4, Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

At Dacember 31, 2019, the Town reported a liability of $106,022 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.
The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017 rolled forward to

Dacember 31, 2018. No material changes in assumpticns or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date
and the measurement date. The Town’s proporticn of the net pension liability was based on the Town's share of
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2018, the
Town's proportion was 0.00298010%, which was an increase of 0.00042491% from its proportion measured as of
Dacember 31, 2017,

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Town recognized pension expense of $69,562.

At December 31, 2019, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following scurces:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 82,574 § 145,963
Net differences between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 154,838 -
Changes in assumptions 17,871 -
Changes in proportion and differences between

employer contributions and proportionate share

of contributions 244 6,842
Employer contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 40,902 -
Total $ 296429 % 152,805
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5.

$40,902 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the Town's contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2020.

Other amournts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be
recognized in pensicn expense as follows:

Year ended
December 31, Expense
2020 $ 37,123
2021 7,725
2022 16,017
2023 41,857
Total $ 102,722

Actuarial Assumptions

The tctal pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied tc all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial valuation date: December 31, 2017
Measurement date of net pension liability {asset): December 31, 2018
Actuarial cost method: Entry Age
Asset valuation method: Fair Value
Long-term expected rate of retum: 7.0%
Discount rate: 7.0%
Salary Increases;
Inflation 3.0%
Seniority/Merit 0.1% - 5.6%
Mortality Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Takle
Post-retirement adjustments* 1.9%

*  No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment return,
actuarial experience and other factors. 1.9% is the assurned annual adjustment based on the investment return
assumption and the post-retirement discount rate,

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2018 that covered a three-year period from
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017. Based on this experience study, actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total
Pension Liability changed from pricr year, including the discount rate, long-term expected rate of return, post-retirement
adjustment, wage inflation rate, mortality and separation rates. The Total Penslon Liability for December 31, 2018 is based
upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation.

34



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Long-term Expected Return on Plan Assets, The long-term expected rate of return cn pension plan investments was
determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class,
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and
best estimates of arithmetic real rates of retumn for each major asset class are summarized in the following table;

Long-term Long-term
Current Asset  Expected Nominal  Expected Real
Allocation % Rate of Return % Rate of Return %

Core Fund Asset Class

Global equities 49% 8.1% 5.5%
Fixed income 24.5% 4.0% 1.5%
Inflation sensitive assets 15.5% 3.8% 1.3%
Real estate 9% 6.5% 3.9%
Private equity/debt 8% 9.4% 6.7%
Multi-asset 4% 6.7% A%
Total Core Fund 110% 7.3% A4.7%
Variable Fund Asset Class
U.S. equities , 70% 7.6% 5.0%
International equities 30% 8.5% 5.9%
Total Variable Fund 100% 8.0% 5.4%

New England Pension Ceonsultants Long Terrmn US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.5%

Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from
actual monthly allocations

Single Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 7.00% was used to measure the total pension liability, as opposed to a
discount rate of 7.20% for the prior year. This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension
pian investments of 7.00% and a municipal bond rate of 3.71%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.00%
expected rate of return implies that a dividend of approximately 1.9% will always be paid. For purposes of the single
discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to determine
this single discount rate assumed that plan members contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and
that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution
rates and the member rate, Based on these assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current plan members.
Therefore, the municipal bond rate of return on pension plan investments was applied te all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate. The
following presents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability asset calculated using the discount rate
of 7.00 percent, as well as what the Town’s propartionate share of the net pension lisbility {asset) would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5,060 percent; or 1-percentage-point higher (8.00
percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease to Current 1% Increase to
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate
(6.00%) {7.00%) (8.00%)
Town's proportionate share of
the net pension liability (asset) $ 421344 § 106,022 § (128,444}

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary nat position is available in
separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.

6. Payables to the Pension Plan

At December 31, 2019, the Town reported a payable of $7,834 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the
pension plan for the year ended December 31, 2019.

G. FUND EQUITY

Nonspendable Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, portions of the governmental fund balances are amounts that cannot be spent because
they are either 1) not in spendable form cr 2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. At

December 31, 2019, nonspendable fund balance was as follows:

General Fund

Nonspendable
Prepaid itams $ 21,051
Advance to stormwater fund 66,795
Total general fund nonspendable fund balzance ¢ 87,850
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Restricted Fund Balance
In the: fund financial statements, portions of governmental fund balances are not available for appropriation or legally
restricted for use for a specific purpose. At December 31, 2019, restricted fund balance was as follows:

General Fund
Restricted for

Park improvements $ 7,965
Fire department improvements 23,763
Total general fund restricted fund balance 31728

Special Revenue Fund
Restricted for

Fire department expenditures 2,349
Tatal spacial revenue fund restricted fund balance 2,349

Debt Service Fund
Restricted for

Debt service expenditures 136,087
Total debt service fund restricted fund balance 136,087

Total restricted fund balance g 170,164

Committed Fund Balance
In the fund financial stetements, portions of government fund balances are committad by Town Board action. At
December 31, 2019, General Fund balance was committed as follows:

General Fund
Committed for

Cemetery expenditures $ 32,267
Sick leave and vacation payout 56,268
Total genera! fund committed fund balance 88,535

Special Revenue Fund
Committed for

Solid waste and recycling expenditures 63,944
Toial committed fund balance g 152,479

Assigned Fund Balance

Portions of governmental fund balances have been assigned to represent tentative management plans that are subject to
change. At December 31, 2019, $57,380 was assigned for subsequent year's expenditures,
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Minimum General Fund Balance Policy

The Town Board has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy of 16% of actual current year general fund expenditures,
not Including debt service. The minimum fund balance is maintained for cash flow and working capital purposes. The
minimum fund balance amount is calculated as follows:

Actual 2019 General Fund Expenditures § 2,909,065
Minimum Fund Balance % (x) 16%
Minimum fund balance amount 3 465,450

The Town's unassigned general fund balance of $404,587 is below the minimum fund balance amount.

Net Position
The Town reports restricted net position at December 31, 2019 as follows:

Gavernmental Activities
Restrictad for

Park impravements $ 7,965
Fire department expenditures 23,763
Debt service 198,527
Fire donations 2,349
Total restricted net position § 232604

NOTE 4: OTHER INFORMATION

A. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to verious risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of asseis; errors and
omissions; and natural disasters for which the government carries commercial insurance. The Town completes an annual
review of its insurance coverage to ensure adequate coverage. Settled claims have not exceeded any of the coverage
amounts in any of the last three fiscal years.

B. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Town is party to other various pending claims and legal preceedings. Although the outcome of such
matters cannot be forecast with certainty, it is the opinion of management that the likelihcod is remote that any such claims
or proceadings will have a material adverse effect on the Town's financial pasition or results of operations,
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C. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Agreement with Village of Fox Crossing

In January, 2020, the Town signed an agreement with the Village of Fox Crossing regarding the settlement of litigation and
negotiations related tc provision of utility services by the Village of Fox Crossing to the Town of Clayton. The parties
agreed that they shall execute and submit a stipulated settlement to the court for resolution of the outstanding issues
related to annexation and incorporation disputes. The Town of Clayton agreed to pay the Village of Fox Crossing the sum
of $11,500,000 for the payment of sanitary sewer and water utility capacity (the “Comprehensive reimbursement”). The
Comprehensive reimbursement shall be paid in two installments, The first installment of $6,500,000 shall be paid within 95
days of the date of execution of the agreement. The second installment of $5,000,000 plus interest accruing at a rate of 3%
per year shall be paid within two years of the date of execution of the agreement, The Town plans 1o fund the
Comprehensive reimbursement with the issuance of long-term debt,

As part of the agreement, the Town of Clayten agreed to pay the Village of Fox Crossing the Village's actual attorney feas
for the litigation issues relating to the Incorporation and annexation issues, totally $215,858. The Town also agreed to pay
any additional attorney fees relating the noted issues up to a maximum of $220,000 total legal fees reimbursed.

Regarding the consideration for the Town to dismiss action challenging the Village of Fox Crossing’s annexation of lands,
the Viltage shall purchase the Town owned lands located with the annexed territory free and clear of encumbrances for
$716,000. The purchase shall be made within 85 days of the date of the agreement.

Joinder Agreement with Fox West Regional Commission
In February, 2020, the Town signed a joinder agreement with the Fox West Sewerage Commission to join the existing

Ordinance-Contract for sewage treatment services. The present “contracting parties” of the Ordinance-Contract are the
Town of Grand Chute, The Tewn of Grand Chute Sanitary District No. 2, the Village of Fox Crossing, the Town of Greenvilie,
and the Town of Greenville Sanitary District. The Town of Clayton agreed that its original annual charges (operating and
maintenance charges, capital charges and depreciation charges) shall be 2%. They agreed that their 2% charge shall be in
full force and effect from the date of inception, and shall be paid in full within 25 days of invcice. The Town of Clayton
agreed that their percentage will be reallocated when they become an on-line user in the system, In addition o the annual
charges, the Town agreed to pay a one-time buy-in charge of $1,225,251. The Town plans to fund the 2% share in capacity
of the Fox West Wastewater Treatment Facility with the issuance of long-term debt.

D. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In April, 2019, the Town sold a house and land to the Town's Assistant Administrator for $245,000. The property was
appraised by an independent appraisal company for $246,000.

During 2019, the Town purchased land for & yard waste site from one of the Town Supervisors for $31,000. The town did
nct obtain an appraisal of the property before the purchase.
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E. TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING DISTRICT

The Town has created Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 1 on August 7, 2019, in accordance with Section 66,1105 of the
Wisconsin Statutes and has a statutory creation date for valuation purposes of January 1, 2019, At the time the TID was
created, the property tax base within the TID was “frozen” and increment taxes resulting from increases to the property tax
base are used to finance TID improvements, including principal and interest on long-term debt issued by the Town 1o
finance such improvements. The Statutes allow eligible project costs to be incurred until 2037.

Since creaticn of the above TID, the Town has provided various financing sources to the TID. The foregoing amounts are
not recorded as liabilities of the Town, but can be recovered from future tax increment revenues. As of December 31, 2019,
the Town's TID No. T has incurred unreimbursed project costs of $1,368,838.

The intent of the Town is to recover the net unreimbursed projact costs with future tax increments and other TID surplus
funds, if any, prior to termination of the District. Unless terminated by the Town prior thereto, TID No. 1 has a statutory
termination year of 2039,
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SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM

LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary
Proportionate Pension Liability Net Position as a
Proportion of Share of the Coverad (Assef)as a Percentage of the
Plan the Net Pension Net Pension Payroll Percentage of Total Pension
Year Ending __Liability (Asset) Liability (Assef) (Plan Year) Covered Payroll Liability {Asset)
12/31/14 0.00170112%  § (41,784 § 242,794 17.21% 102.74%
12/31/15 0.00181343% 29,468 288,315 10.22% 98.20%
12/31/16 0.00210694% 17,366 360,414 4.82% 99.12%
12/31417 0.00255519% {75,866) 420,575 18.04% 102.93%
12/31/18 0.00298010% 106,022 470,520 22.53% 96.45%
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions
Contractually Contractually Contribution Covered as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Payroll of Coverad
YearEnding _ Contributions Contributions {Excess) {Fiscal Year) Payroll
12/31/15 $ 19,605 $ 19605 § - $ 288,315 6.80%
12/31/16 24,498 24,498 - 360,414 6.80%
12731417 30,763 30,763 - 420,575 7.31%
12/31/18 33,961 33,561 - 470,520 71.22%
12/31419 40,902 403,902 - 558,826 7.32%

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

There were no changes of benefit terms or assumptions for any participating employer in the WRS.

The Town is required o present the last ten fiscal years of dats; however accounting standards allow the presentation of as many
years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented,
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GENERAL FUND
DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL REVENUES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Pasitive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Taxes
General property $ 662,413 3§ 662,413 662,538 3} 125
Mobile home fees 14,000 14,000 11,139 (2,861)
Managed forest land tax 1,000 1,000 1,163 163
Interest and taxes - - 58 58
Other taxes - - 2,992 2,892
Total taxes 677,413 677,413 677,890 477
Intergovernmantal
State
State shared taxes 33,000 33,000 41,868 8,868
DNR - in lieu of taxes 500 500 685 185
Transportation 176,284 176,284 176,284 -
Exempt computer aid 4,300 4,300 4,419 119
Fire insurance dues 21,000 21,000 23,801 2,801
Other public safaty - - 2,000 2,000
Other 600 500 1,123 523
Total intergovernmental 235,684 235,684 250,180 14,496
Licenses and permits
Licenses
Liguor and malt beverage 5,000 5,600 5,935 835
Operators, cigarette and
other licenses 4,200 4,200 5,309 1,109
Cable television fees 36,000 36,000 37,098 1,098
Dog 2,000 2,000 1,859 {141)
Permits
Building 95,000 95,000 81,854 (13,148)
Culvert and other permits 5,000 5,000 6,450 1,450
Zoning 6,500 6,500 5,100 {1,400
Total licenses and permits 153,700 153,700 143,605 (10,095)
Public charges for services
General governmeant 3,500 3,500 4,324 824
Cemetery - - 10,140 10,140
House numbers 1,500 1,500 1,680 180
Fire and first respenders - - 10,593 10,593
Parks 2,500 2,500 5171 2,671
Highway - - 46,663 46,663
Weed and nuisance contrcl - - 1,073 1,073
Total public charges for services 7,500 7,500 79,644 72,144
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Intergovernmental charges for services
General government
Highway
Total intergovermmental charges for servicas

Miscellaneous
Interast on investments
Land rental
Donations
insurance recoveries
Cther
Total miscellaneous

Total revenues

Variance
Final Budget -

Budget Positive

Original Final Actual {Negative)

8,000 8,000 8,000 -
- - 4,852 4,852,
§,000 8,000 12,852 4,852
15,832 15,832 37,61 21,779
750 750 1,280 530
- - 1,100 1,100
- - 165 165
1,500 1,500 15,107 13,607
18,082 18,082 55,263 37,181
$ 1.100,379 $ 1100379 ¢ g19.434 _$ 119,055
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GENERAL FUND
DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
General government
Town board $ 33,772 $ 33772 % 33202 % 570
Committees 6,774 6,774 4,252 2,522
Elections 7,159 7,159 3,188 3,971
Legal 75,000 195,000 157,736 37,264
Administrator/clerk 108,512 108,512 122,443 (13,931)
Treasurer/assistant administrator 115,966 115,966 114,537 1,429
Deputy clerk 65,783 65,783 65,620 163
Assessor 21,600 21,600 21,315 285
General office operation 44,300 44,300 48,404 (4,104)
Financial administration 10,000 10,000 15,376 (5,376)
Town hall 35,250 35,250 41,748 (6,498)
Insurance 41,750 41,750 45,836 (4,086)
Contingency 27,286 27,286 11,990 15,296
Total general government 593,152 713,152 685,647 27,505
Public safety
Police department 74,585 74,585 59,970 14,615
Fire department 221827 221,827 206,728 15,099
Building inspection 96,037 96,037 92,604 3,433
Total public safety 392,449 392,449 359,302 33,147
Public works
Wages 135,476 135,476 138,756 (3,280)
Operations 27,000 27,000 23,495 3,505
Engineering 30,000 30,000 23,585 6,415
Contracted services and other 155,850 156,931 224,962 (68,031
Total public works 348,326 349,407 410,798 (61,391)
Health and human services
Animal and weed control 1,895 1,895 i3 1122
Cemetery 5,500 5,500 6,638 (1,138)
Total health and human services 7,395 7,395 7,411 (16)
Culture and recreation
Clayton town park 9,750 9,750 18,459 (8,709)
Trail head park 10,050 10,050 13,743 (3,693)
Friendship trail 10,000 10,000 - 10,000
Total culture and recreation 29,800 29,800 32,202 (2,402)




Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive
Original Final Actual {Negative)
Censervation and development
Planning and zoning 27,000 27,000 38,038 {11,038}
Greenspace commiitee 4,621 4,621 2,207 2414
Economic development - 180,000 206,653 {26,653)
Total conservation and development 31,621 211,621 246,898 (35,277}
Capital outlay
General government 50,000 50,000 56,426 {6,426)
Public safety 227,500 237,000 195,212 41,788
Public works 400,000 467,325 452,387 14,938
Economic development outlay - 344,000 462,782 (118,782)
Total capital outlay 677,500 1,098,325 1,166,807 (68,482)
Total expenditures $ 2080243 § 28027149 _3 2909065 3 {106,916)
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
Special Revenue
Fire Capital
Rental Donations Projects Totals
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 1m14 3 -4 - 3 14
Restricted cash and investments - 2,349 - 2,345
Total assets { 114§ 2349 % = 3 2,463
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liakilities
Accounts payable $ 14 3 -4 - 3 114
Fund balances
Restricted - 2,349 - 2,349
Total liabilities and fund balances ) 14§ 2349 ¢ - 8 2,463
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES [N FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

REVENUES
Miscellaneous

EXPENDITURES
Current
Public safety
Conservation and development
Capital outlay
Total expenditures

Excess of revenues under expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - January 1

Fund balances - December 31

Special Revenue

Fire Capital
Rental Danations Projects Totals

4 25,215 - 4 - % 25,215
- 4554 - 4,554

1154 - - 1,154

36,261 - 13,185 49,446

37,415 4,554 13,185 55,154

{12,200) {4,554) {13,185} (29,939)

26,325 - - 26,325
14,125 (4,554) {13,185) (3,614

(14,125) 6,503 13,185 5,963

$ - 2,349 $ - g 2,349
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Independent auditors’ report on internal control over financial reporting and on
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and
the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the “Town®) as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Town's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 19, 2020.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town's internal control over financial
reparting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Town'’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal

control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a cantrol does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Qur consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and
therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We did identify a certain
deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2019-001 that we
consider to be a material weakness.
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COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

As part of obtaining reascnable assurance about whether the Town'’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of finandial statement
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion, The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

TOWN OF CLAYTON'S RESPONSE TO FINDING

The Town's response to the finding identified In our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
responses. The Town's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion cn the effectiveness of the Tawn's internal control or on compliance. This
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Town's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpcse.

WM’?@%«_ L7
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Green Bay, Wisconsin
March 18, 2020
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

SECTION . INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

FINDING NO. CONTROL DEFICIENCIES

2019-001 Adjustments to the Town's Financial Records
Repeat of 2018-001

Condition: As part of our audit we proposed several journal entries that were material to the Town's financial
statemenis.

Context: While performing audit procedures, it was noted that management does not have sufficient controls
in place related to year end closing procedures.

Criteria; Material adjusting journal entries proposed by auditors are considered to be an internal control
deficiency.

Cause: While Town staff maintains financial records which accurately report revenues and expenditures
throughout the year, preparing year-end adjusting and closing entries requires additional expertise
that would entail additional training and staff time to develop.

Effect; Year-end financial records prepared by the Town may contain material misstatements.

Recommendation:

Management
Respcnse;

We are aware that the Town contracted for additional accounting assistance in December of 2016,
which eliminated many of the adjustments proposed in prior year audits. We continue to
recommend that the Town review and analyze financial information to decrease the adjustments to
accounting records that will be necessary at the time of the audit.

The Town Board continues to budget for additional professional accounting assistance to review and

analyze the Town's financial information in order to decrease the adjustments needed and to
improve the accuracy of the Town's financial recards,

SECTION ll. COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

There are no findings related to compliance and other matters that are required to be reported under governmental
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the "Town") as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2018. The Town's financial statements, including our report thereon dated May 3,
2019, are presented in a separate audit report document. Professional standards require that we provide you with the
following information related to our audit

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER U.S. GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING STANDARDS AND GOVERNMENT AUDITING
STANDARDS

As stated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to express opinions
about whether the financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you
or management of your responsibilities.

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Town's internal control over financial reporting in order to
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements and not to
provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are Free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions is not an objective of our audit.

PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
correspondence about planning matters.

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT FINDINGS
Consideration of Internal Control

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Town as of and for the year ended

December 31, 2018, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Town’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control,
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Our report on internal
control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters is presented on pages 46 - 47 of the annual
report.
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Our consideration of internal control was For the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not
designed to identify ali deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and
therefore material weaknesses or significant deficlencles may exist that were nat Identified.

A deficiency In internal control exist when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned Functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstaterments on a timely basis, A material weakness is & deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control,
such that there Is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We did not identify any deficiencies in Internal control over
financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.

A significant deficiency is a deficlency, or a combination of deficlencies, in internal control, that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the
Following deficiency in the Town's internal control to be a significant deficiency:

Finding 2018-001 Adjustments to the Town's Financial Records
This finding Is described In detail in the schedule of findings and responses on page 48 of the annual report.

The Town's written respanse to the significant deficiency identified in our audit has not been subjected to the audit
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on It.

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting pelicies. The significant accounting
policies used by the Town are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policles were
adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2018. We noted no transactions entered into
by the Town during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. To the best of our
knowledge, all significant transactions have been recognized In the Financial statements in the proper period,

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial staternents prepared by management and are based on
management's knowtedge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of
the possibility that Future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive
estimates included in the financial statements were:

> Management’s estimate of the depreciable life of the capital assets is based upon anatysis of the expected useful
life of the capital assets. We evaluated the key Factors and assumptions and the consistency in these Factors and
assumptions usec to develop the depreciable life In determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial
staternents taken as a whole,

» Management's estimate of the net pension llabllity (asset) and related deferred outflows/Infiows of resources is
based on informaticn received from the Wisconsin Retirement System, We evaluated the key factors and
assumptions used to develop the net pension liability (asset) and related deferred outflows/inflows of resources in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Certain financial statermnent disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance o Financial statement:
users. There were no particularly sensitive Financial statement disclosures,

The Financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management In performing and completing our audit.



Corrected and Untorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that are
clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management did not identify and we
did not notify them of any uncerrected financial statement misstatements, The following material misstaternents
detected as a result of the audit procedures were corrected by management:

+ Recorded $308,800 taxes receivable and deferred inflows For solid waste/recycling specials on 2018
tax roll.

» Recorded $228,367 taxes recelvable and deferred inflows For stormwater specials on 2018 tax roll,

» Recorded $97,725 of stormwater capital assets that were originally recorded in expense accounts.

*  Recorded 554,365 stormwater depreciation expense.

Disagreements with Management:

For purposes of this letter, & diszgreernent with management s a financial sccounting, reporting, or auditing matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors' report.
No such disagreements arese during the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation
letter dated May 3, 2019. The management representation letter follows this communication.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, managerment may decide to consull with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters,
similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation Involves application of an accounting
principle to the Town's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed
on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to chack with us to determine that
the consultant has all the relevant facts, To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards,
with management each year prior to retention as the Town's auditers. Mowever, these discussions oceurred in the
normal course of our professional relationship and, to the best of our knowledge, cur responses were not a condition
Lo our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to the schedules relating to pensions, which are required supplementary
information {RSI} that supptements the basic financial statements. Qur procedures consisted of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of preparing the information, including whether the RS has been measured and
presented in accordance with prescribed guidelines, whether the methods of measurement and preparation have been
changed from the prior period and the reasons for any such changes, and whether there were any significant
assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the RSI, We comparad the information
for consistency with management's responses Lo our inquiries, the basic financial skatements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements, We did not audit the RS and do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the RS,



We were engaged Lo report on the supplementary information, which accompanies the financial statements but is not
RSl With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting
principles generally accepted in the Unlted States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed From the
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete In relation to our audit of the financial statements. We
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. We have issued our repart thereon dated May 3, 2019,

Restriction on Use

This information Is Intended solely For the information and use of the Town Board and management of the Town and is
not intended Lo be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Sincerely,

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Green Bay, Wisconsin
May 3, 2019



Summary Financial Infarmation

GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Presented below is a summary of Town governmental fund balances on December 31, 2018 and 2017, Information is
provided for assessing financial results for 2018 and for indicating financial resources available for 2019 and subsequent
years,

12/31/18 12/31/17
General Fund
Nonspendable for
Prepaid items $ 2771 % 2,100
Advance to stormw ater fund 130,743 72,074
Restricted For
Park improvements 4,434 1,545
Fire department improvements 15,943 7,797
Committed For
Cemelery expenditures 26,367 31,771
Capital equipment; replacement 59,044 48,509
Sick leave and vacation payout 36,268 31,268
Assigned for subsequent year's budget . 24,500
Unassigned (99,368) 408,835
Total Ceneral Fund Balance 176,202 628,399
Debt Service Fund
Restricted For debt service . 7,870
Unassigned {136,008} -
T otal Debt Service Fund Balance {136,008} 7,870
Special Revenue Funcls
Restricted for
Fire department capital expenditures 6,503 7,328
Comemitted for
Solld waste and recycling expenditures 108,572 93,886
Rental fund expenditures 19,047
Unassigned (14,125) ) -
Total Special Revenue Funds 101,350 120,261
Capital Projects Funds
Restricted For
Capital outlay 13,185 10,251
T otal Governmental Fund Balances $ 154729 S5 766,781

The unassigned general fund balance decreased $508,203 from 2017 to 2018. The decrease was the result of capital
expenditures in excess of original budget, increases in the advance to the stormwater fund and the application of fund
balance in the 2019 budget.

The Town sald land on March 1, 2019, which increased its unassigned fund balance,



STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY ~ BUDGET TO ACTUAL

A budget to actual summary of the stormwater management utility's cash recelpts and cash disbursements for the year
ending December 31, 2018 with comparative actual amount for the year ending December 31, 2017, is as Follows:

Budget 2018 Varfance 2017

Cash receipts

Stormwater management fees 5 226100  § 229,247 § 3147 5§ 169,365

Capital contributions 25000 26 840 1,840 22,103

Total operating revenues 251,100 256 087 4,987 191,468
Cash disbursements

Employee wages and benefits B5916 85,696 (780) 68,151

Vendors and contrackors 66,900 72,11 {5211 93,316

Capital assets 98,284 129,109 {30,825) £6,193

Total operating expenses 251,100 287 916 {36,818) 227,660
Excess of cash raceipls ovar (under)

cash disbursements ] - S (31,829) _& (31.829) _§ {36,192},




New Accounting Standard

ACCOUNTING AND REPQRTING FOR FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

In January 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement No. 84, Fiductary
Activities, which establishes criteria for identifying Fiduciary activities and revises reporting requirements. The standard
is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2019. In addition, the GASB expects to Issue an
implementation guide in 2019.

Identifying Fiduclary Activities

Activities cther than pension and postemployment arrangements are considerad fiduciary activities if all of the
Following criteria are met:

»  The gaovernment controls the assets or can direct their use.

> The activity must not be solely based onthe government’s own-source revenue, Owi-source revenue includes
exchange transactions such as user charges, sales taxes and property taxes.

» The government: does not have administrative involvement such as determining eligibility, monitoring compliance
or approval of expendltures,

» The government does not have direct financial involvement such as matching requirements or liabitity for
disallowed costs.

Activities meeting these criterla would be required to be reported as fiduclary Funds. An exception is rnade For Funds
held in enterprise funds which are expected to be held for three months are less. These Funds can continue to be
reported in the enterprise Fund. Activities not meeting these criteria would be reported as part of the governmental or
proprietary funds.

The administrative involvement criteria is likely to have the mast Impact on reclassification of fiduciary activities.
Policies on the expenditures of funds and approval of expenditures by an employee of the government may be
considered administrative involvement and preclude the classification as a fiduclary activity.

Financlal Reporting

An activity meeting the above criteria should be reported in one of the following four Fiduciary Funds:
» Pension and cther employee benefit trust Funds

» Investment trust Funds

» Private-purpose trusk funds

»  Custodial Funds

Fiduciary assets administered through a trust agreement are recorded in a pension and other employee benefit trust,
Investment or privale-purpose trust fund. Custodial funds are used to report all other Fiduciary activities not held in a
trust or equivalent arrangement. Agency funds have been eliminated with GASS No. 84 and replaced with custodial
funds,

Fiduciary funds will present a statement of fiduciary net position, including assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position, Liabilities to beneficiaries should be recognized when an
event occurs that compels the government to disburse Fiduciary resources, when a demand for the resources has been
made or when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken or met by the beneficlary to release the
assets. A statement of changes in fiduciary net position should present additions by source and deductions by type.



Implementation

As mentiened previously, this new standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2015, However,
due to the potential reclassification of funds, the impact may need to be considered during budget preparation. We
recommend the Town begin to determine the impact of the Statement by:

1. Identifying potential Fiduclary activities. Some activities ko consider include;
a. Tax collection funds
b.  Cemetery trust funds

2. Gathering facts regarding each activity, including the government’s administrative involvement.

3. Evaluating whether each activity meets the fiduciary activity criteria and determine how it should be reported. An
appeandix to the Statement Includes flowcharts for the evaluation process,

These changes will affect your 2019 financial statements. This comment is for informational purposes,



APPENDIX
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May 3, 2019

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
2200 Riverside Drive
Green Bay, Wi 54305

This representation letter s provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the Town of Clayton,
Winnebago County, Wisconsin which comprise the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-type activitles, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund infarmation as of December 3%, 2018, and
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows For the year then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing cpinions on whether the financial statements are
presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America {U.5. GAAP),

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. ltems are considered
material, regardless of size, if they involve an ornission or misstatement of accounting information that, in light of
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of 4 reasonable parson relying on the |nformatlon
would be changed er influenced by the omission or misstatement.

We confirm, to the best of ourknowledge and bellef, as of May 3, 2019 the following reprasentations made to you
during your audit of the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2C18.

Financial Statements

1. We have fulfilled our respensibiiities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated
November 6, 2018, For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
U.5. GAAP. The financial statements include ail properly classified funds and other financial information of the
primary government and all component units required by generally accepted accounting principles to be
included in the financial reporting entity.

2. Weacknowledge and have Fuifilled our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and Fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to Fraud or error.

3. Weacknowledge our responsibility For the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to
prevent and detect Fraud,

4. We have identified all accounting estimates that could be material to the financial statements, including the
key factors and significant assumptions used in making those estimates, and we believe the estimates
{including those measured at fair value) and the significant assumptiens used in making those accounting
estimates are reasonable.



May 3,2019
CliftonLarsonallen LLP

Page 2

10

1.

12,

13.

14,

15,

Related party relationships and transactions, including, but not limited to, revenues, expanditures/expenses,
loans, transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related
parties have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of U.S.
GAAPR,

All events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and For which U.5. GAAP requires
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

We have not identified or been notified of any uncorrected financlal statement misstatements. in addition, you
have proposed adjusting journal entries that have been posted to the entity's accounts, We have reviewed and
approved those adjusting Journal entries and understand the nature of the changes and their impact on the
financial statements. We are in agreement with those adjustments and accept responsibility For them.

The effects of all known actual or possible titigation, claims, and assessments have been accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The Fact that the amount of "uncollateralized” deposits or "uninsured, unregistered securities held by the
counterparty, or by its trust department or agent but not in the entity's name” during the period significantly
exceeded the amounts in those categories as of the financial statement date was properly disclosed in the
financial statements.

Receivables recorded in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors For transactions arising
on or before the financial statement date and have been reduced to thelr estimated net realizable value,

We have nc plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets,
liabilities, or equity.

Participation in a public entity risk pool has been properly reported and disclosed in the Financial statements.

We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure pension liabilities and costs for
financial accounting purposes are appropriate in the circumstances.

We are unable to determine the possibility of a withdrawal liability in & multiple-employer benefit plan.

We do not plan to make frequent amendments to our pension benefit plans.

Information Provided

t

We have provided you with:

& Access to allinformation, of which we are aware, that is relevant te the preparation and Fair
prasentation of the financial statements such as records, documentation, and other matters.

b. Additional infermation that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

¢ Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whorm you determined it necessary to obtain
audit evidence.
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10.

11.

1.

d. Complete minutes of the meetings of the governing board and related committees, or summaries of
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared,

e. Al communications from regulatory agencies, tenders, and other Funding sources concerning
noncompliance with, or deficlencies in, Financial reporting practices.

F. Al communlicatlions from regulatory agencies lenders, and other funding sources concerning
noncompliance with the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.

All material transactions have baen recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements,

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of Fraud,

We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:
a. Management;
b, Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
¢.  Others when the fraud could have a material effect on the Financial statements,

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity's financial
statements communicated by employees, Former employees, requlators, or others.

We have no knowledge of any instancas of noncompliance or suspected noncompliancze with laws and
regulations and provisions of contracts and grant agreements, or abuse whese effects should be considerad
when preparing financial statements.

wWe have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should
be considered when preparing the financial statements.

There are no other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed
ir accerdance with U.S. GAAP,

We have disclosed Lo you the identity of the entity's related parties and alk the related party relationships and
Eransactions of which we are aware.

The entity has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no fiens or encurnbrances on such assets, nor
has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as made known to you and disclosed in the financial
statements,

We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.

We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies related to the audit
objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented.
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13.

14.

15,

16.

17.

18.

18.

20.

217,

22.

23,

4.

25.

We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our planned
corrective actions, for the report.

We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant
agreements applicable to the Town of Clayton, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts: and we have
identified and disclosed to you all laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we
believe have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amaunts or other
financial data significant to the audit objectives, including legal and contractual provisions for reporting
specific activities in separate Funds.

There are no violations or passible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those
pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgats), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax
or debt limits, and any relsted debt covenants whose effects should be considered For disclosure In the
financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance.

The entity has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that woutd have a material effect on the
financial statemants in the event of noncompliance.

We are responsible for determining whether we have received, expended, or otherwise been the beneficiary of
any federal awards during the period of this audit. No federal award, received directty from federal agencies or
indirectly as a subrecipient, was expended In an amount that cumulatively totals from all sources $750,000 or
mare. For this representation, "award" means financial assistance and Federal cost-reimbursement contracts
that non-Federal entities receive directly from Federal awarding agencies or indirectly from pass-through
entities. [t does notinclude procurement contracts, user grants, or contracts used to buy goods or services
from vendors.

We have followed all applicable laws and regulations in adopting, approving, and amending budgets,

The financial statements inciude all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and
properly disclose all other joint ventures, jointly governed organizations, and other related organizations.

The financial statements properly classify all Funds and activities.
All Funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation as major are
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to

financial statement users.

Components of net position (net investment in capitat assets; restrictad; and unrestricted) and equity amounts
are properly classified and, if applicable, approved.

Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded,

Expenses have been appropriately classifled in or allocated to Functions and programs in the statement of
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.

Reveriues are appropriately classified in Ehe statement of activities within program revenues or general
revenues.
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26,

27.

28,

29,

30.

31.

32

33,

Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported.

Peposits and investment securities and derivative instyuments are properly classified as to risk and are properly
valued and disclosed.

Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if
applicable, depreciated.

We have appropriately disclosed the entity's policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or usrestricted
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes For which both restricted and unrestricted net position is
available and have determined that net position Is proparly recognized undes the policy.

We acknowledge our responsibility For the required supplementary information (RSI). The RS! is measured and
presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not changed
from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and interpretations
underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSl

We acknowledge cur respensibility For presenting the detalled comparisons of budgeted and actual revenues
and expenditures and the combining balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in
fund balances For nonmajor funds (the supplementary information}) in accerdance with U.S. GAAR, and we
believe the supplementary information, including its Form and ¢ontent, is fairly presented in accordance with
1.5, CAAP. The methads of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information have not
changed from those used in the prior peried, and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or
interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. IF the
supplementary information is not presented with the audited financial staterents, we will make the audited
financial statements readily available to the intended users of the supplementary information no later than the
date we issue the supplementary information and the auditors’ report thereen.

As part of your audit, you prepared the draft financial statements and related notes, and state financial report.
We have designated an individual who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience to understand
and oversee your services; have made all management judgments and decisions; and have assumed all
management responsibilities. We have evaluated the adequacy and results of the service. We have reviewed,
approved, and accepted responsibility for those financial statements and related notes and state financial
report.

We have evaluated the adequacy and results of the depreciation services performed and accept responsibility
for the results. We acknowledge our responsibility For our depreciation schedules and have determined the
methods and rates of depreciation and the salvage valuas used in the calculations. We have designated an
individual who possesses sultable skill, knowledge, and/or experience ko understand and oversee your
depreciation services; have made all significant management judgments and declsions; and have assumed all
management responsibilities.
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34, Inregards to the preparation of Town reports and depreciation services performed by you, we have:!
a. Made all management judgments and decistons and assumed all management responsibllities.

b. Destgnated an Individual whe possesses sultable skill, knowledge, and/or experience to understand
and oversea the services,

¢, Evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed,
d. Accepted responstbility for the results of the services,
33, We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the pension benefits and have adequately considered
the qualifications of the specialist in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial statements
and underlying accounting records, We did not glve or cause any Instructlons to be given ko specialists with

respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to blas thelr work, and we are not otherwise aware of
any matters that have had an impact on the independence or objectivity of the specialist.

Title: ___Adminlstrator/Cleck

Slgnature:\_‘QOA[ ™, %l @ [ ,fj Title: __Treasuter/Assistant Administratar

Torl Straw



N

Town of Clayton

Annual Financial Report
2018




Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

Necember 31, 2018



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

DECEMBER 31, 2018

Table of Contents

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-wide Financial Statements
Statement of Net Positlon
Statement of Activities
Fund Financial Statements
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
Staternent of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund Ralances - Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expanditures and Changes in Fund Balance -
Budget and Actual - General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance -
Buclget and Actuat - Solid Waste/Recycling Fund

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position -
Proprietary Fund

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Praportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) - Wisconsin Retirement System
Schedule of Contributions - Wisconsin Retirement System
Notes to Required Supplementary Information

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
General Fund
Detailed Comparison of Budgeted and Actual Revenues
Detailed Comparison of Budgeted and Actual Expenditures
Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

13

14
15

16
17
18

39
39
39

40
42
44

45



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

DECEMBER 31, 2018

ADDITIONAL INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT FOR BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Qver Financiat Reporting and on Cempliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standords

Schedule of Findings and Responses

46
48



ClftonLarson&llen LLP
CLAconnect com

Independent auditors’ report

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin
(the "Town") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Town's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and Fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and Fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the Town’s preparation and Fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal cantrol. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

OPINIONS

In our cpinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Town as of December 31, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund and Solid Waste/Recycling Fund
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

O Nexia
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PRIOR YEAR SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The 2017 financial statements were audited by Schenck SC, whose practice became part of CliftontarsonAllen LLP as of
January 1, 2019, and whose report dated April 10, 2018, expressed unmodifled opinions on those respective financial
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remalning
Fund information from which the prior year summarized financial information was derived.

OTHER MATTERS

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedules relating to
pensions on page 37 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not part
of the basic financial statements, Is required by the Governmentsl Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information
In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information snd comparing the information For consistency with
management's responses to our Inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements, We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance,

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysls that accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such rmissing
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essentlal part of Financial reporting For placing the basic financlal
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historicat context. Our oplnions on the basic financial
statements are not affectad by this missing information.

Qther information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial ststements that coltectively comprise the
Town’s basic financial statements. The financial information listed in the table of contents as supplementary
information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to.the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financlal statements, Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, Including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financlal statements themselves, and other
additicnal procedures in accordance with accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our epinion, the supplementary information is Fairly stated in all material respects In relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole,



Schenck SC previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the Town of Clayton, Wisconsin's basic financial statements For the year ended December 31, 2017, which are
not presented with the accompanying financial statements and expressed unmodified opinions on the respective
Financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the agaregate
remaining fund information. That audit was conducted For the purpose of Forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the Town of Clayton, Wisconsin's basic Financlal statements as a whole. The 2017 actual
amounts in the general fund budgetary comparison information for the year ended December 31, 2017, is presented
For purposes of additional analysis and Is not a required part of the basic financlal statements. Such information Is the
respensibility of management and was derived from and refates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare used to prepare the 2017 basic financlal statements, The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of those basic Financial statemants and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial skatemnents or to the baslc Financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. in our opinion, the 2017 actual
amounts in the general Fund budgetary corpasison is Fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements From with it has been derived.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 3, 2019, on our
consideration of the Town's internat control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisicns of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters, The purpose of that report is solely
to describe the scope of our testing of internal controt over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control over financisl reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed In accordance with Government Auditing Standardsin
considering the Town's Internal control ever financial reporting and compliance,

WM@M P

CliftonlLarsonAtlen LLP
Green Bay, Wisconsia
May 3, 2016
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT DF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2018
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANGIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

Governmental Business-type Totals
Activitles Activities 2018 2017
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 3,835,690 $ - 5 3,835,690 § 5,630,294
Receivables
Taxes and special charges 5,821,359 - 5,821,359 4,477,341
Celinquent taxes 1,542 - 1,542 965
Accounts 1,548 - 1,548 29,663
Special assessments 298,728 - 298,728 343,524
Other 7,724 - 7,724 1,119
Internal balances (97,624} 97,624 - -
Prepaid items 2,77 - 2,711 2,100
Restricted assets
Cash and Investiments 40,465 - 40,465 26,921
Net pension asset 65,062 10,804 75,866 -
Capital assets, nondepreclable 6,547,255 143,743 6,690,998 6,967,424
Capital assets, depreciable, net 8,880,553 1,438,281 10,318,834 10,148,095
Total assets 25,405,073 1,690,452 27,005 525 27,627,446
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 126,295 20,028 146,323 142,278
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 118,199 5777 123,976 133,137
Accrued and other current fiabilities 55,847 - 55,847 49,462
Due to other governments 7,515,049 . 7,515,049 7,332,045
Accrued interest payable 153,772 - 153,772 101,351
Special deposits - - - 24,664
Long-term obligations
Due wikhin one year 506,803 - 506,803 897,375
Due In more than ope vear 8,863,819 - 8,863,819 9,375,481
Net pension llability - - - 17,368
Total liabiifties 17,213,488 5777 17,219,268 17,930,882
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOQURCES
Property taxes levied for subsequent year 1,460,651 - 1,460,651 1,430,006
Special charges 309,000 228367 537,367 542,433
Pension related amounts 133,686 22,199 155,885 59688
Total deferred inflows of resources 1,903,337 250.566 2,153,503 2032127
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 6,139,720 1,582,024 7,721,744 6,908,859
Restricted 404,255 10,804 415,059 348,364
Unrestricted (129,433) (138.691) (268,124) 549,492
Total net position 3 pA14.542 & 1454137 5 __ 7868679, .5 _ 7.806.715.

The notes to the busic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,



Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEGEMBER 31, 2017

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Grants
: Charges for Grants and and
Functions/Programs Expenses services contributions contributions
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General government $ 620,058 & 76,700 $ - 3
Public safety 336,310 85,832 22,473 -
Public works 1,045,002 380,902 184,602 74,044
Health and human services 11,726 6,685 - .
Culture and recraation 14,456 5,202 - -
Conservation and development 95,372 - - .
Interest and fiscal charges 292 898 - -
Total governmental activities 2,415 832 555321 207,075 74,044
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Stormwater management utility 212,919 229,247 - -
Total business-type activitles 212,819 229,247 - -
Total 4 2,628 751 4 784,568 $ 207.075 s 74,044

General revenues
Taxes
Property taxes
Other taxes

Federal and state grants and other contributlons
not restricted to specific Functions

Interest and investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Gain on sale of asset

Total general revenues

Change in net position

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Net {Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type Totals
Activities Actlvities 2018 2007
] (543,368) & - 5 (543,368) % (523,496)
{228,005) - (228,005) (163,043)
{405,454) . (405,454) (127,019)
{5,041) - {5,041) (5,698)
{9,254) - {9,254) (18,204)
(95,372) - (95,372) (45,946)
(292,858) - {292,858) {258,931
{1,579,392) - {1,579,382) {1,142,337)
- 16,328 16,328 {3,549)
- 16,328 16,328 {3,549)
(1,579,382) 16,328 {1.563,064) (1,145 886)
1,442,399 1,442,339 1,358,098
1,021 1,021 112
40,387 . 40,387 40,732
10,196 - 10,196 6,106
48,808 - 48,808 57,121
82217 - 82,217 -
1,625,028 . 1,625,028 1,462,169
45,636 16,328 61,964 316,283
6,368,006 1,437,809 7,806,715 7,490,432
8o 0414542 5 1454137 S TB6B679 4 7806715




Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET
BOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Recelvables
Taxes and speclal charges
Delinquent taxes
Accounts
Spedial assessments
Due from other funds
Advance to other funds
Prepald items

Total assebs

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Spectal deposits

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Preperty taxes tevied for subsequent
year
Spedal charges assessed
Special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total labilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and fund balances

Other
Solid Waste/ Debt Governmental

General Recycling service Funds
§ 3,702,080 § 133,610 3% -5 .
20,377 - - 20,088
5,023,121 - 798,238 -
1,542 - - -
7,724 . - 1,548
29,951 - 268,777 -
151,627 308,800 - -
130,743 - - -
2,77 - - -
-5 5069936 4 442410 5  1.067.015. & 21,636
$ 93,307 3 24,838 § - § 54
55,847 - - -
837,167 - 136,008 15,518
7,515,048 - . -
8,201,370 24,838 136,008 15,673
662,413 . 798,238 -
- 309,000 - -
29,951 . 268,777 -
692,364 305,000 1,067,015 -
133,514 - - -
20,377 - - 20,088
121,679 108,572 - -
(99,368) - (136,008) (14,125)
176,202 108,572 (136,008) 5963
o 9060636 & 442410 5 1067015 § 21636

The notes te the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Totals

2018 2017
$ 3835690 $ 5622424
40,465 34,791
5,821,359 4,477,341
1,542 865
9,272 3,942
298,728 343,524
460,427 306,800
130,743 98,914
2,771 2,100

210600997 . $ 10890801

5 118199 % 95,085
55,847 49,462
608,794 533,407
7,515,049 7,332,046
- 24,664
8,377,889 8,034,664
1,460,651 1,430,006
309,000 315,826
298,728 343 524

2 058,379 2,089,356
133,514 74,174
40,465 34,791
230,254 224,481

. 24,500
{249,501) 408,835
154,729 766,781

510600997  _$ 10,890,801




Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET

GDVERNMENTAL FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANGIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

. 2018 2017
RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Total fund balances as shown on pravious page 5 154,729 % 766,781
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because;
Capital assets usad in governmental activities are not current financial
resources and therefore are not reparted In the funds. 15,427,808 15,576,855
Other long-term assets are not avallable to pay current period expendituras
and therefore are deferred In the Funds, 298,728 343,524
l.ong-term assets are nokt considered available; therefore, are not reported
in the funds:
Nel pension asset 65,062 -
Some deferred outflows and inflows of resources reflect changes in
long-term liabilities and are not reported in the funds,
Deferred outflows related to pensions 126,295 120,329
Deferred inflows related to pensions {133,686) {(49,867)
l.ong-term liabilities are nok due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the Funds.
Bonds and notes payable (9,170,000 {10,067,375)
Premium on debt {118,088) {139,285)
Compensated absences (82,534) (66,196)
Net pension liability - {14,509
Accrued interest on long-term obligations (153,772 (101,351}
Net position of governmental activities as reported on the Statement
of Net Position {see page 3) 5 6414542 S 6368906

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANGIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMRBER 31, 2017

Other
solid waste/ Dabt Governmental
General Recycling service Funds
REVENUES
Taxes § 907,303 & -5 536,117 § .
Intergovernmental 238,371 10,725 -
Licepses and permits 108,028 - - -
Public charges For services 146,587 327,178 44,796 -
Intergovernmental charges for services 39,961 - - .
Miscellaneous 24,539 645 9715 30,727
Total revenues 1,464,789 338,548 590,628 30,727
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 552,881 - - -
Public safety 283,882 - - 425
Pubtic works 371,538 320,637 - -
Health and human services 11,726 . - -
Cutture and recreation 8,864 . - -
Conservation and development . 34,407 . - 60,965
Debt service
Principal - . 897,375 -
interest and fiscal charges - - 261,674 -
Capital outlay 657,788 225 - -
Total expenditures 1,921,486 320,862 1,159,049 61,350
Excess of ravenues over (under)
expenditures (456,697} 17,686 (568,421) (30,663)
OTHER FINANCING SOQURCES (USES)
Long-term debt issued - - - -
Premium on debt issued - . - -
Proceeds from sale oF capital assets 1,500 . 424543
Transfers in 3,000 - - .
Transfers out - {3,000) - -
Total other financing sources (uses) 4,500 {3,000 424,543 -
Net change in Fund balances (452,197) 14,686 {143,878) (30,683)
Fund balances - January 1 628,399 93 886 7,870 36,626
Fund balances - December 31 5 176202 . 3% 108,572 & {136.008). & 5963

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integrol park of this statement,

10



Totals
2018 2017

$ 1443420 0§ 1,358,210

249,096 240,395
108,028 112,411
518,561 477,286
39,961 56,706
65,626 70,210
2,424,692 2,315,218
552,881 510,945
284,307 264,649
692,575 698,083
11,725 23,076
8,864 9,309
95,372 45,946
897,375 447,261
261,674 215173
658,013 5.368,101
3,462,787 7,582,543
(1,038,095) (5,267,325}
- 4,257,375
. 66,602
426,043 .
3,000 24,713
{3,000} {(24,713)
426,043 4.323.977
(612,052) (943,348)
766,781 1,710,129

3 154 729 4 768,781



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

2018 2017
RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Net change in fund balances as shown on previous page 5 (612,052) $ {943,348)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because;
Governmentat Funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, In
the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Capital assets reported as capital outlay in governmental fund statements 658,013 5,368,101
ltemns reported as capital outlay, but hot capitalized (19,355) (67,861)
Depreciation expense reported in the statement of activities {443,869) {420,624)
Net book value of disposals (343,826) (7,632)
Governmental Funds do not present revenues that are not available to pay
eurrent obligations. in contrast, such revenues are reported in the statermnent
of activities when earned. (44,798) 313,573
Debt Issued provides current financlal resources to governmental Funds, but
issuing debt increases long-term liabllities in the statemnent of net position.
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmentat funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
Long-term debt issued - (4,257,375)
Premium on debt issued - {66,602)
Principal repaid 897,375 447 261
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do nat require the
use of current financfal resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds:
Accrued interest on long-term debt (52,421) (58,295)
Amortization of premiums 21,187 14,537
Compensated absences (16,338) 5,509
Net pension assel/llability 79,571 8,104
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 5,566 (14,745)
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (83,819 (771)
Change in net position of governmental activities as reported in the
statement of activities (see pages 4- 5) S 45636 & 319832

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

REVENUES

Taxes

Intergovernmental

Licenses and permits

Public charges For services

Intergovernmental charges
for services

Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES

current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and human services
Culture and recreation
Conservalion and development

Capital outlay

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues under
axpanditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capltal assets
Transfers In
Transfers oul
Total cther financing sources (uses)

Met change in fund balance

Fund balance - January 1

Fund balance - December 31

variance
Final Budaet -

Budget Positive 2017
Qrlginal Final Actual (Negative) Actual
5 908,140 5 908140 § 907,303 % (837) &5 873,165
227,093 227,093 238,371 11,278 223,472
143,700 143,700 108,028 (35,672 112,411
7,500 7,500 146,587 139,087 164,134
8,000 8,000 39,961 31,961 56,706
7,250 7,250 24,539 17,289 22,277
1,301,683 1,301,683 1,464,789 163,106 1,452,165
523,238 523,238 552,881 (29,643 510,945
303,511 303,514 283,882 19,629 261,803
328,224 338,424 371,938 {33,514) 364,344
7,295 15,296 11,726 3,570 23,076
5,100 5,100 8,864 (3,764) 9,308
7,000 11,129 24,407 {23,278) 34,432
209,900 366,726 657,788 (291,062) 292,298
1,384,268 1,563 424 1,921,486 (358,062) 1,496,207
(82,585) (261,741) (456,697) {194,956) (44,042)

- 1,500 1,500 -

. 3,000 3,000 .

- - - (8,849)

- - 4,500 4,500 (8,849)

(82,585) {261,741) (452,197) {(150,458) {(52,691)
§28,359 528399 628,399 - 681,290
5845814 5 366658 _$ 176202 & (190456) _§ 628,399

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ~ SOLIO WASTE/RECYCLING FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DEGEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2017
Original Final Actual {Negative) Actual

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 5 14000 & 14000 $ 10725 & {3,275) % 16,287

Public charges for services 322,400 322,400 327,178 4,778 313,152

Miscellaneous - - 645 645 819

Total revenues 336,400 336,400 338,548 2,148 330,258
EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works 336,400 336,400 320,637 15,763 333,739

Capltal outlay - - 225 {225) 8,150

Total expenditures 336,400 336,400 320,862 15,538 341,889
Excess of revenues over {under)

expenditures - - 17,686 17,686 (11,631}
OTHER FINANCING USES

Trensfers out - - (3,600 {3,000 -
Net change in fund balance - . 14,686 14,686 {11,631)
Fund balance - January 1 93,886 93,886 93,885 - 105,517
Fund balance - December 31 222,886 5 93886 5 108572 & 14686 _$ 93886

The notes to the basic financial statements are an Integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS AS OF DEGEMBER 31, 2017

Stormwater
Management Utility
2018 2017
ASSETS
Due from other Funds ] 228,367 & 226,607
Due from other governments - 26,840
Total current assets 228,367 253,447
Other assets
Net pension asset 10,804 -
Capital assets
Nondepreciable 143,743 136,435
Depreciable, net 1,438 281 1,402,229
Total capital assets 1,582,024 1,538,664
Total assets 1,821,195 1,792,111
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESQURCES
Pension related amounts 20,028 21,949
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 5777 38,052
Advance from other funds 130,743 98,914
Total current labllities 136,520 136,966
Long-term obllgations
Nat pension liability - 2 857
Total liabilities 136,520 139,823
DEFERRED INFLOWS QF RESOURCES
Spedial charges on subsequent year tax rolt 228,367 226,607
Pension related amounts 22,199 5821
Total deferred inflows ot resources 250,566 236,428
NET POSITION
Netinvestment in capital assets 1,582,024 1,538,664
Restricted 10,804 -
Unrestrictec (138,691) (100,855)
1 otal net pos:tion g 1,454,137 § 1,437 809

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance
Depreclaticn
Total operating expenses

Operating income {loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Monoperating grants

Income (loss) before contributions
Capital contributions

Change In net position

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

16

Stormwater
Management Utility
2018 2017
3 229247 § 169,365
158,554 168,733
54,365 53124
212,919 221,857
16,328 (52,492)
- 26,840
16,328 (25,652)
- 22,103
16,328 {3,549)
1437,809 1,441,358
137 8 _ 1437809




Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash paid for employee wages and benefits
Cash paid to suppliers
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPRITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Intergovernmental revenues
Advance from other funds
Net cash provided by nencapital
financlng activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets
Capital contributions
Net cash Flows used by capital
and related financing activities

Change in cash and investmeants
Cash and investments - January 1
Cash and investments - December 31

RECONCILIATION OF QPERATING INCOME
(LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIV]T[ES
Opearating income (loss)
Ad]ustments to reconcile operating
income (loss) to net cash provided
by operating activities
Depreciation
Change in liability {asset) and deferred
outflows and inflows of resources
Penslon
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts payable

Net cash provided by operating activities

Noncash capital and related financing activities
None

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Stormwater
Management Utility
2018 2017
$ 229,247  § 169,365
(86,696) {68,151}
(72,111 {93,316}
70,440 7,898
26,840 -
31,829 36,192
58669 36,192
(129,109) {(66,193)
- 22,303
(129,109 (44,030)
8 -5
& 16,328 % (52,492)
54,365 53,124
638 6,811
{891) 455
5 70440 & 7.898




Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the "Town”), have been prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to
government units, The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant accounting principlas and
policles utitized by the Town are described below:

A, REPORTING ENTITY

The Towni [s a municlpal corporation governed by an elected five member board. In accordance with GAAP, the basic
financial statements are required to include the Town (the primary government) and any separate component units
that have e significant operational or financial relationship with the Town. The Town has identified the following
component unit that is required to be included In the basic financia! skatements in accordance with standards
established in CASB Statement No. 61,

I 1972, the Town Board formed the Town of Clayton Sanitary District No. 1 to provide water and sewer services to a
portion of the Town. Subsequently in 2014, the Town Board amended the boundaries of the sanitary district and
appointed the Town Board as the governing body of the sanltary diskrict. At this time, construction of water and sewer
infrastructure has not been completed and ne customers are being provided water and sewer services. The sanitary
district had no activity for the year ended December 31, 2018, All legat, planning and engineering costs of the sanitary
district and future water and sewer infrastructure incurred to-date have been financed directly by the Town's General
Fund and Capital Projects Fund.

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financal statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduclary activities of the Town. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been
removed From these statements. Governmental activities, which are primarily supported by taxes and intergavernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a signiFicant extent on fees and charges for
services,

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of & given function are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific Function or segment. Program
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given Function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operaticnal or capital requirements of a particular Function. Taxes and other items not properly included among
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financlal statements are provided for governmental Funds and proprietary Funds, Governmental funds include
general, special revenue, debt service and capital projects funds. Proprietary Funds Include enterprise funds. The Town
has no internal service Funds. Major individual governmental Funds and the major individual enterprise fund are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The Town reports the Following major governmental funds:

General Fund
This Is the Town's primary operating Fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, except
those accounted for in another fund,
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Town of Clayton
Winnebhago County, Wisconsin

NOTES 70 BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

Solid Waste/Recycling Fund
This fund is used to account for financiat resources to be used for the collection and disposal of refuse and recyclable
items. Significant revenues are charges for services.

Debt Service Fund
This fund is used to account for the resources accumulated and payments made For principal and interest on long-term
general obligation debt of governmental Funds,

The Town reports the following major enterprise fund:

Stormwater Management Utiity Fund
This fund accaunts For the Town's stormwater utllity.

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The government-wide financiel statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
acerual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements, Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liabiltity is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are
recognized as revenues in the year For which they are levied, Grants and simitar items are recognized as revenues as
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmentat fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting, Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.
Revenues are considered to be avarlable when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to pay liabilities of the current perfod. For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be avallable If they are
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is
incurred, as under accrual accounting, However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include intergovernmental grants, intergovernmental charges for services, public
charges For services and interest. Other revenues such as licenses and permits, fines and forfeits and miscellanecus
revenues are recognized when received In cash or when measurable and avaitable,

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
Excentions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and various other Functions of the Town. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various Functions concerned.

Amounts reported as progrem revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges
provided, and fees and fines, 2} operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues
include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary
fund's principal ongoing operations, The principal operating revenues of the Town's proprietary funds are charges to
customers for services, Operating expenses for proprietary Funds include the costs of services, administrative expenses,
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses. '

When hoth restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Town's policy to use restricted resources
first, then unrestricted resources, as khey are needed.
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D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION OR FUND BALANCE

1,

5

Cash and Investments

Cash and investments are combined In the financial statements. Cash deposits consist of demand and time depasits
with financial institutions and are carried at cost, Investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is the price that
would be recelved to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, all cash deposits and highly liquid investments (including restricted
assets) with a maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition are considered to be cash equivalents.

Praperty Taxes and Special Charges/Receivable

Property taxes and special charges consist of taxes on real estate and personal property and user charges assessed
against Town properties. They are levied during December of the prior year and become an enforceable lien on
property the following January 1. Property taxes are payable in various options depending on the type and amount.
Personal property taxes and special charges are payable on or before January 31 in Full. Real estate taxes are
payable In full by January 31 orin two equal installments on or before January 31 and July 31. Real estate taxes not
paid by January 31 are purchased by the County as part of the February Lax settlement, Delinquent personal
property taxes remain the collection responsibility of the Town. Special charges not paid by January 31 are held in
trust by the County and remitted to the Town, including interest, when collected by the County.

In addition to its levy, the Town bills, levies and collects taxes For the School Districts of Neenah and wWinneconne,
Fox Valley Technical College, Larson Winchester Sanitary District and the County of Winnebago.

Accounts Recelvable

Accounts receivable are recorded at gross amounts with uncollectible amounts recognized under the direct write-
off method. No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been provided since it is believed that the amount of such
allowance would not be material to the basic financial statements.

Special Assessmants

Assessments agalnst property owners for public improvements are generally not subject to Full settlement in the
year levied. Special assessments are placed on tax rolis on an installment basis. Revenue from special assessments
recorded in governmental funds is recognized as collections are made or as current installments are placed on tax
rolls. (installments placed on the 2018 tax roll are recognized as revenue in 2019.) Special sssessments are subject
to collection procedures.

Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual Funds For goods provided or
services rendered. These recelvables and payables are classified as “due From other Funds” and “due to other Funds”
in the Fund Financlal statements,

The amount reported on the statement of net position For internal balances represents the residual batance
outstanding between the governmental and business-type activities,
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6.

7.

Prepaid ltems
Payments made to vendors that will benefit periods beyond the end of the current fiscal year are recorded as
prepald ltems and are accounted for on the consumption method,

Prepald items of governmental funds in the fund financial statements are offset by nonspendable Fund balance to
indicate that they do not represent spendable available financial resources.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which Include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements, Capital assets are
defined by the Town as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or higher and an estimated useful life in
excess of a year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of denation. The cost of
infrastructure assets construcked prior to 2004 have not been determined and are, therefore, not included in the
Financial statements,

The costs of normal maintenance and repalrs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset
lives are not capltalized,

Capltal assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the Fallowing estimated useful lives;

Qovernmental  Business-type

Activitles Activities
Assels Y aars
Buildings 40 40
Land improvements 25 25
Vehicles 4-15 4-15
Machinery and equipment 5-15 5-10
Infrastructure ‘ 2575 40

Compensated Absences
[t is the Town's palicy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick ieave benefits in :
accordance with employee handboaok policies and/or bargaining unit agreements, All vacation and sick leave is

accrued when incurred In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, A liability for these

amounts is reported in the governmental funds In the fund Financial statements only if they have matured, for

example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements,

Defarred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are a consumption of net pasition by the governmant that is appiicable to a Future
reporting period, Deferred inflows of resources are an acquisition of net position by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period. The recognition of those outflows and inflows as expenses or expenditures
and revenues are deferred until the Future perleds to which the outflows and inflows are applicable,

Governmental funds may report deferrad inflows of resources for unavaitable revenues. The Town reports
unavailable revenues for special assessments. These inflows are recognized as revenues in the government-wide
financial statements,

21



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

10. Long-term Obligations

11.

12.

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary funds in the fund financial statements, long-term
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.
Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are
reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received,
are reported as debt service expenditures.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin
Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position have been determined on
the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are
reported at fair value.

Fund Equity

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations
requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The following classifications describe the relative strength of
the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which rescurces can be used:

» Nonspendable Fund balance. Amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory, prepaid items, or
long-term receivables) or are legally or contractually required to remain intact.

> Restricted Fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by external parties (such as
grantor or bondheolders), through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation.

» Committed fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of the Town Board.
These constrainks can only be removed or changed by the Town Board using the same action that was used to
create them.

> Assigned Fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of Town management.
The Town Board has not authorized a specific employee to assign fund balance. Residual amounts in any
governmental Fund, other than the General Fund, are also reported as assigned.

> Unassigned Fund balance. Amounts that are available for any purpaose. Positive unassigned amounts are only
reported in the General Fund.

The Town has adopted a fund balance spend-down policy regarding the order in which fund balance will be utilized.
Where applicable, the policy requires restricted funds to be spent first, followed by committed funds, and then
assigned funds. Unassigned funds would be spent last.
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Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

» Netinvestment in capital assets. Amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and capitat
related deferred outflows of resources less outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or Improvement of those assets and any
capital related deferred inflows of resources.

> Restricted net position. Amount of net position that is subject to restrictions that are imposed by 1) external
groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or 2) law th rough
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

»  Unrestricted net position. Net position that is neither classified as restricted nor as net investment in capital
assels.

E. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements In conformity with accounting principles generally accepted In the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financiat statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ From those estimataes.

F, PRIOR YEAR INFORMATION

Comparative amounts for the prior year have been presented in the basic financial statements to provide an
understanding of changes in the Town's financial position and operations. The comparative amounts may be
summarized In total and not at the level of detail required for a presentation In conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the government's Financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, from which the summarized information was derived.

G, RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the presentation in the
current year Financial statements with no change in previously reported net position, changes in net position, fund
halance or changes in fund balance,

NOTE 2: STEWARDSHIP AND COMPLIANCE

A. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING
The Town Follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial statements:

1. During November, the Town Board and officials prepare & proposed operating budget for the calendar year
commencing the Following January 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of
financing them. After submission to the governing body, public hearings are held to obtain taxpayer comnments.
Following the public hearings, the proposed budget, including authorized additions and deletions, is legally
enacted by Town Board action.

2, Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America for all governmental funds. Budget is defined as the originally approved budget plus or minus approved
amendments. Individual amendments throughout the year were not material in relation to the original budget.
Budget appropriations not expended during the year are closed to fund balance unless authorized by the
governing body to be forwarded Into the succeeding year's budget.
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3. During the year, formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device for the governmental
Funds,

4, Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the functional expenditure level of the Town, Amendments to the
budget during the year require initial approval by management and are subsequently authorized by the Town
Board.

5. Encumbrance accounting is not used by the Town to record commitments ralated to unperformed contracts for
goods or services,

The Town did not have any material violation of legal or contractual provisions for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2018,

B. DEFICIT FUND EQUITY
The following Funds had deficit fund balance or net position as of December 31, 2018

Deficit Fund
Funds Balance
Debt service § 136008
Rental 14,125

The Town anticipates funding the above deficits From the sale of capital assets in 2019.

C. PROPERTY TAX LEVY LIMIT

Wisconsin state statutes provide for a limit on the property tax levies for all Wisconsin cities, villages, towns and
counties. For the 2018 and 2019 budget years, Wisconsin Statutes limit the increase in the maximum atlowable tax levy
to the change in the Town's January 1 equalized value as a result of net new construction, The actual limit for the Town
for the 2018 budget was 0.96%. The actual {imit For the Town For the 2019 budget was 1.54%. Debt service for debt:
authorlzed after July 1, 2005 Is exermnpt fram the levy limit. In additien, Wisconsin statutes allow the limlt to be adjusted
For the increase in debt service authorlzed prior to July 1, 2005 and in certain other situations.

NOTE 3: DETAILED NOTES ON ALLFUNDS

A, CASH AND INVESTMENTS
The Town maintains various cash and investment accounts, including pooled Funds that are avaiiable For use by all
funds. Each fund's portion of these accounts is displayed on the financial statements as "Cash and investments”.

Invested cash consists of deposits and Investments that are restricted by Wisconsin Statutes ko the Following:

Time deposits; repurchase agreements; securities issued by federal, state and local governmental entitles;
statutorily authorized commercial paper and corporate securities; and the Wisconsin lacal government
investment pool.

The carrying amount of the Town's cash and investments totaled 3,876,155 on December 31, 2018 as summarized
below;

Petty cash and cash on hand $ 425
Deposits with financial institutions 3,875,730
& 3,876,155

s
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Reconciliation to the basic Financial statements:

Government-w ide Statement of Net Position

Cash and investments $ 3,835,690
Restricted cash and investments 40,465
"5 3,876,155

Fair Value Measurements

The Town categorizes its fair value measurements within the Fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles, The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the falr value of the asset. Level 1
inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant observable inputs: L.evel 3
inputs are significant unobservable inputs, The Town currently has no investments that are subject to fair value
measurement.

Deposits and investments of the Town are subject to varlous risks, Presented below is a discussion of the Town's
deposits and investments and the related risks.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for depositsis the risk that, in the event of the Failure of a depository financial Institution, a
government will not be able to recover its deposits or wilt not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk For investmentsis the risk that, In the event of the fallure of the
counterparty {e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government witl not be able to recover the value of its investment
or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. Wisconsin statutes require repurchase agreements to
be Fully collateralized by bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government or its instrumentalities.
The Town does not have an additional custodial credit policy.

Deposits with financial institutions within the State of Wisconsin are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation {FDIC) in the amount of $250,000 For the combined amount of all time and savings deposits and $250,000
for interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing demand deposits per official custodian per insured depository institution.
Deposits with financial institutions located outside the State of Wisconsin are Insured by the FDIC in the amount of
$250,000 For the combined amount of all deposit accounts per official custodian per depository institution. Deposits
with credit uniens are insured by the National Credit Union Share nsurance Fund (NCUSIF) in the amount of $250,000
per credit union member, Also, the State of Wisconsin has a State Guarantee Fund which provides a maximum of
$400,000 per public depository above the amount provided by an agency of the U.S, Government, However, due to the
relatively small size of the State Guarantee Fund in relation to the Fund's total coverage, total recovery of Insured
losses may not be available, This coverage has been considered in determining custodial credit risk.

As of December 31, 2018, none of the Town's deposits with financial institutions were in excess of Federal and skate
depaository insurance limits,
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B. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Restricted assets on December 31, 2018 totaled $40,465 and consisted of cash and investments held for the Following
purposes:

Funds Amount Purpose
Governmental Activities
Park impact fees § 4,434  Toaccount For impact fees collected and held by the
Tow n to finance park improvements,
Fire impact fees 15,943 To account For impact Fees collected and held by the
Town to finance fire department improvements.
Capital improvemeants 13,485  To account For Funds set aside to be used for the purchase

of capital assets
6,903  Donations to the fire department to be used For the
T purchase of fire department equipment.
40,465

Fire donations

T otal 5

C. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity For the year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Governmental activities:
Capltal assets, nondepreciable:
Land 5 6,520,455 & - 8§ 206138  § 6,314,317
Construction in progress 310,534 399,691 477,287 232,938
Total capital assets, nondepreciable 6,830,989 389 a9 683,425 6,547,255
Capital assebs, depreciable:
Land improverments 294,211 - - 294,211
Buildings and imgrovements 1,854,600 - 145,573 1,709,027
Machinery and equipment 1,510,536 296,543 - 1,807,079
Infrastructure 7,780,842 419,701 . 8,200,543
Subtatals 11,440,189 716,244 145,573 12,010,850
Less accumulated depreciation 2,694,323 443,869 7,885 3,130,307
Total capital assets, depraciable, net 8,745,866 272,375 137,688 8,880,553
Covernmental activities capital assets, net: 518,576,855 S 672066 $ 821,113 15,427,808
Less; Capltal related debt 9,170,000
Less: Debt premium 118,088
Net investment in capltal assets 5 6,139,720
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Beginning Ending
Balance increases Decreases Balance
Business-type activities:
Capital assets, nondepreciable:
Land s 81 $ - 5 - 5 81
Censtruction In progress 135,454 59,725 52,417 142,762
Total capital assets, nondepreciable 136,435 £9,725 52,417 143,743
Capltal assats, depraciable:
Machinery and equipment 85,500 38,000 123,500
Infrastructure 1,482,357 52,417 1,534,774
Subtotals 1,567,857 90,417 - 1,658,274
Less accumulated depreciation 165,628 54,365 219,993
Tctal capital assets, depreciable, net 1,402,229 36,052 - 1,438,281
Business-type activities capltal assets, net, 5 1,538664 5 95777 0§ R2.417  $ 1582024
Depraciation expense was charged to Functions of the Town as follows:
Governmental activities
Gengral government 4 46,043
Public safety 45,082
Public w orks 346,152
Culture and recreation ) 5,592
T otal deprecistion expanse - governmental activities § 443860

Business-lype activities
Stormw aler management utility s
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D. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS
Interfund receivables and payables between individual funds of the Town, as reported in the Fund financial statements,
as of December 31, 2018 are detailed below:

Interfund Interfund
Receivables Payables
Temperary cash advances to Finance
operating cash deficits
Governmental Funds
General 5 151,627 & -
Debt service - 136,008
Rental - 15,619
Subtetal 151,627 151,627
Special charges placed on tax roll
Governmental Funds
General Fund - 537,167
Solld Waste/Recycling 308,800 .
Proprigtary Fund
Stormw ater management ukility 228,367 .
Subtotal 537,167 537,187

Long-term cash advances to finance
operating cash deficits
Governmental Fund
General 130,743 -
Proprietary Fund

Stormw ater management utility - 130,743
Subtotal 130,743 130,743
T otals § 819537 § 819,537

The Town Board plans to approve a repayment plan for the advance from the general fund to the stormwater fund in
2019.

Interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as Follows:

Transfer Transfer
Fund In Out
General 5 3000 5% -
Solid Waste/Recycling - 3,000
Total S 3,000 5 3,600

Interfund transfers were made for capital purchases made by the general fund.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
The Following is a summary of changes in long-term obligaticns of the Town for the year ended December 31,2018

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance lssued Retired Balance One Year
Governmental activities:
General obligation debt
Notes 510,067,375 5 - § BY7,375 5 9170000 § 506,803
. Debt premium 138,285 . 21,197 118,088 -
Compensated absences 66,196 16,338 - 82,534 -

Gevernmental activities
l.ong- term obligations $10,272,856 & 16,338 % 918,572  § 9,370,622 % 506,303

Total interest paid during the year on long-term debt totaled $261,674.

General Obligation Debt
General obligation debt currently cutstanding is detailed as Follows:

Date of Final Interest Original Balance

lssue Matariky Rates Indebtedness 12/31/18
General obligation notes 1 372¢ . h- 2.80% 200, )
General obligation notes 5/8/14 3724 2.00%- 260% 2,300,600 1,450,000
General obligation taxable notes 12/18/16  9M1/22 3.35% 3,500,000 3,500,000
State trusk Fund tean 6/26/17  3/15/27 3.50% 1,100,000 1,100,000
State trust Fund [oan 10423047 3/15/27 3.50% 600,000 600,000
Generat obligation taxable notes 12/6/17 3NS27 300%- 3.25% 2,000000 2,000,000
Total outstanding general obligation debt ‘

Annual principal and interest maturities of the outstanding general obligation debt of $8,170,000 on December 31,
2018 are detaited below:

Year Ended Governmental Activities
December 31, Principal interest Totals

2019 5 5068037 5 291,43% S5 798,238
2020 535,370 268,525 803,895
2021 546,481 253,098 799,579
2022 4,062,657 238,418 4,301,075
2023 644,051 104,947 748,998

2024-2027 2,874,638 203,452 3,078,090

"3 5,170,000 "% 71,359,875 810,529,875

For governmental activities, the other tong-term liabilities are generally funded by the general Fund.
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Legal Margin for New Debt
The Town's legal margin for creation of additional general obligation debt on December 31, 2018 was $17,526,165 as
Follows:

gqualized valuation of the Town § 533,923,300
Statutory limitation percentage (%) 5%
General obligatlon debt limitatlon, per Section &7.03 of the -
W isconsin Statutes 26,696,165
Cutstanding general chligation debt applicable to debt Limitation 9,170,000
Legal margin for new debt € 17,526,168

General Obligation Debt Limit Policy

The Town adopted a comprehensive debt management policy on June 4, 2014. The policy imposed a more restrictive
direct. debt burden limitation on the Town. The Town's policy states that the total principal amount cutstanding of any
debt obligation carrying the general obligation pledge of the Town may not exceed an amount equal to 20% of the
Town's debt capacity as determined by tha Wisconsin Departmeant of Revenue. The Town's debt limit policy is
calculated as follows:

Genergl obligation debt limltation, per Section 67.03

of the Wisconsin Statutes $ 26,696,165
Tow n's debt limit % (x) 20%
Tow n's debt limlt amount 5 5,339,233

The Town's genersl obligation debt outstanding at December 31, 2018 is $9,170,000, which exceeds the Town's debl
limit policy amount,

F. PENSION PLAN
1, Plan Description

The WRS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and other plan provisions
are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benafit terms may only be modified by the legislature.
The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin Department of Employee Trust Fuads (ETF), The system
provides coverage to all eligible State of Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees,
Initially employed by a participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200
hours a year (880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be
empioyed for at least one year from employee's date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS.

ETF Issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found at
http://etfwlgov/publications/cafr.him.

For employees beginning participation en or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively employed on or after
Aprli 24, 1998, creditable service In each of five years is required for eligibility For a retirement annuity. Participants
ernployed prior Lo 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior Lo July 1, 2011, are immeadiately vested.
Partlcipants who initially becamne WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011, must have Five years of creditable service to
ba vested,
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2,

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62 for elected officials and
executive service retirement plan participants, iF hired on or before December 31, 2016 are entitled ko a retirement
benefit based on a formula Factor, their final average earnings, and creditable service,

Final average earnings s the average of the participant’s three highest earnings periods. Creditable service includes
current service and prior service for which a participant received earnings and made contributions as required.
Creditable service also Includes creditable military service. The retirement benefit will be calculated as a money
purchase beneflt based on the employee's contributions plus matching employer's contributions, with interest, if
that benefit is higher than the formula benefit.

Vested participants may retire at or after age 55 (50 for protective cccupations) and recelve an actuarially-reduced
benefit. Participants terminating covered employment prior to eligibility For an annuity may either receive
employee-required contributions plus interest as a separation benefit or leave contributions on deposit and defer
application until eligible to receive a retirernent benefit.

WRS alse provides death and disability benefits for employees.

Post-Retirement Adjustments

The Employee Trust Funds Board may pericdicatly acjust annuity payments from the retirement system based on
annual investment performance in accordance with s, 40.27, Wis, Stat, An increase (or decrease) in annuity
payments rmay result when investment gains (losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a
surplus (shortfall) In the reserves, as determined by the system's consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not
based on cost of living or other similar Factoss. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously
granted increases. By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the orlginal, guaranteed amount
{the "floor") set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as
Follows;

Year Core Fund Adjustment Varlable Fund Adjustment
2007 3% 10%
2008 6.6 0
2009 {2.1) (42}
2010 {1.3) 22
201 {1.2) H
2012 {7.0) {7
2013 (9.6) 9
2014 4.7 25
2015 2.9 3
2016 0.5 ()
2017 20 4

Contributions

Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valustion in accordance with Chapter 40 of the
Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially determined contribution rate
for general category employees, including teachers, and executives and elected officials, Starting on January 1,
2016, the executives and elected officials categery was merged into the general emplayee category. Required
contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general employees, Employers are reguired to
contribute the remained of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee
required contribution unless previded For by an existing collective bargaining agreement.
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During the year ending December 31, 2018, the WRS recognized $34,067 In contributions from the Town,

Contribution rates For the reporting period are:

Employee Category Employae Employar
General {including teachers, executives and elected officials) 6.8% 6.8%
Protective with Social Security 6.8% 10.6%
Protective without Soclal Security 6.8% 14.9%

Penslon Liabilities, Pensicn Expense, and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred InFlows of Resources
Related to Pensions

At December 31, 2018, the Town reported an asset of $75,866 For Its proportionate share of the net pension asset.
The net penslon asset was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension lability used to calculate the
net pension (iability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2016 rolled forward to

December 31,2017, No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation
date and the measurement date. The Town's proportion of the net pension asset was based on the Town's share of
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31,
2017, the Town’s proportion was 0,00255519%, which was an Increase of 0,00044825% from its proportion
measured as of December 31, 2016.

For the year ended Gecember 31, 2018, the Town recognized pension expense of $31,477.

At December 31, 2018, the Tewn reported deferred outFlows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related ko pensions from the follewing sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflow s
of Resources of Resources
Differences betw een expectad and actual experience 5 96,390 § 45,088
Net differences between projected and actual ‘
earnings on pension plan investments

- 104,272
Changes in assumptions 14,589 -

Changes in proportion and differences betw een
employer contributions and proportionate share

of contributicns 877 ' 6,525
Employer contsibubions subsequent to the

measurement date 34,067 _ -
Total S 146,323 3 155,885
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5.

$34,067 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the Town's contributions subsequent to
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension asset in the year ended December 31,
2019, Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pension will be recognized in pension expense as Follows:

Year ended

December 31, Expense
2019 5 6,778
2020 {2,486)
2021 (27,668)
2022 (20,430}
2023 177
Total 3 (43,629)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017, actuarial valuation was determined using the Following
actuarizl assumptions, applied Lo all periods Included in the measurement;

Actuarlal valuation date: December 31, 2016
Measurement date of nel pension liabillty (asset): December 31, 2017
Actuarial cost method: Entry Age
Assel valuation method: Falr Market Value
Long-term expected rate of return: 7.2%
Discount rate: 7.2%
Salary increases:
inflation 3.2%
Senlority/Merlt 0.2%~ 5.6%
Mortality Wisconsin 2012 Mortality T able
Post-retirement adjustments* 21%

*  No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Aclual adjustments are based on recognized investment return,
actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adfustment based on the investment return
assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2015 using experlence from 2012 - 2014,
The total pension liability for December 31, 2017 is based upon a roll-forward of the llability calculated from the
December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation.

Long-term Expected Return on Plan Assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments
was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected Future real rates of
return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and Inflation) are developed for each major
asset class, These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
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6.

Long-term Long-term
current Asset Expected Nominal Expected Real
Alocation % Rate of Return % Rate of Return %
Core Fund Asset Class
Clobal equities 50% 8.2% 5.3%
Fixed income 24.5% 4.2% 1.4%
Inflation sensltive assets 15.5% 3.8% 1.0%
Real estate 8% 6.5% 3.6%
Private equity/debt 8% 9.4% 6.5%
Multi-asset 4% 6.5% 3.5%
Total Core Fund 110% 7.3% AA4%
Variable Fund Asset Class
U5, equities 70% 7.5% 4.5%
Inkernational equities 30% 7.8% 49%
Total Variable Fund 100% 7.9% 50%

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%

Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ Ffrom
actual monthly allocations

Single Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single
discount rate was based on the expecled rate of return on penslon plan investments of 7.20% and a long-term
bond rate of 3.31%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of return implies that a
dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single discount rate, it was assumed that
the dividend would always be pald. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate
assurmed that plan members contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer
contributions will be made at: rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined conlribution rates and
the member rate. Based on these assumplions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
avallable to make afl projected Future benefit payments (Including expected dividends) of current plan members.
Therefaore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension Uability.

Sensitlvity of the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount
rate, The following presents the Town's proportionate share of the net pension Hability ssset caleulated using the
discount rate of 7.2 percent, as well as what the Town's propeortionate share of the net pension liability {asset)
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower {6.20 percent) or T-percentage-
polnt higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate:

1% Deacrease to Current 1% Increase to
Discount Rate Discount Rate Dlscount Rate
(6.20%) {7.20%) (8.20%)
Town's propertionate share of
the net pension liability (aszet) 5 196,292 § (75,866) S  (2B2,716)

Pensfon plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
avallable In separately Issued financial statements avaitable at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.

Payables to the Pension Plan

At December 31, 2018, the Town reported a payable of $9,125 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the
pension plan for the year ended Decernber 31, 2018.

34



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

G, FUND EQUITY

Nonspendable Fund Balance

in the Fund financial statements, portions of the governmental Fund balances are amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either 1) not in spendable form or 2) tegally or contractually required to be maintalned intact, At
December 31, 2018, nonspendable Fund balance was as Follows;

General Fund
Nonspendable

Prepaid lkems $ 2,71
Advance to stormw ater Fund 130,743
T atal General Fund Nopspendable Fund Balance & 133574

Restricted Fund Balance
In the fund financlal staterments, portions of governmental fund balances are not available for appropriation or legally
restricted for use for a specific purpose, At December 31, 2018, restricted fund balance was as follows:

General Fund
Rastricted For

Park improvements 5 4,434
Fire department Improvements 15,943
Total General Fund Restricted Fund Balance L IV Yid

Special Revenue Fund
Restricted for
Fire department expenditures L 6,903

Capital Projects Fund
Restricted For

Capital outlay 13,185
T otal Restricted Fund Balance 4 40,465

Committed Fund Balance
In the fund financlal statements, portions of government fund balances are committed by Town Board action. At
December 31, 2018, General Fund balance was committed as Follows:

General Fund
Committed for

Cematery expenditures $ 26,367
Capital equipment replacernent 59,044
Sick leave and vacation payout 36,268
Total General Fund Comenitted Fund Balance AN

Spedcial Revenue Fund
Committed Far

Solid w aste and recy cling expenditures 108,572
Total Committed Fund Balance $ 230,251
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Minfimum General Fund Balance Polley

The Town Board has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy of 16% of actual current year general fund
expenditures, not Including debt service. The minimum Fund balance is maintained For cash Flow and working capital
ourposes. The minirmum fund balance amount {s calculated as foliows:

Actual 2018 General Fund Expenditures $ 1,921,486
Minimum Fund Balance % (%) 16%
Minimum Fund Balance Amount 3 307,438

The Town's unassigned general fund balance of $(99,368) is below the minimum fund balance amount, This is mostly
due Lo capital expenditures for water and sewer Infrastructure, advances to other Funds and the assigning of fund
balance for the subsequent year's budget. The Town sold land on March 1, 2019, which increased its unassigned fund
balance in excess of the minimurm fund balance amount.

Net Position
The Town reports restricted net position at December 31, 2018 as follows:

Governmental Activities
Restricted For

Park improvements S 4,434
Fire department expenditures 15,943
Capltal expenditures 13,185
Fire donations 6,803
Special assessments 298,728
Net pension asset 65,062
Total Governmental Activities Restricted Net Position 404,755

Business-type Activities
Restricted for
Net pension asset o 10,804

Total Restricted Net Position S 415059
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NOTE 4: OTHER INFORMATION

A, RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town Is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets: errors and
omisslons; and naturat disasters for which the government carries commerclal insurance. The Town cornpletes an
annual review of Its Insurance coverage Lo ensure adequate coverage.

B. CONTINGENCIES
The Town and the Village of Fox Crossing are currently involved in the Following three legal proceedings.

1.

The Town has brought a lawsuit against the Village of Fox Crossing challenging the annexation of a portion of land
located in the Town's Sanitary District. The Town alleges that Fox Crossing did not have the autherity to divide a
parcel of land owned by the Town to accomplish the annexation. Fox Crossing requested a summary Judgement
which was denied on March 28, 2019. A hearing on the motion is currently scheduled For June 6, 2019,

in 2017, the Town of Clayton Sanitary District No. 1 submitted an application to the Wisconsin Department of
Natural Resources (DNR) to construct a wastewater coliection system and short-term storage system. The plang
and specifications were subsequently revised and were approved by the DNR on February 11, 2019,

On March 8, 2019, the Village of Fox Crossing filed a petition for a judicial review of the DNR's decision of February
11, 2019. Fox Crossing also filed a raquest: for a contested case hearing on the DNR's approval. On March 20, 2019,
the DNR granted Fox Crossing's request For a contested case hearing. The Town of Clayton Sanitary District No. 1's
response to these actions by Fox Crossing has not et been determined,

The Town of Clayton has begun the process of incorporation of a portion of the Town as a Village, In order to
Incorporate, property owners must submit a signed petition to the court stating that they wish to incorporate an
area of a municipality. The petition is then submitted to the Wiscansin Department of Administration For review
and if approved, the petition Is sent back to the court which orders a referendum where the Town citizens vote on
whether or not to incorporate. The Town has subrmlitted a petition for incofporation to the court and a hearing is
scheduled for May $, 2019 to determine if the standards have been met for forwarding the petition to the state for
review.

The Village of Fox Crossing is currently alleging that the petition submitted to the court by the Town does not meet
the standards for Incorporation established by the state statutes. The Village of Fox Cressing has Fited a petition For
a court review of the matter and the Town is contesting the allegations made by the Village.
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C. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

1

The Town Issued a $1,500,000 state trust Fund lean, dated February 1, 2019, to be repald over Four years with
interest at 4.25%. The Town intended Lo use the debt proceeds to finance new water and sewer infrastructure. The
Town determined that the debt proceeds recelved were not required to Fund the proposed public infrastructure
project, and approved Resolution 2019-005 on Aprit 3, 2019 to repay to Full amount due with interest in April, 2019.

. The Town sold 26.5 acres of land on March 1, 2019 for $1,692,090. The land was originally purchased in January,

2016 for $838,190, resulting in a galn of $853,900. The Town plans to use the proceeds to replenish the general and
debt service funds unassigned fund balance and For future projects within the Town's Sanitary District #1.

. On January 16, 2019, the Town approved Resolution 2019-001authorizing the creatlon of Tax Increment Finance

District #1 (TID #1) For the development of Sanitary District #1 In the Town of Clayton. Proceeds from the Town's
Tax Incremental District #1 will be used to Fund and/for refund projects, such as but not limited to, economic
development projects, business incentives projects, municipal sanltary sewer and municipal water projects within the
Dlstrict,

D. UPCOMING ACCOUNTING PRONGCUNCEMENTS

In January 2017, the GASB issued Staterment No. 84, Flduciary Activities. The statement establishes criteria for
identifying fiduclary activities and addresses financial reporting For these activities. This statement is effective For
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. The Town is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on
the flnancial statements when adopted.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY [ASSET)

WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

Proportionate

Share of the Net Plan Fiductary
Proportionate Pension Liability Net Positicn as a
Proportion of Share of the Covered {Asset)asa Percentage of the
Plan the Net Pension Net Pension Payroll Percentage of Total Pension
Year Ending Liahility (Asset) Liability (Asset) {Plan Year) Covered Payroll Liahility (Asset)
12/31/14 0.00170112%  § (41,784) 242,794 17.21% 102.74%
12/31/15 0.00181343% 29,468 288,315 10.22% 98.20%
12/31/16 0.00210654% 17,366 360,414 4.82% 99,12%
12/31/17 0.00255519% (75,866) 420,575 18.04% 102.93%
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
Contributions in
Reiation to the Contributions
contractually Contractually Contribution Cavered as a Percentage of
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Payroll Covered
Year Ending Contributlons Contributions {Excess) (Fiscal year) Payroll
12/31/15 $ 19,605 % 19,605 § -8 288,315 6.80%
12/31/16 24,498 24,498 - 360,414 6.80%
12/31/17 30,763 30,763 - 420,575 7.31%
12/31/18 34,067 34,067 - 451,010 71.55%

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

There were no changes of benefit terms or assumptions For any participating employer in the WRS.

The amounts reported For each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar yesr-end that occusred within the prior Fiscal
year, The Town s required to present the last ten fiscal years of data; however accounting standards allow the presentation

of as many years as are available until ten Fiscal years are prasented.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL REVENUES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED GECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget posltive 2017
Qriginal Final Actual {Negative) Actual
Taxes
General property $  B93890 $ 893830 & BO3YST 4 (133} & 859812
Mobile home fees 14,000 14,000 11,342 (2,658} 12,767
Managed forest fand tax 250 250 1,141 891 268
Interest and taxes - - 42 42 206
Other taxes . - 1,021 1,021 112
Total baxes 908,140 908,140 007,303 (837} 873,165
Intergovernmental
State
State shared taxes 33,728 33,728 33,728 - 33,728
DNR - In liey of taxes 600 600 685 85 685
Transportation 165,000 165,000 177,455 12,455 162,089
Exempt computer aid 4,315 4,315 4,315 - 4,252
Fire Insurance dues 22,000 22,000 21,073 (927) 21,287
QOther 1,450 1,450 1115 (335) 1,431
Total intergovernmental 227,093 227,003 238,371 11,278 223,472
Licenses and permits
Licenses
Liguor and malt beverage 5,000 5,000 4,960 {40) 5,467
Operators, cigarette and
other licenses 4,200 4,200 7,062 2,862 5211
Cable telavision Fees 36,000 36,000 36,665 665 34,292
Dog 2,000 2,000 2,095 95 2,240
Permits
Building 85,000 85,000 44,741 {40,259) 45825
Culvert and other permits 6,000 6,000 5,350 (650) 8,150
Zoning 5,500 5,500 7,155 1,655 7.225
Total licenses and permits 143,700 143,700 108,028 {35672) 112411
Public charges fFor services
General government 3,500 3,500 6,114 2,614 6,978
Cemetery - . 6,435 6,435 10,850
House numbers 1,500 1,500 1,200 (300) 1,800
Fire and first respondears - - 8,546 8,546 19,197
Claytonfest - - 273 273 .
Parks 2,500 2,500 4,929 2,429 6,494
Highway - - 118,840 118,840 118,537
Weed and nuisance control - - 250 250 278
Total public charges for
services 7,500 7,500 146,587 139,087 164,134
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GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL REVENUES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2017
Original Final Actual (Negative) Actual
Intergovernmental charges
for services
General government 8,000 8,000 8,000 . 8,000
Bullding inspection - - 31,9861 31,961 48 706
Total intergovernmental
charges for services 8,000 8,000 39961 31,961 56,706
Miscellansous
Interest on Investments 5,000 5,000 9,536 4,536 6,106
Hall rental . - - - 250
Land rental 750 750 4,033 3,283 4,189
Donatlons - - 2400 2,400 2,848
Other 1,500 1,500 B.570 7,070 8,884
Total miscellaneous 7,250 7,250 24,539 17,289 22,277
Total Revenues 5. 1.301.683 301,683 5 1464789 ) 163,906 8 1.452.165
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Winnebago County, Wisconsin

GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES

FOR THE YEAR ENDNED DECEMBER 31, 2018
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

General Government
Town board
Committees
Elections
Legal
Adminlstrator/clerk

Treasurer/assistant administrator

Deputy clerk

Assessor

General office operation
Financial adrministration
Town hall

Insurance

Contingency

Total general government,

Public Safety
Fire department
First respanders
Bullding Inspection
Total public safety

Public Works
Wages
Operations
Contracted services and other
Sewage services
Total public works

Health and Human Services
Animal and weed contral
Cemelery
Total health and human services

Culture and Recreation
Clayton town park
Trail head park
Friendship trail
Total culture and recreation

Variance
Final Budget -

Budget Positive 2017

Qriginal Final Actual (Negatlve) Actual
33,697  § 33697 & 33204  § 493 % 32,978
4,398 4,398 3,690 708 3,508
9,312 9,312 5,432 3,880 2,728
60,000 60,000 37,888 (37,888) 59,072
113,952 113,952 122,922 (8,970) 122,003
78,3590 78,390 77,074 1,316 72,020
56,047 56,047 54,343 1,704 50,878
21,000 21,000 21,033 (33) 20,807
43,949 43,949 51,263 (7,314) 43,140
12,700 12,700 15,570 (2,870) 15,156
20,850 20,850 22,744 (1,894) 32,792
38,341 38,341 A7,718 (9,377) 37,041
30,602 30,602 - 30,602 18,732
523,238 5237238 552,881 {29,643) 510,945
221,262 221,262 194,307 26,955 162,683
- - - - 12,008
82,249 82,249 B9,575 {7,326) 87,112
303,511 303,511 283,882 19,629 261,803
138,325 138,325 149,585 (11,260) 93,882
20,500 20,500 18,395 2,105 12,624
169,399 179,599 178,958 641 257,838
. - 25,000 (25,000) .
328,224 338,424 371,938 (33,514) 364,344
2,296 2,296 337 1,959 994
4,999 13,000 11,389 1,611 22,082
7,295 15296 11,726 3,570 23076
2,600 2,600 3,410 (810) 2,795
2,500 2,500 5,454 (2,954) 1,830
- - - - 4,684
5100 5,100 8864 (3,764) 9 309
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DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMDUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2017
Original FInal Actual {Negative) Actual
Conservation and Development
Planning and zoning 2,871 7,000 31,847 (24,847 34,432
Greenspace committee 4129 4,129 2,580 1,569 -
Total conservation and
developmant 7,000 11,129 34,407 (23,278) 34,432
Capltal Qutlay
General government 32,000 48,271 44,240 4,031 16,523
Public safety 52,900 50,000 44,041 5,959 94,700
Public works 100,000 213,455 362,718 (149,263) 171,278
Water and sewer project - 30,000 205,389 (175,389) -
Parks 25000 25.000 . 1,400 23,600 8797
Total capital outlay 209,900 366724 657,788 (291,062) 292,298
Total Expenditures S 1384268 21263 424 .5 10821486 5  (358.062) _§ 1496207
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR BOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

Special Revenue

Fire Capital
Rental Donations Projects Totals
ASSETS
Restricted cash and investments $ -8 6,903 % 13185 ¢ 20,088
Recelvahles
Accounts 1,548 - - 1,548
Total assets ) 1248 $ 6903 _§ 13185 % 21,636
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
" Liabtiitles
Accounts payable 5 54 3% -5 -4 54
Due to other funds 15,619 - - 15,619
Total ligbilitles 15,873 - - 15673
Fund balances
Restricted - 6,503 13,185 20,088
Unassigned {14,125) - - {14,125
Total fund balances {14,125) 6903 13,185 5963
Total labllities and fund balances S5 1548 0 8 5903 5 13185 5 21,636
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGES
NONMAJOR GDVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBEER 31, 2018

Special Revenue

. Fire Capital
Rental Donations Projects Totals
REVENUES
Miscellaneous § 27,793 & -8 2934 ¢ 30,727
EXPENDITURES
Current
Public safaty - .425 . 425
Conservation and development 60,965 - - 60965
Total expenditures 60,965 425 - 61,390
Net change in Fund balances (33172) (425) 2,934 {30,663
Fund balances - January 1 19,047 7,328 10,251 36,626
Fund balances - December 31 by (14125 § 6903 § 13185 4 = 5953
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

Independent auditors’ report on internal contral over financial reporting and on
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
winnebago County, Wisconsin

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the
“Town") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 3, 2019.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town’s internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Town's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned Functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the First paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given
these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be
material weaknesses. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and responses as item 2018-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

A member of
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TOWN OF CLAYTON'S RESPONSE TO FINDING

The Town's response to the finding identified in our audit is described In the accompanying schedule of findings and
responses The Town's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinicn on it

PURPOSE QF THIS REPORT
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not ko provide an opinion on the effectivenass of the Town's internal control or on

compliance. This report is an Integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standardsin
considerlng the Town's internal controt and compllance. Accordingly, this communication Is not sultable for any other
purpose.

J%w[mm L

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Green Bay, Wisconsin
May 3, 2019
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Town of Clayton
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

SECTION I. INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

FINDING NO. CONTROL DEFICIENCIES

2018-001 Adjustments to the Town's Financial Records

Condition: As part of our audlt we proposed saveral journal entries that were material to the Town's
financlal statements

Criteria; Material acjusting journal entries proposed by auditors are considered to be an internal control
deficiency,

Cause: While Town staff maintalns fingncial records which accurately report revenues and expenditures
throughout the year, preparing year-end adjusting and closing entries requires additional
experlise that would entall additional training and staff time to develop.

Effect: Year-end financial records prepared by the Town may contsin material misstatements.

Recommendation:

Management
Response;

We are aware that the Town contracted For additional accounting assistance in December of
2016, which eliminated many of the adjustments proposed in prior year audits. We continue to
recommend that the Town review and analyze financial information to decrease the adjustments
to accounting records that will be necessary at the time of the audit,

The Town Board continues to budget for additional professional accounting assistance to raview

and analyze the Town's financial Information in order to decrease the adjustments needed and to
Improve the accuracy of the Town's financlal records.

SECTION 1. COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

There are no findings related to compliance and other matters that are required to be reported under governmental
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America for the year ended December 31, 2018,
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MSRB through the Electronic Municipal Market Access ("EMMA") System
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Town of Clayton’s Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, as
prepared in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, was filed May 23, 2019 on the
MSRB’s EMMA System, and are incorporated herein by reference. .

The Financial Statements for year ended December 31, 2018 reflect an gative change in fund balance for

the General Fund ($452,197)‘ﬁd the Debt Service Fund ($143,878). As of year-end 2018, the General

Fund balance is $176,202, of which the unassigned portion is

@136,0083

{S99,368@nd, the Debt Service balance is

” A



The decrease In the General Fund balance was due to additional expenditures incurred for planning and
engineering costs associated with future development and infrastructure projects in the Town. The Town
anticipated recelving proceeds from the sale of land in 2018 to reimburse these expenditures. The land
sale occurred on February 28, 2019 and a portion of the proceeds was used to restore the General Fund
balance to previous levels. v

The decrease in the Debt Service Fund balance was due to the Town retiring $557,375 of principal on a
promissory note that was not budgeted. The Town anticipated receiving proceeds from the land sale to
pay off the note in 2018, The land sale occurred on February 28, 2019 and proceeds were deposited into
the Debi Service Fund. /

On February 28, 20189, the Town received land sale proceeds in the amount of $1,692,000, a portion of
which was deposited into the General Fund and Debt Service Fund. As of March 1, 2019, the General
Fund balance was $775,570, of which $500,000 was the unassigned portion; and, the Debt Service Fund
balance was $77,714. ~

e

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

ln accordance with the requirements of the Continulng Disclosure Certificates executed by the Town
of Clayton, included herein is the 2012 Adopted Budget,

The Financial and Operating Data filed this date, together with the Audited Financial Statements
for the year ended December 31, 2018, previously filed on EMMA and incorporated by reference,
fulfill the requirements of the Annual Report for the year ended Decembear 31, 2018,



Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin
Voluntary Notice in Regard to “Status of Fund Balances on 12/31/18”

The 2018 Financial Statements for the Town of Clayton indicate that the total
governmental fund balances decreased from $766,781 on January 1, 2018 fo $154,729
on December 31, 2018. Specifically, the General Fund balance decreased by $452. 197
to an end of year balance of $176,202. In addition, the Debt Service Fund retired more
principal on debt than was budgeted and ended the year with a daficit fund balance of”
$136.008. Both the General Fund and the Debt Service Fund were restored to prior
year levels on March 1, 2019 from the receipt of unbudgeted revenues of $1,692,000
from land sale proceeds. Additional information on the 2018 decrease in fund balances
and the subsequent 2019 change in fund balances is presented below:

2018 Decrease in General Fund

The 2018 decrease in General Fund of approximately $600 thousand was due fo
additional expenditures incurred for planning and engineering costs on future
development and infrastructure projects in the Town. The development will also include
providing of water and sewer services to a portion of the Town and will significantly
increase the value of recently purchased Town-owned land. The intent was to fund the
additional expenditures with the land safes. As noted previously, the land sale did not
close until February 28, 2019 and the proceeds were used to restore the General Fund
balances to their previous levels.

Deficit Balance in the Debt Service Fund on December 31, 2018

The year end deficit in the Debt Service Fund was due to the Town retiring $557,375 of
principal on a promissory note. The original plan was fo retire the note with land sales
and refinance any remaining principal should land sale proceeds not be sufficient. With
the future anticipated land sale scheduled in 2019, the entire note was retired in 2018
and none of the principal was needed to be refinanced.

March 1, 2019 Fund Balances

With the receipt of the land sale proceeds of $1,692,000 on February 28, 2019, the fund
balances of the General Fund and Debt Service were increased to $775,570 and
$77,714, respectively on March 1, 2019. Specifically, the Unassigned General Fund
balance was increased to $500,000. This is the level recommended by financial
consultants to maintain the current bond rating of the Town.
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To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
winnebago County, Wisconsin

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the “Town") for
the year ended December 31, 2017. The Town's financial statements, including our report thereon dated April 10, 2018,
are presented in a separate audit report document. Professional standards require that we provide you with the
following information related to our audit.

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER U.S. GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING STANDARDS AND GOVERNMENT AUDITING
STANDARDS

As stated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to express opinions
about whether the financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you
or management of your responsibilities.

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Town's internal control over financial reporting in order to
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements and not to
provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town's financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions is not an objective of our audit.

PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
correspondence about planning matters.

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT FINDINGS

Consideration of internal Control

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Town's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Our report on internal
control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters is presented on pages 44 - 45 of the annual
report.

schencksc.com

Schanck 5C



Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not:
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and
therefore material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

A deficiency In Internal control exists when the design or operation of a contro! does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencles.

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant accounting
policies used by the Town are described In Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policies were
adopted and the application of existing poticies was not changed during 2017. We noted no transactions entered into
by the Town during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. To the best of our
knowledge, all significant transactions have been recognized In the financial statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the Financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management's knowledge and experlence about past and current events and assurnptions about future events. Certain
accounting eskimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the Financlal statements and because of
the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive
estimates Included in the financial statements were:

» Management's estimate of the depreciable life of the capital assets is based upon analysis of the expected useful
life of the capltal assets. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions and the consistency In these Factors and
assumptions used to develop the depreciable life in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial
statemants taken as a whole,

> Management's estimate of the net pension liability (asset} and related deferred outflows/inflows of resources is
based on information received from the Wisconsin Retirement System. We evatuated the key Factors and
assumptions used to develop the net pension liability (asset) and related deferred outflows/inflows of resources in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial skatements taken as a whole.

The Financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, other
than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management has
corrected all such misstatements. Copies of the audit adjustments are available frorn management. In addition, none of
the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either
individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit's financial statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financlal accounting, reporting, or auditing matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors' report.
Nao such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.



Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation
letter dated April 10, 2018. The management representation letter Follows this communication.

Management Consultalions with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters,
similar to obtaining a "second epinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting
principle to the Town's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditors' opinion that may be expressed
on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that
the consultant has all the relevant Facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.

Other Audit Findings or lssues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards,
with management each year prior to retention as the Town's auditors, However, these discussions occurred in the
normal course of our professional relationship and, to the best of our knowledge, our responses were not a condition
to aur retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limlted procedures ko the schedules relating to pensions, which are required supplementary
information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements, Our procedures consisted of Inquirles of
management regarding the methods of preparing the Information and comparing the information for consistency with
rmanagement's responses ta our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained durlng our
audt of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinlon or provide any assurance
on the RSI.

We were engaged to report on the supplementary information, which accompanies the financial statements but is not
RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the
prior period, and the information Is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the
financlal statements or to the financial statements themselves,

Restriction on Use

This information s intended solely for the information and use of the Town Board and management of the Town of
Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin, and Is not intended Lo be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Sincerely,

Sebenchk e

Certified Public Accountants
Creen Bay, Wisconsin
April 10, 2018



Summary Financial Information

GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Presented below is a summary of Town governmental fund balances on December 31, 2017 and 2018. Information is
provided For assessing financial results for 2017 and for indicating financial resources available for 2018 and subsequent
years.

12/31/17 12/31/16
General Fund
Nonspendable for
Prepaid items $ 2100 § 198
Due From stormwater fund 72,074 -
Restricted For
Park improvements 1,545 -
Fire department improvements 7,797 8,849
Committed for
Cemetery expenditures 31,771 45,501
Capital equipment replacement 48,509 169,806
Sick leave and vacation payout 31,268 40,000
Assigned for subsequent year's budget 24,500 -
Unassigned 408 835 416936
Total General Fund Balance 628,399 681,290
Debt Service Fund
Restricted For debt service 7,870 -
Special Revenue Funds
Restricted For
Fire department capital expenditures 7,328 -
Committed for
Solid waste and recycling expenditures 93,886 105,517
Rental Fund expenditures 19,047 -
Total Special Revenue Funds 120,261 105,517
Capital Projects Funds
Restricted For
Capital outlay 10,251 808,413
Debt service - 114,909
Total Capital Projects Funds 10,251 923322
Total Governmental Fund Balances 766781 S 1710129



STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY - BUDGET TO ACTUAL

A budget to actual summary of the stormwater management utility's cash receipts and cash disbursements for the year
ending December 31, 2017 with comparative actual amount for the year ending December 31, 2016, Is as follows:

Budget 2017 Variance 2016
Cash receipts
Stormwater management fees & 170,000  § 169,365 & (635) § 166,659
Capital contributions - 22103 22,103 -
Total operating revenues 170,000 191,468 21,468 166,659
Cash disbursements
Employee wages and beneflts 74,531 68,151 6,380 69,704
Vendors and contractors 59,250 93,318 {34,066) 43,286
Capital assets 35,000 66,193 {31,193) -
Debt service
Principal - - - 36,952
Interest - - - 1,016
Total operating expenses 168,781 227,660 {58,879) 150,958
Excess of cash receipts over {under)
cash disbursements S 1219 $§ (36192 $ _ (37411) 5 15701
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April 10, 2018

Schenck SC

2200 Riverside Drive

F.O. Box 23819

Green Bay, W 54305-3819

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the Financial statements of the Town of Clayton,
Winnebage County, Wisconsin {the "Town"), which comprise the respective financial position of the governmental
actlvitles, the business-type activitles, each major fund and the aggregate remaining Fund information as of Decerber 31,
2017, and the respective changes in the financial position and where applicable, cash Flows for the year then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements for the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the financial
staterments are presented Falrly, in all material respects, in sccordance with accounting principles generatly accepted in
the United States of America (LS. GAAR,

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited te matters that are material, lems are considered
rmaterial, regardless of size, iF they Involve an omission or misstaterent of accounting information that, in light of
surrounding circurmstances, mekes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person telying onthe information
would be changed orinfluenced by the omission or misstatement, An amission or misstatement that is inonetarily small
inamount could be considered material as a rasull of qualitative Factors.

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of April 10, 2018, the following representations made to you
dusing your audit,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated October 31,
2017, Including our responsibility for the preparation and Fair presentation of the financial staternents in
accordance with U. 5. GAAP and for preparation of tha supplementary information in aceordance with the
applicable criteria,

2. The finandial statements referred to above are Fairly presented Jn conformity with LS, GAAP and include alt
progerly classified funds and ather financial information of the primary government required by generally accepted
accounting principles to be lncluded In the financial reporting entity,

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of Financial staternants that are free from rmaterial raisstatement, whether
due to fraud or error,

A, We acknowledge our respronsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of Internal conlrol ko prevent
and detact fraud,



Schenck SC
Aprll 10,2018
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10.

11,

Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are
reasonable,
In regards to accounting estimates:

» The measurement processes used by management in determining accounting estimates is appropriate and
consistent.

The assumptions appropriately reflect management's intent and ability ta carry out specific courses of action,
The disclosures related to accounting estimates are complete and appropriate.

No subsequent event has occurred that would require adjustment to the accounting estimates or disclosures
included in the financial statements.

Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans, transfers, leasing
arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts recelvable from or payable to related parties have been appropriately
accounted for and disclosed in accardance with U.S, GAAP,

Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, inctuding Instances of noncompliance, subsequent to
the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the Financial statements.

We are in agreement with the adjusting journal entries you have proposed, and they have been posted to the
Tawn's accounts.

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims or assessments or unasserted claims or
assessments that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements, and we have not consulted a
lawyer concerning fitigation, claims, or assessments.

Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the Town is contingently liable, if any, have been properly
recorded or disclosed.

INFORMATION PROVIDED

12.

13.

14.

We have provided you with:

a.  Access to all Information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters.

Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

¢, Unrestricted access to persons within the Town from whom you determined it necessary to obtaln audit
evidence.

d. Minutes of meetings of the Town Board or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have
not yet been prepared.

All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

We made an assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
We have disclosed the results of our assessment as follows:
a, We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:

i Managemeant,

il, Employees wha have significant roles in internal control, or

fli. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financlal statements.
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b. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Town’s financial
statements communicated by employees, Former employees, regulators, or others.

15, We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or abuse, whose effects should be considered when preparing
financial skatements.

16. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or
assessments that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the Financial statements, and we have not censulted &
lawyer concerning litigation, claims, or assessments,

17, We have disclosed to you the identity of the Town's related parties and all the related party relationships and
transactions of which we are aware,

GOVERNMENT - SPECIFIC

18. There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencles in,
financial reporting practices.

19. We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.

20. We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies related to the audit
objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented,

21. We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our planned
corrective actions, for the report,

22. The Town has no plans or Intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets,
liabilities, deferred Inflows/outfows of resources, or equity.

23, We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements
applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts; and legal and contractual provisions for reporting
specific activities in separate funds.

- 24. We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred of Fraud
and noncompliance with provisions of laws and regulations that we believe have a material effect on the Financial
statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives, and any other instances that warrant the
attention of those charged with governance,

25. We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of
noncompliance with provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit objectives.

26. We have identified and disclosed to you all Instances that have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of abuse
that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material to the Financial statements or other financial data significant
to the audit objectives.

27. There are no vialations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations {including those pertaining
to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax or debt limits,
and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements, or as
a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on nancompliance,
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28.

29,

30.

3.

3z
33

34,
35,

36.

37,

38
39,
40

41.

42,

As part of your audit, you assisted with proposing routine adjusting and correcting entries, preparation of capital
asset depreciation schedules, financial statements and related notes, and state financial report. We acknowledge
our respensibility as it relates to those nonaudit services, including that we assume all management responsibilities;
oversee the services by designating an individual, preferably within senior management, who possesses suitable
skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed; and accept
responsibility For the resuits of the services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted responsibility for the
adjusting and correcting entries, capital asset depreciation schedules, Financial statements and related notes, and
state financial report,

In regard to the capital asset depreciation services performed by you, we have -

3. Assumed all management responsibilities.

b. Deslgnated an individyal (within senior management) with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience to oversee
the services,

c. Evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed.
d. Accepted responsibility For the results of the services.

The Town has satisFactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets nar has
any asset been pledged a5 collateral,

The Town has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the
financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

We have Followed all applicable laws and regulations in adopting, approving, and amending budgets.

The financial statements include all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly
disclose all other joint ventures and other relsted organizations.

The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34,

All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASS Statement Nos. 34 and 37 For presentation as major are
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to
financial statement users.

Components of net position {net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted) and components of fund
balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned) are properly classified and, if applicable,
approved,

Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.

Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues and general revenues.
Interfund, internal, and Intra-entity activity and balances have been approprlately classified and reported,

Deposits and lnvestment securities and derivative transactions are properly classified as to risk and are properly
disclosed.

Capital assets, in¢luding infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if applicable,
depreciated.

Joint ventures, jointly governed organizations, and other related organizations have been properly disclosed in the
financial statements.
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43, We have appropriately disclosed the Town's policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted

44,

45,

46,

47,

48.

49,

50.

51.

resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is
available and have determined that net position is properly recognized under the policy.

We are following GASB Statement No. 54, paragraph 18, to determine the fund balance classifications For Financial
reporting purposes.

We acknowledge our responsibility For the required supplementary information (RS1). The RSIis measured and
presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not changed from
those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and interpretations underlying
the measurement and presentation of the RSl

We acknowledge our responsibility For presenting the indlvidual Fund statements and supparting schedules (the
supplementary Information} in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, and we believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The rethods of
measurament and presentation of the supplementary information have not changed from those used in the prior
pertod, and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement
and presentation of the supplementary information.

We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the pension benefits and have adequately considered the
qualifications of the specialist in determining the amounts and disclosures ysed in the financial statements and
underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be given to specialists with respect to
the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that
have had an impact cn the independence or objectivity of the specialist.

The fact that the amount of "uncollateralized” deposits or "uninsured, unreglistered securities held by the
counterparty, or by its trust department or agent but ot in the Town's name” during the period significantly
exceeded the amounts in those categories as of the balance sheet was properly disclosed in the financial
statements.

Receivables recorded in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors for transactions arising on
or before the balance sheet date and have been reduced to their estimated net realizable valye.

Capital assets, including intangible assets, have been evaluated for impairment as a result of significant and
unexpected decline in service utility.

We have evaluated and classified any subsequent events as recognized or nonrecognized through the date of this
[etter. No events, including instances of noncompliance, have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date and
though the date of this letter that would require adjustment: to or disclose in the aforementioned financial
statements.

Signed: /Z%’/ M Signed: Q&MAMQ_

Richard Johnston Tori Skraw
Town Administrator/Clerk Treasurer/ Assistant Administrator
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Independent auditors’ repart

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin
(the "Town") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Town's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and Fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
Financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or errer. In making these risk assessments, the
auditors cansider internal control relevant to the Town's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

OPINIONS

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the Town as of December 31, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund and the Solid
Waste/Recycling Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

schencksc.com 1
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OTHER MATTERS

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting princlples generally accepted in the United States of America reguire that the schedules relating to
pensions on page 38 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such Infermation, although not part
of the basic financiat staternents, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it ko be
an essential part of financial reporting For placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted In the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the informaticn and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance,

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted In
the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing
information, although not a part of the basic financlat statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinions on the basic financial
statements are not affected by this missing information.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of farming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
Town's basic financlal statements. The Financial information listed in the table of contents as supplementary
infarmation is presented For purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records tised to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additionat
pracedures, Including comparing and reconclling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the supplementary information is Fairly stated in all material respects in retation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.,

REPORT ON SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

We have previously audited the Town's 2016 financial statements, and our report dated March 24, 2017, expressed
unmodified opinions on those respective Financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining Fund information. In our opinion, the summarized comparative
information presented herein as of and For the year ended December 31, 2016, is consistent, in all material respects,
with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.



OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 10, 2018, on our
consideration of the Town's Internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report Is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards In considering the Town's
internal control over Financial reporting and compliance.

ehened e

Certified Public Accountants

Green Bay, Wisconsin
April 10, 2018
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2017
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Governmental Business-type ____Totals
Actlvities Actlvitles 2017 2016
ASSETS
Cash and inveskments S 5,622,424 % - & 5622424 % 5,368,871
Receivables
Taxes and special charges 4,477,341 - 4,477,341 4,568,446
Delinquent taxas 965 - 965 1,160
Accounts 2,823 26,840 29,663 2,005
Special assessments 343,524 - 343,524 29,951
Other 1,11% - 1,119 -
Internal balances (127,693) 127,693 - -
Prepaid items 2,100 - 2,100 198
Restricted assets
Cash and investments 34,791 - 34,791 1,000,495
Capital assets, nondepreciable 6,830,989 136,435 6,967,424 2,708,065
Capital assets, depraciable, nat, 8,745 866 1,402,229 10,148,095 9.491,017
Total assets 25,934,249 1,693,197 27,627,446 23,170,208
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 120,329 21,949 142 278 172,893
LIABILITIES
Actounts payable 95,085 38,052 133,137 151,508
Accrued and other current liabilities 49,462 - 49,462 51,063
Due to other governments 7,332,046 - 7,332,046 7,278,441
Accrued interest payable 101,351 - 101,351 43,056
Special deposits 24,664 - 24,664 2,675
Long-term obligations ‘
Due within one year 897,375 - 897,375 447,261
Due in more than one year 9,375,481 - 5,375,481 5,968,925
Net pension liability 14,509 2,857 17,365 20,468
Total liabitities 17,889,973 40909 17,930,882 13,972,397
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESQURCES
Property taxes levied For subsequent year 1,430,006 - 1,430,006 1,345,717
Special charges 315,826 226,607 542,433 470,577
Pension related amounts 49,867 9,821 59,688 63,978
Total deferred inflows of resources 1,795 699 236428 2,032,127 1,880,272
NET PQSITION
Net investment in capital assets 5,370,195 1,538,664 6,908,859 5,854,601
Restricted 348,364 - 348,364 932,171
Unrestricted 650,347 {100,855} 549,452 703,660
Total net position s 6368906 5 1437809 & 7806715 & 7,490,432

The notes to the basic financial statements are an Integral part of this statement.



Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Grants

Charges for Grants and and
Functions/Programs Expenses services Contributions _Contributions
CGOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General government $ 596,848 § 73,352 & - 5 -
Public safety 306,084 120,029 23,012 -
Public works 1,058,557 335,610 169,228 426,700
Health and human services 17,076 11,378 - -
Culture and recreation 24,698 6,454 - -
Conservation and development 45,946 - - -
Interest. and fiscal charges 258,931 - - -
Total governmental activities 2,308,140 546,863 192,240 426,700
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Stormwater managerent utility 221,857 169,365 26,840 22,103
Total § 2529997 § 716228 S 219080 S 448,803
General revenues
Taxes
Property taxes
Other taxes

Federal and state grants and other contributions
not restricted to specific Functions
Interest and investment earnings

Miscellaneous

Total general revenues

Change in net position

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,



Net (Expense) Ravenus
and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type _____ Totals

Activities Activitles 2017 2016
$  (523,496) ¢ - 5 (523498) 5 (744,929)
(163,043) - (163,043) 421,087
(127,019) . (127,019) {436,517)
(5,698) - (5,698) 96
{18,204) . (18,204) (16,376)
{45,946) - (45,94¢6) {74,740)
(258,931) - (258,931) {169 844)
(1,142,337 - (1,142,337) {1,021,223)
- (3.549) {3,549} 53,932
(1,142,337) (3,549) (1,145.886) {567,291}
1,358,098 - 1,358,098 1,353,831
112 - 112 494
40,732 - 40,732 41,034
6,106 - 6,106 1,007
57,121 - 57,121 32,919
1,462,169 - 1,462,169 1,429,285
319,832 (3,549) 316,283 461,994
6,049,074 1,441,358 7,490432 7,028,438

5 6368906 $ 1437809 _$ 7806715 5 7490432



Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Receivables
Taxes and special charges
Delinquent taxes
Accounts
Special assessments
Due From other Funds
Prepald items

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilicies
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Spedial deposits

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Property taxes levied for subsequent
year
Special charges assessed
Special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and Fund balances

Capital Solid Waste/ Debt

General Projects Recycling Service
[ 5,485,697 $ - $ 117,096 $ -
6,342 10,251 - 7,870
3,941,224 - - 536,117
965 - - -
1,119 - - -
29,9581 - - 313,573
98,914 - 306,800 -
2,100 - - -
$ 9.569,312 $ 10,251 4 423896 $ 857,560
$ 71,118 3% - % 23210 § -
49,462 - - .
533,407 - - -
7,332,046 - - -
22,014 - - -
8,008,047 - 23,210 -
893,889 - - 536,117
5,026 - 306,800 -
29,951 - - 313,573
932,866 - 306,800 849,690
74174 - - -
9,342 10,251 - 7,870
111,548 - 93,886 -
24,500 - - -
408,835 - - -
628,359 10,251 93,886 7,870
5 9,569,312 5 10.251 [ 423,896 5 B57 560

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Other

Governmental Totals
Funds 2017 2016
$ 19631 § §,622424 5  53B2,303
7,328 34,791 987,063
- 4,477,341 4,568,446
- 965 1,160
2,823 3942 2,005
- 343524 29,951
- 405714 366,522
- 2,100 198

5 29782 .$.10.890801 _§ 11.338.048

5 757 5 95085 § 145,295

- 45,462 51,063

- 533,407 470,450

- 7,332,046 7,278,441

2,650 24,664 2,675
3,407 8,034,664 7,947,924

. 1,430,006 1,345,717

- 315826 304,327

- 343,524 29,951

. 2,089,356 1,679,995

- 74174 198

7,328 34,791 932,171

19,047 224,481 360,824

- 24,500 -

- 408,835 416,936

26,375 766,781 1,710,129

5 29,782 _§ 10890801 _35 11,338,048



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Total fund balances as shown on previous page

Amounts reported For governmental activities In the statement of net position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay current period expenditures
and therefore are deferred In the funds,

Some deferred outflows and inflows of resources reflect changesin
long-term liabilities and are not reported In the Funds,

Deferred outflows related to pensions

Deferred inflows related to pensians

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported In the Funds.

Bonds and notes payable

Premium on debt

Compensated absences

Net pension liability

Accrued interest on long-term obligations

Net position of governmental activities as reported on the Statement
of Net Position (see page 4)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

2017 2016

$ 766,781  § 1,710,129

15,576,855 10,704,871
343,524 29,951
120,329 135,074
(49,867) (49,096)
(10,067,375) (6,257,261)
(139,285) (87,220)
(66,196) (71,705)
(14,509} (22,613)
(101,351} (43,056)

6368906 $ _ 6.049.074



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Capital Solid Waste/ Debt
General Projects Recycling Service
REVENUES
Taxes s 873,165 § - § - 8 485,045
Speclal assessments - - - -
Intergovernmental 224,108 - 16,287 -
Licenses and permits 112,411 - - -
Public charges for services 164,134 - 313,152 -
Intergovernmental charges for services 56,706 - - -
Miscellaneous 21,641 - 819 -
Total revenues 1,452,165 - 330,258 485,045
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 510,945 - - -
Public safety 261,803 - - -
Public works 364,344 - 333,739 -
Health and human services 23,076 . - -
Culture and recreation 9,309 - - -
Conservation and development 34,432 - - -
Debt service
Principal - 112,261 - 335,000
Interest and fiscal charges . 72,998 - 142,178
Capital outlay 292,298 5,067,653 8,150 -
Total expenditures 1,496,207 5,252,912 341,889 477,175
Excess of revenues over (under}
expendituras {44.042) (5,252,912) (11,631) 7,870
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Long-term debt issued - 4,257,375 - -
Premium on debt issued - 66,602 - -
Proceeds from sale of capital assets - - - -
Transfers In - 15,864 - -
Transfers out {8,849) - - .
Total other Financing sources {uses) {8,849) 4,339 841 . -
Net change in Fund balances {52,891) {913,071) (11,631) 7,870
Fund balances - January 1 681,290 923,322 105,517 -
Fund balances - Decembar 31 S 628399 & 10251, _§ 93.886  _§ 7.870

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

10



Qther

Governmental Totals
Funds 2017 2016

$ - % 1,358,210 $ 1,354,325
- - 5,036

. 240,395 234,747

- 112,411 144,422

- 477,286 354,433

- 56,706 8,000

47,750 70,210 45921
47,750 2,315,218 2,146,884

- 510,945 482,957

2,846 264,649 295,462

- 698,083 681,665

- 23,076 6,249

- 9,309 4,471

11,514 45,946 74,740

. 447 261 1,882,739

- 215173 172,347

- 5,368,101 3,251,425

14,360 7,582,543 6,852 055
33,390 (5,267,325) (4,705,171)

- 4,257,375 £,000,000

- 66,602 87,220

- - 48,900

8,849 24,713 217,088
{15,864) (24,713) {217,088)
(7,015) 4,323 977 5,136,120
26,375 (943,348) 430,949

- 1,710,129 1,279,180

& 26375 § 766781 & 1710129




Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2017 2016
RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT QF ACTIVITIES
Net change in fund balances as shown on previous page s (943,348) § 430,949
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures, However, in
the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Capital assets reported as capital outtay in governmental fund statements 5,368,101 3,251,425
Items reported as capital outlay, but not capltalized (67,861} (254,044)
Contributed capital assets - 628,150
Depreciation expense reported |n the statement of activities {420,624) (370,214)
Net book valve of disposals (7.632) {49,893)
Governmental funds do not present revenues that are not avallable to pay
current obligatlons. In contrast, such revenues are reported In the statement
of actlvities when earned. 313,573 (5,036)
Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but
Issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the staterment of net position.
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabillties in the statement of net position.
Long-term debt issued (4,257,375) (5,000,000)
Premium on debt issued (66,602} {87,220)
Principal repaid 447,261 1,882,739
Some expenses reported In the statement of activities do not require the
use of current financlal resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds: ‘
Accrued interest on long-term debt (58,295} 2,503
Amortization of premiums, discounts and loss on advance refunding 14,537 -
Compensated absences 5,509 (10,489)
Net pension llability 8,104 (57,244)
Deferred outFlows of resources related to pensions (14,745) 95,532
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions T71 (49,096)
Change In net position of governmental activities as reported in the
statement of activities (see pages 5- 6) = 319832 _§  408.062

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMDUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2016
original Final Actual {Negative) Actual
REVENUES
Taxes 5 873,672 § 873672 § 873,165 § (s0Mm $ 900,875
Special assessments - - - - 5,036
Intergovernmental 245,167 245,167 224,108 (21,059) 223,245
Licenses and permits 145,700 145,700 112,411 (33,289) 144,422
Public charges for services 18,250 18,250 164,134 145,884 43,324
Intergovernmental charges
fFor services 8,000 8,000 56,706 48,706 8,000
Miscellaneous 2,500 2,500 21,641 18,141 21,297
Total revenues 1,293,289 1,293,289 1,452,165 158 876 1,346,199
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 478,652 487,385 510,945 (23,560) 482,557
Public safety 312,039 312,039 261,803 50,236 295462
Public works 425,252 425,252 364,344 60,908 366,205
Health and human services 4,296 18,025 23,078 (5,051) 6,249
Culture and recreation 8,850 8,850 9,309 (459) 4,471
Conservation and development 77,200 77,200 34,432 42,768 38,391
Capital outlay 47,000 47,000 292,298 (245,298) 14,234
Total expenditures 1,353,289 1,375,751 1,496,207 (120,456} 1,207,969
Excess of revenues over {under)
expanditures {60,000) (82,462 (44,042) 38,420 138230
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Praceeds from sale of capital assets . - - - 48,800
Transfers in 60,000 25,000 - (25,000) 20,000
TransFers out - - (8,849) (8,849) {197,088)
Total other Financlng sources {uses) 60,000 25 000 (8,849) {33,849) {128,188)
Nek change in Fund balance - {57,462) {52,891) 4,571 10,042
Fund balance - January 1 681,290 681,250 681,290 - 671,248
Fund balance - December 31 -5 681290 S§ 623828 S 628369 § 4571 S 681290

e P e e e ————m———— —— T s ey

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDBET AND ACTUAL - SOLID WASTE/RECYCLING FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 21, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2016
original Final Actual (Negative) Actual

REVENUES

Inkergovernmental $ 10,000 5 10,000 $ 16,287 § 6,287 11,502

Public charges for services 319,200 319,200 313,152 (6,048) 311,109

Miscellaneous - - 819 819 57

Total revenues 329,200 329,200 330,258 1,058 322,668
EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works 322,960 322,960 333,739 (10,779} 317,966

Capital outlay 7,500 7,500 8,150 (650) -

Total expenditures 330,460 330,460 341,889 (11,429} 317,966
Excess of revenues over {under)

expenditures (1,260) (1,260) (11,631) {10,371) 4,702
OTHER FINANCING USES

Transfers out - . - - {20,000
Net change in Fund balance (1,260) {1,260) {11,631) {10,371) {15,298}
Fund balance - January 1 105,517 105,517 105,517 - 120,815
Fund balance - December 31 104,2 § 104,257 _§ 093886 _$ (10371} _$ 105,517

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

14



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Stormwater
Management Utility
2037 2016
ASSETS
Current assets
Due from other funds $ 226,607 % 166,250
Due from other governments 26,840 -
Total current assets 253,447 166,250
Capital assets
Nondepreciable 136,435 85,670
Depreciable, net 1,402,229 1,408,541
Total capital assets 1,538,664 1,494,211
Total assets 1,792111 1,660,461
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 21,949 37,815
LIABILITIES
Current labilities
Accounts payable 38,052 6,213
Due to other funds 98,914 62,722
Total current liabilities 136,966 68,935
Long-term obligations
Net pension Uability 2,857 6,855
Total liabilitles 139,823 75,780
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Special charges on subsequent year tax roll 226,607 166,250
Pension related amounts 9,821 14,882
Total deferred inflows of resources 236,428 181,132
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 1,538,664 1,494,211
Unrestricted (100,855) (52,853)
Total net position $ 1437809 5 1441358

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operatlon and maintenance
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Nonoperating grants
Interest and fiscal charges
Total nonoperating revenues {expenses)
Income {loss) before contributions
Capital contributions
Change In net position

Net position - January 1

Net position - December 31

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Stormwater
Managament Utility

2007 2016

3 169365 & 166,655

168,733 65,146
53,124 47,369
221,857 112,515
(52,492) 54,144
26,840 .

. (212)

26,840 (212)
(25,652) 53,932
22,103 -
(3,549} 53,932
1,441,358 1,387,426

1437809 5 _ 1441358



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
" FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

stormwater
Management Utility
2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from customers 5 169,365 § 166,659

Cash pald for employee wages and benefits {68,151) (33,438)

Cash pald to suppliers {93,316) {31,562)

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,898 101,659
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Due toffrom other funds 36,192 {15,701)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of capital assets (66,193) {47,990

Capital contributions 22,103 -

Principal paid on long-term debt - (36,953)

Interest paid on long-term debt - (1,018

Net cash Flows used by capital

and related financing activities (44,050} (85,958)

Change in cash and investments . -
Cash and investments - January 1 . .
Cash and investments - December 31 =5 = S -

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Stormwater
Management Utility

2017 2016

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME
(LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Income {loss) $ (52,492) & 54,144
Adjustments to recancile operating
income {loss) ko net cash provided
by operating activities
Depreciaticn 53,124 47,369
Change in liabllity {asset) and deferred
outflows and inflows of resources
Pension 6,811 190
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts payable 455 1,208
Accrued liabilities - (1,252}
Net cash provided by operating activities S 7B98 8§ 101659

Reconcillation of cash and cash equivalents

to the statement of net positicn
Cash and cash equlvalents in current assets 3 -8 -
Cash and cash equlvatents in restricted assets - -

Total cash and investments - T S

Noncash capital and related financing activities
None

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin (the “Town"), have been prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unlted States of America (GAAP) as applied to
government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant accounting principles and
policies utilized by the Town are described below;

A. REPORTING ENTITY

The Town is a municipal corporation governed by an elected five member board. In accordance with GAAP, the basic
financlal statements are required to include the Town {the primary government) and any separate component units
that have a significant operational or financial relationship with the Town. The Town has not identified any component
units that are required to be included in the basic financial statements in accordance with standards established in
GASB Statement No, 61.

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financlal statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduclary activities of the Town. For the maost part, the effect of interfund activity has been
removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which are primarily supported by taxes and Intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for
services.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific Function or segment. Program
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular Function. Taxes and other items not properly included amaong
program revenues are reported instead as general reventies.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary Funds, Governmental Funds include
general, special revenue, debt service and capital projects funds. Proprietary Funds include enterprise funds. The Town
has no internal service Funds. Major individual governmental Funds and the major individual enterprise fund are
reported as separate columns n the fund financial statements.

The Town reperts the Following major governmental Funds:

General Fund
This is the Town's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financlal resources of the generat government, except
those accounted for in another fund.

Capital Projects Fund
This fund accounts For the acquisition or construction of major capltal Facilities other than those financed by proprietary
fund types.

Solid Waste/Recycling Fund
This Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used For the collection and disposal of refuse and recyclable
itemns. Significant revenues are charges for services.
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NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

Debt Service Fund
This fund is used to account for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal and interest on long-term
general obligation debt of governmental funds.

The Town reports the following major enterprise Fund:

Stormwater Management Utility Fund
This fund accounts For the Town's stormwater utility.

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrial basis of accounting, as are the proprietary Fund and fiduciary fund Financial statements. Revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized
as revenues as soon as all eligibllity requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenuas are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.
Revenues are considered to be avaitablewhen they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be available if they are
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability Is
incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due,

Revenues susceptible to accrual include intergovernmental grants, intergovernmental charges for services, public
charges for services and interest. Other revenues such as licenses and permits, fines and Forfeits and miscellaneous
revenues are recognized when received In cash or when measurable and available,

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide Financial statemenits.
Exceptions ko this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and various other functions of the Town. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported For the varicus Functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges
provided, and fees and fines, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. internally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues
include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary
fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Town's proprietary funds are charges to
custorners For services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the costs of services, administrative expenses,
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses,

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available For use, it is the Town’s policy to use restricted resources
First, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION OR FUND BALANCE

1.

Cash and Investments

Cash and investments are combined in the financial statements. Cash deposits consist of demand and time deposits
with financial institutions and are carried at cost. Investments are stated at Fair value, Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, all cash deposits and highly liquid investments (including restricted
assets) with a maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition are considered to be cash equivalents.

Property Taxes and Special Charges/Receivable

Property taxes and special charges consist of taxes on real estate and personal property and user charges assessed
against Town properties. They are levied during December of the prior year and become an enforceable lien on
property the following January 1. Property taxes are payable in various options depending on the type and amount.
Personal property taxes and special charges are payable on or before January 31 in full. Real estate taxes are
payable in full by January 31 or in two equal installments on or before January 31 and July 31, Real estate taxes not
paid by January 31 are purchased by the County as part of the February tax settlement. Delinquent personal
property taxes remain the collection responsibility of the Town. Special charges not pald by January 31 are held in
trust by the County and remitted to the Town, including interest, when collected by the County.

In addition to its levy, the Town bills, levies and collects taxes for the School Districts of Neenah and Winneconne,
Fox Valley Technical College, Larson Winchester Sanitary District, the County of Winnebage, and the State of
Wisconsin.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at gross amounts with uncotlectible amounts recognized under the direct write-
off method. No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been provided since it is believed that the amount of such
allowance would not be material to the basic financiat statements.

Special Assessments

Assessments against property owners for public improvements are generally not subject to full settlement in the
year levied. Special assessments are placed on tax rolls on an installment basis. Revenue from special assessments
recorded in governmental funds is recognized as collections are made or as current installments are placed on tax
rolls. (Installments placed on the 2017 tax roll are recognized as revenue in 2018.) Special assessments are subject
to collection procedures.

Interfund Receivables and Payables

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for goods provided or
services rendered, These recelvables and payables are classifled as “due from other funds” and “due to other funds”
in the fund financial statements,

The amount reported on the statement of net position for internal balances represents the residual balance
outstanding between the governmental and business-type activities.

Prepaid ftems
Payments made to vendors that will benefit periods beyond the end of the current fiscal year are recorded as
prepald items and are accounted For on the consumption method.

Prepaid items of governmental funds in the fund financial statements are offset by nonspendable Fund balance to
indlcate that they do not represent spendable available financial resources.
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7.

10,

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements, Capital assets are
defined by the Town as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or higher and an estimated useful life In
excess of a year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. The cost of
InFrastructure assets constructed prior to 2004 have not been determined and are, therefore, not included in the
financlal statements.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset
lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the Following estimated useful lives:

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities
Assets Years
Bulldings 40 40
Land improvements 25 25
Vehicles 4-15 4-15
Machinery and equipment 5-15 5-10
Infrastructure 25-75 40

Compensated Absences

Itis the Town's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick ieave benefits in
accordance with employee handbook policies and/or bargaining unit agreements. All vacation and sick leave is
accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund Financial statements. A liability for these
amounts is reported in the governmental funds in the fund financial statemeants only if they have matured, For
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are a consumption of net position by the government that is applicable to a Future
reporting period. Deferred inflows of resources are an acquisition of net position by the government that Is
applicable to a future reporting period. The recognition of those outflows and inflows as expenses or expenditures
and revenues are deferred until the future periods to which the outflows and inflows are applicable.

Governmental funds may report deferred inflows of resources for unavailable revenues. The Town reports
unavailable revenues For special assessments. These inflows are recognized as revenues In the government-wide
financial statements.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial staterents, and proprietary funds in the fund financial statements, long-term
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and
amortized over the lIfe of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.
Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred.
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11,

12.

In the Fund Financlal statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
Issuance costs, during the current period. The Face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.
Premiums received on debt Issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are
reported as other financing uses, Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received,
are reported as debt service expenditures.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensians, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin
Retirement System (WRS} and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position have been determined on
the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments {including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are
reported at Fair value.

Fund Equity

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations
requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The following classifications describe the relative strength of
the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used:

» Nonspendable fund balance. Amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory, prepaid items, or
long-term receivables} or are legally or contractually required to remain intact.

> Restricted fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by external parties (such as
grantor or bondholders), through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation.

» Committed Fund balance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of the Town Board.
These constraints can only be removed or changed by the Town Board using the same action that was used to
create them,

» Assigned Fund batance. Amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by action of Town management.
The Town Board has not authorized a specific employee to assign fund balance. Residual amounts in any
governmental fund, other than the General Fund, are also reported as assigned.

> Unassigned fund balance, Amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive unassigned amounts are only
reported in the General Fund,

The Town has adopted a fund balance spend-down policy regarding the order in which fund balance will be utilized.
Where applicable, the policy requires restricted Funds to be spent First, Followed by committed funds, and then
assigned funds. Unassigned funds would be spent last.

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Statements
Equity Is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

» Netinvestment in capital assets. Amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and capital
related deferred outflows of resources less outstanding balances af any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement: of those assets and any
capltal related deferred inflows of resources.

> Restricted net position. Amount of net position that is subject to restrictions that are Imposed by 1) external
groups, such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or 2) law through
constitutional pravisions or enabling leglslation,
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» Unrestricted net position, Net position that is neither classified as restricted nor as net investment in capital
assets,

E. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financlal statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

F. PRIOR YEAR INFORMATION

Comparative amounts For the prior year have been presented in the basic financial statements to provide an
understanding of changes in the Town's financial position and operations. The comparative amounts may be
summarized In total and not at the level of detail required for a presentation in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the government's financiat
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, from which the summarized Information was derived.

G. RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the presentation in the
current year financial skatements with no change in previously reported net position, changes in net position, fund
balance or changes in fund balance.

NOTE 2: STEWARDSHIP AND COMPLIANCE

A. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING
The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial statements:

1. During November, the Town Board and officials prepare a proposed operating budget for the calendar year
commencing the following January 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of
financing them. After submission to the governing body, public hearings are held to obtain taxpayer comments.
Following the public hearings, the proposed budget, including authorized additions and deletions, is legally
enacted by Town Board action.

2. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America for all governmental Funds. Budget is defined as the originally approved budget plus or minus approved
amendments. Individual amendments throughout the year were not material in relation to the originat budget.
Budget appropriations not expended during the year are closed to fund balance unless authorized by the
governing body to be forwarded into the succeeding year's budget,

3. During the year, formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device for Ehe governmental
funds.

4. Expenditures may not exceed appropriations provided In detailed budget accounts maintained for each activity or
department of the Town, Amendments to the budget during the year require initial approval by management and
are subsequently authorized by the Town Board.

5. Encumbrance accounting is not used by the Town to record commitments related to unperformed contracts For
goods or sefvices.

The Town did not have any material violation of legal or contractual provisions for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2017.
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B. PROPERTY TAX LEVY LIMIT

Wisconsin state statutes provide for a limit on the property tax levies For all Wisconsin citles, villages, towns and
counties. For the 2017 and 2018 budget years, Wisconsin Statutes limit the increase in the maximum allowable tax levy
to the change in the Town's January 1 equalized value as a result of net new construction. The actual limit For the Town
for the 2017 budget was 1.66%. The actual limit For the Town for the 2018 budget was 0.96%. Debt service For debt:
authorized after July 1, 2005 is exempt from the levy limit, In addition, Wisconsin statutes allow the limit to be adjusted
for the increase in debt service authorized prior to July 1, 2005 and in certain other situations.

NOTE 3: DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS

A, CASH AND INVESTMENTS
The Town maintains various cash and investment accounts, including pooled funds that are available for use by all
funds. Each Fund's portion of these accounts is displayed on the financial statements as "Cash and investments”,

Invested cash consists of deposits and investments that are restricted by Wisconsin Statutes to the following:

Time deposits; repurchase agreements; securities issued by federal, state and local governmental entities;
statutorfly authorized commerclal paper and corporate securities; and the Wisconsin local government
investment pool,

The carrying amount of the Town's cash and investments totaled $5,657,215 on December 31, 2017 as summarized
below:

Petty cash and cash on hand 5 400
Deposits with Financial institutions 5,656,815
. $ 5,657,215

Reconciliation to the basic financial statements:

Government-wide Statement of Net Position

Cash and investments $ 5,622,424
Restricted cash and investments 34,791
,657,215

Fair Value Measurements

The Town categorizes its falr value measurements within the Fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1
inputs are quoted prices in active markets For identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant observable inputs; Level 3
inputs are significant unobservable Inputs. The Town currently has no investments that are subject to fair value
measurement.,

Deposits and investments of the Town are subject to various risks. Presented below is a discussion of the Town's
deposits and investments and the related risks.
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Custedial Credit Risk

Custodial credit rsk For depositsis the risk that, in the event of the Failure of a depository financial institution, a
government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possessian of an outside party. The custodiat credit risk For investments is the risk that, in the event of the Failure of the
counterparty (e.g,, broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment
or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. Wisconsin statutes require repurchase agreements to
be fully collateralized by bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the Federal government or its instrumentalitles.
The Town does not have an additional custodial credit policy.

Deposits with financial institutions within the State of Wisconsin are insured by the Federal Deposit insurance
Corporation (FDIC} in the amount of $250,000 For the combined amount of all time and savings deposits and $§250,000
for interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing demand deposits per official custodian per insured deposlitory institution.
Deposits with financial institutions located outside the State of Wisconsin are insured by the FDIC in the amount of
$250,000 for the comblned amount; of all deposit accounts per officlal custodian per depository institution. Deposits
with credit unions are insured by the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund {(NCUSIF) in the amount of $250,000
per credit union member, Also, the State of Wisconsin has a State Guarantee Fund which provides a maximum of
£400,000 per public depository above the amount provided by an agency of the U.S, Government, However, due ko the
relatively small size of the State Guarantee Fund in relation to the Fund's tatal coverage, total recovery of insured
losses may not be available. This coverage has been considered in determining custodial credit risk.

As of December 31, 2017, $69,437 of the Town's depesits with financial institutions were In excess of Federal and state
depository insurance limits, No amounts were collateralized.

B, RESTRICTED ASSETS
Restricted assets on December 31, 2017 totaled $34,791 and consisted of cash and investments held For the Following
purposes:

Funds Amount Purpose
Governmental Activities

Park impact Fees $ 1,545  To account for impact Fees collected and held by the
Tow n to finance park improvements,

Fire impact fees 7,797  Toaccount for impact fees collected and held by the
Tow n to finance fire department improvements.

Capital improvemneants 10,251  To account for funds set aside to be used for the purchase
of capital assets

Debt service 7,870  To account for funds held for debt service expenditures

Fire donations 7,328 Donations to the fire department to be used for the

purchase of fire department equipment,
Total $ 34,791

26



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NOTES TD BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

C. CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land $ 1922518 5 4597537 & - % 6520455
Canstruction in progress 699,477 426,622 815,565 310,534
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 2,622,395 5,024,159 815,565 6,830,989
Capital assets, being depreciated;
Land improvements 157,796 136,415 - 294211
Buildings and improvements 1,854,600 - - 1,854,600
Machinery and equipment 1,495,532 37,554 22,550 1,510,536
Infrastructure 6,863,165 917,677 - 7,780.842
Subtotals 10,371,093 1,091,646 22,550 11,440,189
Less accumulated depreciation 2,288,617 420,624 14,918 2,694,323
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 8,082,476 671,022 7,632 8,745 866
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 10,704,871 $ 5695181 823 15,576,855
Less: Capital related debt 10,067,375
Less: Debt premium ' 139,285
Net investment in capltal assets 5 5370195
Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated;
Land $ 981 § - 5 -8 981
Construction in progress 84,689 50,765 - 135454
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 85,670 50,765 - 136,435
Capital assets, being depreciated;
Machinery and equipment 85,500 - - 85,500
Infrastructure 1,435,545 46,812 - 1,482 357
Subtotals 1,521,045 46,812 - 1,567,857
Less accumulated depreciation 112,504 53,124 - 165,628
Total capital assets, belng depreciated, net 1,408,541 (5,312) - 1,402 229
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 1494211 S 44453 0§ - 1,538,664

27



Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

NCOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

Depreciation expense was charged to Functions of the Town as Follows:

Governmental activities
General government 3 49,076
Public safety 38,884
Public works 327,072
Cuiture and recreation 5,592
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities s 420,624

Business-type activities

Stormwater management utility s 53,124

D. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS
Interfund recelvables and payables between individual funds of the Town, as reported In the fund financial statements,
as of December 31, 2017 are detailed below:

Interfund interfund
Receivables Payables
Temporary cash advances to finance
operating cash deficits
Governmental Fund
General 3 98,914 § -
Proprietary Fund
Stormwater management utililty - 98,914
Subtotal 98,914 98,914
Special charges placed on tax roll
Governmental Funds
General Fund - 533,407
Solid Waste/Recycling 306,800 -
Proprietary Fund
Stormwater management utililty 226607 -
Subtotal 533,407 533,407
Tokals % 632321 S 632 321
Interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:
Transfer TransFer
Fund In Qut
General 5 -5 8,849
Capital projects 15,864 -
Rental - 15,864
Fire donations 8,849 -
Total $ 24713 _$ 24,713
Interfund transfers were made for the Following purposes:
Transfer From general fund to fire donations For creation of new Funed 5 8,849
Transfer from rental fund to capital projects fund for the creation of new fund 15,864
(3 24,713
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations of the Town for the year ended December 31, 2017

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Issued Retired Balance One Year
Governmental activities:
General obligation debt
Notes S 6,257,261 $ 4257375 $ 447,261 $10,067,375 $ B97,375
Debt premium 87,220 66,602 14,537 139,285 -
Compensated absences 71,705 - 5,509 66,196 -
Governmental activities
Long-term obligations $ 6416186 $ 4,323,977 $ 467,307 510272856 § 897,375

Total interest paid during the year on long-term debt totaled $144,823.

General Obligation Debt
General obligation debt currently outstanding is detailed as Follows:

Date of Final Interest Original Balance

Issug Maturity Rates Indebtedness 123117
General obligation notes 5612 3M/22 2.40%-330% § 1,200,000 § 640,000
General obligation notes 9/8/14 371724 2.00% -2.60% 2,300,000 1,670,000
General obligation taxabte notes 1211916 9/1/22 3.35% 3,500,000 3,500,000
State trust fund loan 6/26/17 3/15/27 3.50% 1,100,000 1,100,000
Promissory notes 8f23/17 9/28/18 4.00% 557,375 557,375
State trust Fund loan 10/23/17 3/15/27 3.50% 600,000 600,000
General obligation taxable notes 12/6/17 3/1/27 3.00%-3.25% 2,000,000 2,000000

Total outstanding general obligation debt 5 10.067,375

Annual principal and interest maturities of the outstanding general obligation debt of $10,067,375 on December 31,
2017 are detailed below:

Y ear Ended Governmental Activities
December 31, ~ Principal Interest Totals
2019 506,803 291,435 798,238
2020 535,370 268,525 803,895
2021 546,481 253,098 799,579
2022 4,062,657 238,418 4,301,075
2023 - 2027 3,518,689 308,399 3,827,088

510,067,375 "% 1,627,511 ~$11,694,886

For governmental activities, the other long-term liabilities are generally funded by the general fund.,
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Legal Margin For New Debt
The Town's legal margin for creation of additional general obligation debt on December 31, 2017 was $14,738,350 as
follows:

Equalized valuation of the Town $  495957,100
Statutory limitation percentage {x) 5%
General obligation debt limitation, per Section 67.03 of the

Wisconsin Statutes 24,797,855
Total outstanding general obligation debt applicable to debt limitation $ 10,067,375
Less: Amounts available For financing general obligation debt

Debt service fund 7,870
Net outstanding general obligation debt applicabie to debt limitation 10,059,505
Legal margin for new debt 5 14,738,350

F. PENSION PLAN
1. Plan Description

The WRS Is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and other plan provisions
are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may only be modified by the legistature.
The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system
provides coverage to all eligible State of Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees,
initially employed by a participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200
hours a year (880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be
employed for at teast one year from employee's date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS.

ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Repork (CAFR), which can be Found at
http:/fetf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.

For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively employed on or after

. April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required For eligibility For a retirement annuity. Participants
employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1, 2011, are immediately vested.
Particlpants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011, must have Five years of creditable service to
be vested.

Employees who retire at or after age 65 {54 for protective occupation employees, 62 For elected officials and State
executive participants} are entitled to receive an unreduced retirement benefit. The factors influencing the benefit
are 1) final average earnings, 2) years of ¢reditable service, and 3) a Formula Factor.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years’ earnings. Creditable service s the
creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial years for which a
participant recelves earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor Is a standard percentage
based on employment category.

Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits. Employees
terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may withdraw their
contributions and Forfeit all rights ko any subsequent benefits,

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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2,

Post-Retirement Adjustments

The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity payments from the retirement system based on
annual investment performance in accordance with s. 40.27, Wis. Stat, An increase (or decrease) in annuity
payments may result when Investment gains {losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a
surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not
based on cost of living or other similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously
granted increases. By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount
(the "floor"} set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as
Follows:

Year Core Fund Adjustment Variable Fund Adjustment
2007 3% 10%
2008 6.6 0
2009 (2.1) (42)
2010 (1.3) 22
2011 (1.2) 11
2012 (7.0) {7}
2013 (9.6) 9
2014 4.7 25
2015 29 2
2018 0.5 (5)
Contributions

Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with Chapter 40 of the
Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially determined contribution rate
for general category employees, including teachers, and Executives and Elected Officials, Starting on January 1,
2016, the Executives and Elected Officials category was merged into the General Employee Category. Required
contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to
contribute the remained of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee
required contributlon unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining agreement.

During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $24,498 in contributions from the Town.

Contribution rates as of December 31, 2017 are:

Employee Category Employee Employer
General {including teachers) 6.6% 6.6%
Protective with Social Security 6.6% 9.4%
Protective without Social Security 6.6% 13.2%
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4. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferrad Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

At December 31, 2017, the Town reported a liability (asset) of $17,366 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset). The net pension liability {asset) was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial vatuation as of
December 31, 2015 rolled forward to December 31, 2016. No materlal changes in assumpticns or benefit terms
occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The Town's proportion of the net
pension liability (asset) was based on the Town's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2016, the Town's proportion was .00210694%, which
was an increase of .00029351% from Its proportion measured as of December 31, 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Town recognized pension expense of $43,958.

At December 31, 2017, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the Following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Differences betw een expected and actual experience s 6,622 S 54,615
Net differences betw een projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 86,443 -
Changes in assumptions 18,157 -
Changes in proportion and differences betw een
employer contributions and proportionate share
of contributions 1,510 5073
Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 29,546 -
Tokal S 142278 3 59,688

$29,546 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the Town's contributions subsequent to
the measurement date will be recognized as & reduction of the net pension liability (asset) in the year ended
December 31, 2018. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended
December 31,
2017 $ 22,301
2018 22,301
2019 14,595
2020 (6,140)
2021 (13)
Total S 53044
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5. Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016, actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement;

Actuariat Valuation Date: December 31, 2015
Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset): December 31, 2016
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age
Asset Valuation Method; Fair Value
Leng-term Expected Rate of Return: 7.2%
Discount Rate: 7.2%
Salary Increases:

Inflation 3.2%

Seniority /Merit: 0.2%- 5.6%
Mortality Wisconsin 2012 Mortality T able
Post:retirement Adjustments* 2.1%

*  Nopost-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment return,
actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the investment return
assurnption and the post-retirement discount rate,

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experfence study conducted in 2015 using experience from 2012 - 2014.
The total pension liability for December 31, 2016 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated From the
December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation.

Long-term Expected Return on Plan Assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan Investments
was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of
return (expected returns, net of pension plan Investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by welghting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return For each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
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Destination Long-term Long-term
Current Asset: Target Asset Expected Nominal Expected Real
Allocation % Allocation % Rate of Return % Rate of Return %

Core Fund Asset Class

Global Equities 50% 45% 8.3% 5.4%
Fixed Income 24.5% 37% 4.2% 1.4%
Inflation Sensitive Assets 15.5% 20% 43% 1.5%
Real Estate 8% 7% 6.5% 3.6%
Private Equity/Debt 8% 7% 0.4% 6.5%
Multi-asset 4% 4% 6.6% 3.7%
Total Core Fund 110% 120% 74% 4.5%
Variable Fund Asset Class
US. Equities 70% 70% 7.6% 47%
International Equities 30% 30% 8.5% 5.6%
Total Variable Fund 100% 100% 719% 5%

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI {Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%

Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ From
actual monthly atlocations

Single Discount Rate. Asingle discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single
discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.20% and a long-term
bond rate of 3.78%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of return implies that a
dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single discount rate, it was assurmed that
the dividend would atways be paid. The projection of cash Flows used to determine this single discount rate
assumed that plan members contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer
contributions will be mMade at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and
the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current plan members,
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periads of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability,

Sensitivity of the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount
rate, The following presents the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability {asset) calculated using the
discount rate of 7.2 percent, as well as what the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability {asset)
would be if it were calculsted using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.20 percent) or 1-percentage-
paint higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate;

1% Decrease to Current 1% Increase ko
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate
(6.20%) (7.20%) (8.20%)
Town's proportionate share of
the net pension liability (asset) S 228464 % 17,366 & (145,188}

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary net position s
available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wl.gov/publications/cafr.htm.
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6. Payablesto the Pension Plan

At December 31, 2017, the Town reported a payable of $6,333 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the
pension plan For the year ended December 31, 2017.

G. FUND EQUITY

Nonspendable Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, portions of the governmental Fund balances are amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either 1) not in spendable Form or 2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact, At
December 31, 2017, nonspendable fund balance was as follows:

General Fund

Nonspendable
Prepaid items $ 2,100
Due from stormwater Fund 72,074
Total General Fund Nonspendable Fund Balance $ 74,174

Restricted Fund Balance
In the Fund financial statements, portions of governmental fund balances are not avallable for appropriation or legally
restricted for use For a specific purpose. At December 31, 2017, restricted fund balance was as follows:

General Fund
Restricted for

Park improvernents ] 1,545
Fire departmant improvemnents 7.797

Total General Fund Restricted Fund Balance 9,342
Special Revenue Funds
Restricted for
Fire department expenditures 7.328
Debt Service Fund
Restricted for
Debt service expenditures 1.879
Capital Projects Fund
Restricted For
Capital outlay

— 10251

Total Restricted Fund Balance s 34,791
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Committed Fund Balance
in the Fund financlal statements, portions of government fund balances are committed by Town Board action. At
December 31, 2017, General Fund balance was committed as Follows:

General Fund
Committed for

Cemetery expenditures $ 31,77

Capital equipment replacement 48,509

Sick leave and vacation payout 31,268
Total General Fund Committed Fund Balance T 111,548

Special Revenue Funds
Committed for

Solid waste and recycling expenditures 93,886

Rental fund expenditures 19,047

112,933

Total Committed Fund Balance $ 224,481
Assigned Fund Balance

Portions of governmental fund balances have been assigned to represent tentative management plans that are subject
to change. At December 31, 2017, fund batance was assigned as follows:

General Fund
Assigned For subsequent year's budget S 24,500

Minimum General Fund Balance Policy

The Town Board has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy of 16% of actual current year general fund
expenditures, not including debt service. The minimurm fund balance is maintained for cash flow and working capital
purposes. The minimum Fund balance amounk is calculated as follows:

Actual 2017 General Fund Expenditures $ 1,496,207
Minimum Fund Balance % () 16%
Minimum Fund Balance Amount 3 239,393

e

The Town's unassigned general fund balance of $408,835 is above the minimum fund balance amount.

Net Position
The Town reports restricted net position at Decernber 31, 2017 as follows:

Governmental Activities
Restricted for

Park improvements $ 1,545
Fire department expenditures 15,125
Debt service 321,443
Capital expenditures 10,251

Total Governmental Activities Restricted Net Position ~S5 345,364
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NOTE 4: OTHER INFORMATION

A. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assels; errors and
omissions; and natural disasters for which the government carrles commercial insurance. The Town completes an
annual review of Its Insurance coverage to ensure adequate coverage,

B, CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Town is party to other various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome of

such matters cannot be forecast with certainty, it is the opinion of management that the likelihood is remote that any

such claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Town's financial position or results of operations.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS

Proportionate

Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary
Proportionate Covered- Pension Liability Net Posltionas a
Proportion of Share of the Employes (asset)asa Percentage of the
Fiscal the Net Pension Net Pension Payroll Percentage of Total Pension
Year Ending Liabillty (Asset) Liability (Asset) {Plan Year) Covered Payroll Liability (Asset)
12/31/15 000170112% & (41,784} § 242,794 17.21% 102.74%
12/31/16 0.00181343% 29,468 288,315 10.22% 98.20%
12/3117 0.00210694% 17,356 360,414 4,82% 99.12%
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST 10 FISCAL YEARS
Contributions in
Relation to the Covered- Contributions
Contractually Contractually Contribution Employee as a Percentage of
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Payroll Coverad-Employee
Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) (Fiscal Year) Payraoll
1213115 s 19,605 $ 19,605 $ - $ 288,315 6.80%
12/3116 24,498 24,498 . 360,414 6.80%
12/31/17 29,546 29,546 - 400,993 7.31%

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

There were no changes of benefit terms or assumptions For any participating employer in the WRS.

The amounts reported for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the prior Fiscal
year. The Town is required to present the last ten fiscal years of data; however accounting standards allow the presentation

of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented,
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Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL REVENUES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Taxes
General property
Moblle home fees
Managed Forest land tax
Interest and taxes
Other taxes
Totat taxes

Special assessments

Intergovernmental

State
State shared taxes
DNR - in lieu of taxes
Transportation
Exempt computer ald
Fire insurance dues
Cther

County
Bridge aid

Total intergovernmental

Licenses and permits

Licenses
Liquor and malt beverage
Operators, cigarette and

other licenses

Cable television fees
Dog

Permits
Building
Culvert and other permits
Zoning

Total llcenses and permits

Variance
Final Budget -

Budget Positive 2016

Original Final Actual (Negative) Actual
860672 $ 860672 5 859812 & {860) $ 888,025
13,000 13,000 12,767 {(233) 12,093
- - 268 268 263
- - 206 206 -
- - 112 112 494
873672 873,672 873,165 {507) 900,875
- - - - 5,036
33,728 33,728 33,728 - 33,728
680 680 685 5 685
162,089 162,089 162,089 - 162,089
3,750 3,750 4,252 502 3,759
20,000 20,000 21,287 1,287 20,122
2,420 2,420 2,067 (353) 2,862
22,500 22,500 - (22,500) -
245,167 245167 224108 (21,059) 223,245
5,000 5,000 5,487 447 4,960
4,700 4,700 5211 51 5,335
36,000 36,000 34,292 {1,708) 26,289
2,000 2,000 2,240 240 2,326
87,000 87,000 56,051 {30,949) 95,962
6,000 6,000 8,150 2,150 8,550
5 000 5,000 1,000 {4,000) 1,000
145,700 145,700 112,411 (33,289) 144,422
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Public chargas For services
General government
Cemetery
House numbers
Fire and first responders
Claytonfest;

Parks

Highway

Weed and nuisance control

Total public charges for
services

intergovernmental charges
For services
General government
Bullding Inspection
Total intergovernmental
charges For services

Miscellaneous
Interest on investments
Hall rental
Land rental
Donations
OQther
Total miscellaneous

Total Revenues

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Posltive 2016
Originat Final Actual (Negative) Actual
4,500 4,500 6,578 2,478 4,080
- - 10,850 10,850 6,095
1,500 1,500 1,800 300 1,560
10,000 10,000 19,197 9,197 23,668
- - - - 1,828
2,250 2,250 6,494 4,244 6,093
- - 118,537 118,537 -
- - 278 278 -
18,250 18,250 164,134 145,884 43,324
8,000 8,000 8,000 - 8,000
- - 48,706 48,706 -
8,000 8,000 56,706 48,706 8,0C0
2,000 2,000 6,106 4106 1,003
- - 250 250 533
500 500 4,189 3,689 -
- - 2,848 2,848 11,403
‘ - . - 8,248 8,248 8,358
2,500 2,500 21,641 19,141 21,297

=—1223289 & 1293280 5 1452165 .S 158876 $ 1346199
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Town of Clayton
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GENERAL FUND

DETAILED COMPARISON OF BUDGETED AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Variance
Final Budget -
Budget Positive 2016
original Final Actual {Negative) Actual
General Government
Town board $ 35,048 s 35,048 s 32,978 5 2,070 § 32,423
Commilttees 4,237 4,237 3,598 639 3,705
Elections 3,491 3,491 2,728 763 10,316
Legal 25,000 25,000 59,072 (34,072) 19,563
Administrator/cerk 110,717 110,717 422,003 (11,286) 118,430
Treasurer/assistant administrator 74,294 74,295 72,020 2,275 71,335
Deputy clerk 54,219 54,219 50,878 3341 48,872
Assessor 21,100 21,100 20,807 293 19,488
General office operation 48,600 48,600 43,140 5,460 50,493
Financial administration 19,000 19,000 15,156 3,844 16,309
Town hall 23,750 23,750 32,752 (9,042} 22,326
Insurance 49,000 49,000 37,041 11,959 65,884
Contingency 10,196 18,528 18,732 186 3,813
Total general government 478,652 487 385 510,945 (23,560) 482,957
Public Safety
Fire department 183,412 183,412 162,683 20,729 187,845
First responders 41,504 41,504 12,008 29,496 26,792
Building inspection 87,123 87,123 87,112 11 80,825
Total public safaty 312,039 312,039 261,803 50,236 295,462
Public Works
Wages 91,907 91,907 93,882 {1,975) 95,595
Operations 17,500 17,500 12,624 4876 9,294
Contracted services and other 315,845 315,845 257,838 58,007 261,316
Total public works 425252 425 252 364,344 60,908 366,205
Health and Human Services
Animal and weed control 2,296 2,296 994 1,302 1,019
Cemetery 2,000 15,729 22,082 (6,353) 5230
Total health and human services 4,296 18,025 23,076 {5,051} 6,249
Culture and Recreaticn
Clayton town park 2,300 2,300 2,795 {495) 1,626
Trail head park 1,550 1,550 1,830 {280) 2,845
Friendship krail 5,000 5.000 4,684 316 -
Total culture and recreatlon 8,850 8,850 9,309 (459} 4,471
Conservation and Development
Planning and zoning 77,200 77,200 34,432 42,768 38,391
Capital Outlay
General government 45,000 45,000 16,523 28,477 -
Public safety - - 94,700 (94,700) -
Public works - - 171,278 {171,278) -
Parks 2,000 2,000 9,797 (7,797) 14,234
Total capital outlay 47,000 47 000 292,298 {245,298} 14,234
Total Expenditures 51333280 % 1375751 S 1436207 S (120456) S 1207969
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Receivables
Accounts

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilitles
Accounts payable
Special deposits
Totat llabilities
Fund balances
Restricted
Committed

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and Fund balances
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Fire
Rental Donations Totals
$ 19,631 § - 5 19,631
- 7,328 7.328
2,823 - 2,823

— ey

454§ 7328 $ 29782

§ 757 5 - 4 757
2,650 - __2,650

3,407 - 3,407

- 7,328 7,328

19,047 - 19,047

19,047 7.328 26,375

$ 22454 _§ 7328 % 29,782




Town of Clayton

Winnebago County, Wisconsin

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNOS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

REVENUES
Miscellaneous

EXPENDITURES
Current
Public safety
Conservation and develepment
Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES [USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (Uses)
Net change in Fund balances

Fund balances - January 1

Fund balances - December 31

43

Fire
Rental Donations Totals

3 46425 & 1325 % 47,750
- 2,846 2.945

11,514 - 11,514
11,514 2,846 14,360
34 911 (1,521) 33,390

- 8,849 8,849
{15,864) - (15,864)
(15,864} 8,849 {7,015)
19,047 7,328 26,375

$ 19,047 S 7328, & 26,375
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ADVISORY | TAX | ASSURANCE

Independent auditors’ report an internal control over financial reporting and on
compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Town Board
Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards appliceble to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Winnebago County, Wisconsin, (the “Town") as of
and for the year ended December 31,2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Town's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 10, 2018.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town's internal control over
Financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Town's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Town's financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies ininternal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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Town of Clayton
Winnebago County, Wisconsin

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

The purpose of this report Is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compllance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral past of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the Town's internal control and on compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not sultable for any
other purpose,

Aehenele AL

Certified Pubtic Accountants

Green Bay, Wisconsin
April 10, 2018
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